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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Zeping — Deputy Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. He Xiaoli

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Selwyn Mar
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chung Wing Yee

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

35th Floor, One Pacific Place,

88 Queensway, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of Beijing Company Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Canon’s Court,

22 Victoria Street,

Hamilton HM 12,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,

79 Chatham Road South,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel : 2613 6363

Fax : 2581 9823

Email : info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com
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Financial Highlights
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REVENUE
WA

(HK$'000) (F#7T)

11,935,505
10,930,824

For the year ended
31 December
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11,576,345

7,253,266

5,983,634

2018
2017
2016
2014 2015

TOTAL ASSETS
& EBRE
(HK$'000) (F7&T)

49,018,381
47,252,777

As at 31 December
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39,621,377
40,862,081

33,175,633

2018
2017
2016
2014 2015
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PROFIT FOR
THE YEAR
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(HK$'000) (F#7T)

1,747,143

For the year ended
31 December
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1,448,801

997,179
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31 December o
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2017 2018
2015 2016
2014
For the year ended 31 December
HE+-A=+—-BHLEE
Percentage
2018 2017 change (%)
—E-0E —TtfF BALERE (%)
Revenue (HK$ million) B (EEET) 10,931 11,936 -8.4%
Profit attributable to the equity holders of ALARRERB ARG
the Company (HK$ million) wH(EEAET) 935 713 +31.1%
Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to ARERERE AEERT
the equity holders of the Company (HK cents) ZEXBRAF (BI) 27.94 21.32 +31.1%
Dividend per share (HK cents) BRERE (B 8.0* 6.0 33.3%
Dividend payout (%) IR EBZIFE (%) 28.6% 28.1% 0.5%**
Total assets (HKS$ million) HESE(FEET) 47,253 49,018 -3.6%
Net debt (HK$ million) HEFE(EEET) 11,246 8,493 +32.4%
Net gearing ratio (%)* AELE (%) 75.9% 62.4% +13.5%**
* Subject to Shareholders’ approval at AGM & FIRRABRREFAEG LAB
** Change in percentage points X GER:E: 10k
# Net gearing ratio = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank depositsy/ — # FRELR=(EReE - BERETER)/
Total equity gt
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Minmetals Land Limited RAEMEBRAT
*  “Top 100 Commercial Property Companies of *  [2018FEHBIFg i E
China 2018" TOP 100%% ]

“2018 China Influential

* e * (2018 EFEFE NEDK K]
Real Estate Enterprise
* 2018 China Real Estate Central Enterprise * (2018 EIE HE R S S o |

Excellence Brand”

*  “Yingkou City Property Management Residential
Community Demonstration Award”

China Minmetals Tower PEAREKE
*  “Five-Star Managed Property” *x [REREEMFERE]
Hallstatt See Al o IGHEIE Y
%  “Service Demonstration Enterprise Award” * [HFERERERZELRE]
(China Golden Key Alliance) (PRSBRAHRE)
Minmetals Land Properties Service Nanjing hiERYERBEASRE
w
g *  “Caring Enterprise Award” (China Charity Federation) * [BEORERI(hERERES)
5 Riveria Royale Al e L2
% Academic Royale Ak e EXRH
% *  “Property Management Excellent Community Award” * [YEEBTLESNEE]
\ Platinum Bay hillk e« $HiBE

* [gOmyEtENEREE]



Five-Year Financial Summary

hEHBEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-\§ —T—tF ZE-RF —T-RF —T-HmF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT BT THL TEL FEL
Results #i5
Revenue N 10,930,824 11,935,505 11,576,345 7,253,266 5,983,634
Operating profit LT 3,425,762 3,530,528 1,823,934 1,051,661 691,224
Finance income B 189,019 147,039 241,362 162,809 78,858
Finance costs B RAR (137,524) (114,674) (55,669) (57,511) (65,845)
Share of results of ok ) /N
associates (10,531) (2,495) (12,135) 16,442 183,936
Share of results of joint AEEEDREE
ventures (3,310) (2,610) = = =
Profit before tax FR 4 A& Al 3,463,416 3,557,788 1,997,492 1,173,401 888,173
Income tax expense FEHAX (1,716,273) (2,108,987) (1,000,313) (553,794) (452,244)
Profit for the year AEZEF 1,747,143 1,448,801 997,179 619,607 435,929
Profit attributable to: BEHEER
Equity holders of the YN}
Company BEA 934,964 712,914 512,058 278,156 425,171
Holders of perpetual KAERLE
capital instruments BEA 184,362 1,303 — — —
Non-controlling interests FHERR R R 627,817 734,584 485,121 341,451 10,758
Assets and liabilities BERER
Non-current assets EmBEE 5,322,165 5,287,308 4,156,994 4,096,367 3,705,549
Current assets MEEE 41,930,612 43,731,073 36,705,087 35,525,010 29,470,084
Total assets BEBH 47,252,777 49,018,381 40,862,081 39,621,377 33,175,633
Capital and reserves RRRIRERE A
attributable to equity Rz ERRGHE
holders of the Company 8,367,708 8,352,677 6,582,124 7,357,221 8,002,783
Perpetual capital KAERTA
instruments 3,854,289 2,393,903 = = =
Non-controlling interests FERR R R 2,588,454 2,855,958 1,967,748 4,289,672 4,017,680
Total equity EmEE 14,810,451 13,602,538 8,549,872 11,646,893 12,020,463
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 14,172,783 10,938,718 11,446,325 8,222,962 11,646,039
Current liabilities mEEE 18,269,543 24,477,125 20,865,884 19,751,522 9,509,131
Total liabilities BELE 32,442,326 35,415,843 32,312,209 27,974,484 21,155,170
Total equity and liabilities xRk A ERE 47,252,771 49,018,381 40,862,081 39,621,377 33,175,633
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Dear Shareholders,

2018 was a difficult year as China’s economy faced
unprecedented challenges. In the first half of the year, the
deleveraging of physical economy and financial system was
regarded as the most important task for the entire year.
However, such initiatives coincided with the normalisation of
the US Federal Reserve’s monetary policy, which had a great
impact on emerging markets. Since the middle of the year,
trade conflict between China and the United States continued
to escalate and deteriorate, coupled with a fluctuating RMB
exchange rate and the tumbling Chinese stock market,
corporates and investors started to show receding market
confidence. During the period, domestic economic policies have
also undergone major adjustments. Financial market policy has
shifted from deleveraging to stabilisating leverage, whilst a
series of fiscal policies for fee and tax reductions were also
implemented.

At the 2018 annual work conference held at the beginning of
the year, the Company set out the guiding principle for the
year: "guided by the new development strategy, adhering to
the general philosophy of making advancement whilst
maintaining stable growth, focus on development module
innovation and upgrading the quality management, greatly
improve operating quality and operation efficiency, and striving
for high-quality and sustainable growth”. During the year,
significant efforts has been placed by the Company in the
areas of enhancing financing channels, optimizing financial
resources, cultivating professional value chain, brand name
promotion and human resources management. We also
adhered to the strategic development philosophy of “creating
high-quality products with steady operation” in order to boost
the Company’s business development quality continuously.

BRIRR -

“E-N\F - FEKERLETRMAARE
WkE - TEEMEREN—F- £F
FERLEEARNS BB RETER
BRIZFRIBZNTE  HFEES
RSB LEEL  SMEMEHREAE
BRFEB FHRUK PXEHERAR
WHERRE MEARKER  GBEKRH
REE  PERREEHTHE RS
HiE - BAREBRRBERTRARAE
ERMISNELRERSBLR - BB
RO EMELT — RII0 0 BRBHE -

AREFVN_ZT-N\FEIESIEE
TERFIEEEEAE : [PAR A% R B
RIS BREIBPSGERRT - MRER
BIFTME R KRARALEMENE
BHE  CHEARRENRKERER] - F
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INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, under the influence of internal
and external factors including Sino-US trade war, the
normalisation of US Federal Reserve interest rate hike,
deleveraging in the financial sector and property regulatory
restrictions, China’s macro economy entered a period of
correction. All three major economic drivers including domestic
consumption, investment and exports had weakened compared
to the past few years with key economic index hitting a
record low. Despite the year end easing in control policies
lifted market sentiments, homebuyers remained highly cautious
throughout the year. Property sales and sales of commodity
housing in particular, has maintained certain resilience for a
booming year with slight dips at the start and the end of the
year. As for land transactions, based on the land auction
situation in fifteen Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities within the five
metropolitan areas in our watch list, most of these cities saw
diminishing transaction prices and growing sales volume. This
shows that despite a cautious sentiment in view of a market
cooled down, property developers remained positive towards
land acquisition in key cities. No-sale auctions also increased
continuously during the year, mostly due to the stringent
construction requirements and excessive development
restrictions imposed on land sites, reflecting property
companies’ cautious view towards land acquisition.

Against this backdrop, our investment strategy was to select
the best of the best among potential projects to minimise
investment risks and to position ourselves to take advantage
of acquisition opportunities and lesser competitions at a time
of market weakness. During the year under review, we
participated in various land auctions and secured two parcels
of land in Huangpu District, Guangzhou at the base price in
the fourth quarter, which enhanced the Company’s strategic
positioning in the Greater Bay Area further. We anticipated
that more land parcels will be put up for sale by local
governments in 2019, leading to a less competitive land
market environment. Given our funds in hand, we will keep an
eye on the land sales in the Beijing Tianjin and Hebei region,
the Yangtze River Delta region as well as core cities in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. We will
strive to secure more premium land parcels at lower costs and
replenish our land reserve for the Company’s sustainable
development in the future. As at the end of 2018, the
Group's land bank amounted to 4.56 million square metres in
which approximately 68% (in terms of value) was situated in
first-tier and core second-tier cities.

GEYE3 a0
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Meanwhile, given the complex and fast-changing real estate
market environment, we have been putting strenuous effort in
developing innovative business models and alternative modes
of land acquisition. We have entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Dayi County and Pidu District,
Chengdu, respectively with a view to implementing urban
primary development and an integrated ‘industrial-residential’
development module. Moreover, our “Changsha LIVE"
commercial project successfully commenced operation at the
end of the year, further enhancing the Company’s capability in
developing commercial and residential complexes.

The Company also made breakthroughs in broadening its
financing channels this year. During the year, we successfully
issued US$200 million of senior perpetual capital securities and
US$300 million of senior notes with interest rates of 7% and
6.4%, respectively. The issuance not only reinforced Minmetals
Land’s brand name in the international capital market, but also
optimised the Company’s financial structure and expanded its
financing channel. In addition, the Company signed a HK$3.5
billion loan agreement with a number of Hong Kong local
banks with a maximum tenor of four years. The Company also
entered into two revolving loan agreements with an
aggregated amount of HK$2.28 billion, which enables the
Company to access instant funding with low interest rate and
flexible terms. Furthermore, the Company obtained an asset-
backed notes (“ABN”) quota of RMB5 billion in China and
successfully issued the first tranche of ABN products during the
year. As China Minmetals’ sole listed real estate development
flagship in Hong Kong, the Company has been participating in
the arrangements under the Financial Services Framework
Agreement with Minmetals Finance since 2013 and enjoyed
financial flexibilities with positive impact to the Group since the
inception of the business relationship. Going forward, the
Group will explore opportunities to deepen this relationship
with the view of broadening its financial channels and to
enhance returns on the Group’s cash and liabilities positions
from time to time.
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2018 was also the year for the execution of Minmetals Land’s
branding strategies. The Company actively promoted its brand
image and various product series within target clientele
through the means of product launches, and successfully held
the “Enchanté” (& 1% &) new product launch events in
Foshan, Wuhan and Nanjing. The “Happy Ride” (3=1@%45%)
event starring Olympic champions was held in various locations
including Beijing, Nanjing and Hong Kong to promote
Minmetals Lands’ healthy living concepts. The strategic
development ideology of the Minmetals Land, “creating high-
quality products with solid operation” has received extensive
recognition from real estate companies and media within the
industry. In August, the Company was awarded “2018 China
Influential Real Estate Enterprise” at the Boao Real Estate
Forum and received the China Real Estate News “2018 China
Real Estate Central Enterprises Excellence Brand” award in
September.

During the year under review, all staff of the Group worked
relentlessly to achieve steady development of the Company’s
business and continuous improvement of management amidst
complex market conditions. Among others, the consolidated
revenue in 2018 was HK$10.9 billion, the gross profit margin
increased to 35.6% and the profit for the year increased by
20.6% to HK$1.75 billion. Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company increased by 31.1% to HK$935 million and
basic earnings per share amounted to HK27.94 cents (2017:
HK21.32 cents). The Board of Directors recommended a final
dividend of HK8.0 cents (2017: HK6.0 cents) per share for
2018.
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PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT
Policy and Industry Outlook

In 2018, gradual loosening in control policies were carried out
as the Central Government implemented policy adjustments in
three phases: in March, the PRC’s Two Sessions reaffirmed that
“houses are built to be inhabited, not for speculation”. The
Political Bureau of the CPC Central Committee avowed its
determination to “resolutely curb the rise in housing prices” at
a meeting in late July. In August, the Ministry of Housing and
Construction demanded for “the stabilisation of land cost,
housing price and expectations”. In respect of local policies,
there were also two rounds of changes: in the first three
quarters, regulation and control measures were unswervingly
upheld and strictly imposed, and the “Four-limits Policy” has
continued to be enforced vigorously to ensure market order by
means of raising mortgage rates, etc. However, signs of
relaxation of control policies started to emerge at the
beginning of the fourth quarter. Cities including Guangzhou,
Wuhan and Nanning witnessed easing in pricing restrictions.
Many cities have lowered upward adjustments in mortgage
rates. Certain small cities even began to relax their controls
towards the year-end. Going forward, we expect that the fine-
tuning of the control policies will begin in mid-2019. Having
said that, there has been no change in the fundamental of the
housing policy, being “houses are built to be inhabited, not for
speculation, and policies shall be implemented on a city-specific
basis”. Core Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities shall implement control
policies strictly for a sustained period of time in order to curb
speculative and investment demands, and alleviate price rise
expectation, whilst inventory destocking remains the principal
task for Tier 3 and Tier 4 cities.

The market in general believes that there is hardly any room
for further tightening in control policies. The declining land
sales revenue at the local and municipal level and the growth
pressure brought by adverse macro environment will have a
significant impact on this year’s real estate regulatory policy.
While we maintain confident in the Company’s development,
we will remain cautious but optimistic about the real estate
market in 2019 as the scale of the entire commodity housing
market is likely to decline from a historical high and home
prices will continue to be subdued. Therefore, the focus of the
control policies may gradually shift from curbing home prices
to stabilizing home prices.
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Looking into 2019, we anticipate to see signs of relaxation in
real estate policies. Given significant downward pressure in
domestic economic growth, high corporate leverage level and
deteriorating economic fundamentals, we expect that
deleveraging and destocking will remain a key focus for the
industry. It is expected that this year’s monetary policies will
be neutral or slightly proactive to ward off the risks of
economic downturn and to ensure sufficient liquidity in the
market. According to the updates published by the National
Development and Reform Commission in December last year,
high-quality real estate enterprises which have met certain
qualifications will be supported to issue bonds under certain
conditions. This is widely interpreted as signs of “loosening in
financing environment”. Moreover, moving into the beginning
of 2019, the People’'s Bank of China announced reserve
requirement ratio cut to counteract a potential economic
downturn and provide more support to the real economy,
especially towards private and small and micro sized
enterprises. This indicates an imminent introduction of more
marginal easing policies.

While the aforementioned series of initiatives echo with the
Central Government’s vision of establishing a long-term
mechanism for the real estate sector, they also boosted real
estate enterprises’ outlook towards the sector. Under the
backdrop of Sino-US trade war, global economy is still in
turmoil with intensifying uncertainties in future economic
growth. As local governments, private enterprises and
individuals shy away from further leverage, people’s willingness
for home purchase will drop. We will pay close attention to
real estate market condition and strive to lower excess
inventories and closely monitor our cash collection rate.

Business Prospects

Upon a comprehensive assessment of sector prospect and the
Company’s current position, our operational and management
principle for 2019 is “adhering to strategic leadership,
improving turnover efficiency, continuously improving
professional capacity and innovating and implementing quality
strategies”. In order to minimize market risks while ensuring
cash flow generation, shortening development cycle and
improving sales turnover will be our top operational priority.
We will focus on the existing four major districts and
Chengdu-Chongging metropolitan area that we have given
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special attention to, and continue to adopt joint venture
development strategies and seize opportunities to increase our
high-quality land resources when appropriate. Moreover, we
will strengthen our real estate development expertise, improve
the value-add in our products and services, improve our
integrated competitiveness and provide all-round support to
our business growth. In terms of financial management, we
will adhere to prudent financial management principles to
closely monitor gearing ratio and operating expenses,
strengthen capital market capability, optimise capital structure,
and fully utilise capital raising capability in our Hong Kong
listed platform.

CONCLUSION

Under complex market environment in the past year, all staff
members of Minmetals Land spared no effort in achieving the
steady business growth and continuous managerial
improvement. With a development motto of “treasuring
limited resources to create endless possibilities”, the Company
shall achieve stable operational progress, create premium
products, focus on service offerings and continue to refine its
management. The Group values healthy and sustainable
evolvement between the people and the cities, and strives to
utilise limited land resources in a reasonable manner by using
green technologies and unlocking the historical and cultural
values in our work. We continue to bring in business
innovations in more cities and stay committed to creating
infinite value for our community. Looking forward, although
we will be challenged by uncertainties in both industry policies
and market uncertainty, we firmly believe that backed by the
strong support from the controlling shareholders and
capitalising on our solid management capability and high-
quality land bank, all members of Minmetals Land will work in
concert and weather through new challenges and adapting to
market adjustments, thereby creating even greater value for
the shareholders, achieving further growth for the Company
and building an ideal city in the new era.

He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's consolidated revenue slid 8.4% to HK$10,930.8
million compared to HK$11,935.5 million of last year. Real
estate development segment recorded a revenue decline of
9.1% to HK$9,918.7 million (2017: HK$10,907.2 million) as a
result of a decrease in gross floor area of properties delivered.
Specialised construction segment also recorded a revenue
decline of 2.3% to HK$941.7 million (2017: HK$964.3
million), which was primarily attributed to the completion of
MGM Cotai project in Macau. The revenue from property
investment segment recorded a revenue growth of 10.0% to
HK$70.4 million (2017: HK$64.0 million).

Segment Revenue
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For the year ended 31 December

§¥+:H E+_ E -Itﬁg Year-on_year
2018 2017 change
—E-)\EF et BEEE
HKS$ million HK$ million

BEEET % BEST % %
Real estate development FitEHE 9,918.7 90.7 10,907.2 91.4 -9.1
Specialised construction ~ HE LS 941.7 8.6 964.3 8.1 -2.3
Property investment MERE 70.4 0.7 64.0 0.5 +10.0
Securities investment BHEEE = — o bk =
Total st 10,930.8 100.0 11,935.5 100.0 -8.4

Segment Results SEREE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEEE Year-on-year
2018 2017 change
—E-N\EF Tl e BRESEH

HK$ million HK$ million
BERET % BEBTL % %
Real estate development FEitEHE 3,371.8 92.8 3,665.6 96.3 -8.0
Specialised construction BERE 1.6 0.0 (123.7) (3.2) N/AFER
Property investment MEKRE 191.8 5.3 224.4 5.9 -14.5
Securities investment BHIRE 69.1 1.9 39.5 1.0 +74.9
Total st 3,6343  100.0 S'S0oER T 00,0 -4.5
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As a result of recognition of higher-margin projects, overall
gross profit margin improved from 34.3% to 35.6%. The
Group's selling and marketing costs decreased 5.4% to
HK$175.5 million (2017: HK$185.6 million) due to the
reduction of selling expenses from a lower contracted sales
during the vyear. Due to a higher one-off provision of
inventory, receivables and others in the previous year which
caused a significant decrease of 63.3% in the provision this
year, the administrative and other expenses decreased by
8.6% to HK$539.1 million (2017: HK$590.1 million).

During the year under review, due to the increase in interest
income from loans to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary, finance income increased 28.6% to HK$189.0
million (2017: HK$147.0 million). Due to a change in the
financing structure, the borrowing cost increased during the
year. Accordingly, finance costs charged to the profit or loss
recorded an increase of 19.9% to HK$137.5 million (2017:
HK$114.7 million). As an associate commenced an early start
promotional activities, loss from share of results of associates
increased to HK$10.5 million (2017: HK$2.5 million). Due to
the significant reduction in the land appreciation tax expense,
income tax expense decreased 18.6% to HK$1,716.3 million
(2017: HK$2,109.0 million). Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company surged 31.1% to HK$935.0 million
from HK$712.9 million of last year, representing a basic
earnings per share of HK27.94 cents (2017: HK21.32 cents) for
the year.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total assets slipped
3.6% to HK$47,252.8 million (2017: HK$49,018.4 million)
whilst net assets increased 8.9% to HK$14,810.5 million
(2017: HK$13,602.5 million), which is primarily attributed to
the issuance of US$200 million senior perpetual securities at
par value with initial distribution rate of 7.0% per annum on
17 May 2018. The financial position of the Group remains
healthy with gearing ratio (total liabilities to total assets) of
68.7% (2017: 72.3%); net gearing ratio of 75.9% (2017:
62.4%); Contract liabilities, which mainly represents contracted
sales proceeds received and will subsequently be recognised as
the Group’s revenue when presold properties are completed
and delivered to buyers, declined 41.1% to HK$6,119.7
million (2017: HK$10,384.0 million) as a result of
postponement in certain project sales schedule and near year-
end sales launch.
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REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

Pan Bohai Rim IR %8 i [@
Yangtze River Delta &= A&
Central China EFR R

Pearl River Delta Tk = At [&

Current Real Estate Project

> REFMEER

Guangzhou, Foshan, Huizhou
B - - =0 RAD

Contracted Sales*

In 2018, the Group’s total contracted sales declined
approximately 15.3% to RMB6,818 million (2017: RMB8,051
million) but the gross floor area contracted for sale rose
approximately 19.6% to 445,000 square metres (2017:
372,000 square metres). Total number of units sold during the
year slid 3.5% to 5,430 units (2017: 5,626) and the average
selling price dropped 29.5% to RMB15,300 (2017:
RMB21,700) per square metre approximately. The majority of
the contracted sales was derived from Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities.
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The table below provides an analysis of contracted sales by
project for the years 2017 and 2018:

TEAFER-E-N\FZENHERR
HBE WD RINGT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-BLEE
2018 2017
8-0\F I

Contracted Contracted
amount  Contracted ASP amount  Contracted ASP
(RMB GFA  (RMB per (RMB GFA (RMB per
million) (sq.m.) sq.m.) million) (sq.m.) sq.m.)
ENEWE SNEEE FYHEE RNeE RNEBE  THER
(AR & (BEFK (AEE HiE (BYAK
Project IEH g8x) (FHK)  ARER) agx) (FAK) AR%®)
Beijing Fortune Garden ERME 1,387 25,537 54,318 3,035 36,679 82,738
Yingkou Platinum Bay BN BE 430 65,071 6,600 250 42,178 5,930
Langfang Harrow Town B3 5 N 19 2,379 7,968 564 46,559 12,113
Nanjing Sello Royale HRhkEe NER 45 1,891 23,503 - - —
Nanjing Acaderic Royale HRARE EXEH 192 4,069 47,188 1,800 45,268 39,764
Nanjing Yan Shan Ju* HRELE 160 3,154 50,827 MM 21,759 43,232
Nanjing Enchanté Oasis HRARE RUMR 521 17,156 30,369 = = =
Nanjing Enchanté Cove EREE RN AL 850 31,483 26,990 = — =

Changsha LOHAS International ~ RYAilE « BB E?
Community* 195 6,987 27,913 801 131,959 6,073
Changsha Scotland Town ROBENE 4 4,409 9,375 44 4,970 8,942
Changsha Qin Royale* ROAE GLEEH 1,895 198,816 9,533 214 10,166 21,003
Wuhan Enchanté Crest RERRRHZE 270 21,263 12,708 — = =
Huizhou Hallstatt See BMAME iR 556 55,216 10,077 402 32,160 12,502
Foshan Academic Royale BT » XEH 190 6,768 28,018 = = —
Guangzhou Greenery Terace  BEMElA 67 1,013 65,671 — = —
Total st 6818 445212 15313 8051 371,698 21,667
* “Contracted Sales” means sales contracts entered into between the Group ~ * [FRHERE] AAEE EE RIRIFEE A
and purchasers pursuant to the Administrative Measures on the Sales of EXBR-_ZZE-—FNANBAHER=ZE
Commodity Buildings promulgated by the Ministry of Housing and —FARA—BERZEREHEEBINEELT
Urban-rural Development on 4 April 2001 and implemented on 1 June ZHEER - EmEHERFERERKRIR Y
2001. Sale of commodity buildings included both pre-completion sales HE  TEEEE HERBEZHE -
(pre-sale) and post-completion sales, and included sales from residential,
commercial and car park units.

# The difference in contracted ASP for 2017 and 2018 was mainly due to ~ * R FRIF-N\FZENHETHERE

the change in product mix.

ZERTERBERBERNTR -



Project Profiles

IHE#A

GFA held for
GFA GFA under future
Attributable Estimated GFA completed  development  development
interest to the Site Area 23] BE%T BRG HERBRRZ
Group BhEEE AREER 2 OEEER GREERE 2 OREER
%@ (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Location/Project Wwe/EE PR (EHK) (EHK) (EHK) (EHK) (EHK)
Pan Bohai Rim RHEHE
1. Beijing Fortune Garden L RmE 51.0% 139,000 414,000 414,000 = =
2. Yingkou Platinum Bay EORE 58 100.0% 396,000 391,000 208,000 168,000 15,000
3 Langfang Harrow Town B3 &/ ME 50.0% 433,000 1,256,000 284,000 — 972,000
4 Tianjin Minmetals International REFERABEBAE 100.0% 21,000 183,000 183,000 — —
Yangtze River Delta REABE
5 Nanjing Sello Royale BRAke NEA 100.0% 179,000 270,000 270,000 — —
6 Nanjing Academic Royale BRAE » 2 100.0% 136,000 482,000 482,000 = =
7. Nanjing Yan Shan Ju BAREUE 100.0% 91,000 203,000 203,000 — —
8. Nanjing Enchanté Oasis BRAE e« BEAR 100.0% 95,000 255,000 25,000 230,000 —
9. Nanjing Enchanté Cove BARAR B L 100.0% 68,000 144,000 144,000 = =
10.  Nanjing Yu Shan Tang ARBLE 39.8% 83,400 283,000 = 283,000 =
1. Nanjing Hexi Project BN FEE B 33.9% 43,000 230,000 — 230,000 —
Central China EdiipE
12.  Changsha LOHAS International RODE « BERRME
Community 100.0% 643,000 1,084,000 1,084,000 — —
13.  Changsha Scotland Town RORENE 100.0% 333,000 442,000 442,000 = =
14, Changsha Qin Royale ROAE o LEEH 100.0% 150,000 560,000 178,000 334,000 48,000
15. Wuhan Enchanté Crest BERE B ZE 100.0% 61,000 178,000 = 178,000 =
16.  Wuhan Scenery Cove REBHKRE 100.0% 52,400 215,000 = 215,000 =
Pearl River Delta BZARE
17.  Huizhou Hallstatt See BNEE  RIGE R 100.0% 984,000 1,621,000 213,000 179,000 1,229,000
18.  Foshan Academic Royale BILERE » ZXEH 100.0% 42,500 214,000 = 193,000 21,000
19.  Guangzhou Greenery Terrace BHEHA 100.0% 30,600 29,000 = 29,000 =
20.  Guangzhou Maoganglu Project* N BRI A * 100.0% 14,000 73,000 = — 73,000
21, Guangzhou Changlingju Project* BMNRERER* 100.0% 72,000 252,000 = = 252,000
22.  Hong Kong Yau Tong Project A mREEE 100.0% 10,500 53,000 = 53,000 =

*

New Project of 2018
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BEING FORTUNE GARDEN
1b AN

Fortune Garden is a residential development project located at
Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District, Beijing. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately 139,000 square metres
and has an aggregate gross floor area of approximately
414,000 square metres. Fortune Garden received the
“International Award” granted by the British Association of
Landscape Industries in recognition of its outstanding
landscape design. So far, 97.7% of the gross saleable floor
area was sold. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 25,537 square metres.

ERMERUNIEREREAILEE FEERIAR - @R

EHA4139,000F 77K - ERBEEEEMA 541400077 L e A
Ko HRENEBRRHEEEEASTHE RS (HRE 5 —— T e
S ZBEBEEHTI%BAAERARE R N\F Z i District, Beijing, the PRC
St g A . SNy AL OB R E PR L SR

HHEMRAOHEEMER25537FI7K e

Usage Residential

A& F=E

Site area Approximately 139,000

| ] [ | r 4 AR E TS square metres

#9139,000F 77 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 414,000

8 | | RIEEEE square metres
i #)414,000F 75 K
Group's interest 51%
| R P b
[ Construction 2018
fl completion date —ET-N\F

BETIEZEK A H




Project Platinum Bay

HE %18 B - 5

Location Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

b B Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
EEEA E O MR E
(&0)mBEFEM

Usage Residential

A& =

Site area Approximately 396,000

3 48 A 7 square metres
#1396,000<F 77 K

Gross floor area Approximately 391,000

WIZEEE square metres
#)391,000F 52K

Group's interest 100%

NEBE b

Expected Part Il of Phase IV in 4Q

construction 2019

completion date ~ EPUH—[@ :

J"E%E%ﬁlﬁ%ﬁk ZE-NFENF

HE

YINGKOU PLATINUM BAY
EORK . 058

et
)

Platinum Bay is a residential development project comprises
villas and apartments located at Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal
Industrial Base, Yingkou City, Liaoning Province. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately 396,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 391,000 square metres. This project comprises
five phases. The first three phases were delivered to buyers.
Part | of Phase IV was completed and delivered to buyers at
the end of 2018. Part Il of Phase IV commenced pre-sale in
the second quarter of 2018 and it is expected to complete
construction by the end of 2019. Construction of Part Il of
Phase IV was commenced in March 2018 and pre-sale was
launched in May 2018. Phase V will be comprised of high-rise
units, the construction schedule of which will be dependent on
market condition. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 65,071 square metres.

FEAFEABESRERABEMZEEEREIAR @ URE
FLEOMES (F0)EEEEN - RHBREIELA396,000
FHK G BRBREEmMAELA391,000F 5K ZBEES
FHA%E  F—E-HERXMNER: FEH—EER=ZZ—N
FERBRIVRIMNER  —BR-_ZE—N\FE_FTHHKBEE -
EEHR-_ZE—NEEFERT S RR-_Z—/\E=AHTIT [
FRARKRBEE  FAPASEBEMN  MIFIBRTMEE
AME - RZT—N\F ' ZHEWNELNHERER65071FERH
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LANGFANG HARROW TOWN
BB MG /N R

Harrow Town (formerly known as Minmetals Vanke City) is a
residential development project comprises villas and high-rise
units located in Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe County, Langfang
City, Hebei Province. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 433,000 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 1,256,000 square
metres. Phase | and high rise units of Phase Il of this project
were delivered to buyers. The remaining part of the project is
currently under planning and the expected construction
completion date for the entire project is subject to further
analysis. As a result of the newly introduced sales restriction in
Langfang city, there is a sharp decline in property transaction
volume. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted sales of
2,379 square metres.

MENE(RIBARERE) AEEREREBEMZ FEERE
HE U At EMmENGEFTE  @HERENA
433,000 F 5K - BAREBIEEMEIEL A1,256,000F 5 K ° %
HEE—PWEARE_HSEEMERNER  ZHBHKT
M IEFREIRE - HEBREX BB RET - ERHLF
WERERET EEHEESIEAFE N _T—)\F %
HENENEEEER2,379F 5K -

T

Project Harrow Town

R g% N E

Location Jingxintun Town, Xianghe

3 B County, Langfang City, Hebei
Province, the PRC
R BUSATL & BB U T & A
HFHE

Usage Residential

Rz =

Site area Approximately 433,000

AR ETE square metres

#9433,000F J5 K

Gross floor area
WIZEMEE

Approximately 1,256,000
square metres
#)1,256,000F 75 3£

Group's interest

A& B PG A i

50%

Construction
completion date

BETIZZEK A H

High-rise units of Phase Il in
2017

F_HSEEM
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Project Minmetals International
B A PEAHEE AR
Location At east of Yingbin Main Road
3t B and south of Tuochang Road,
Tanggu District, Tianjin, the
PRC
RBRETREGE
ME KB AR K Pei5iE A
Usage Commercial and residential
Rz EEREE
Site area Approximately 21,000 square
AR metres

#921,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

BEE IR

Approximately 183,000
square metres

#)183,000F J3 K

Group's interest
REE R

100%

Construction
completion date

BETRZEK A H

TIANJIN MINMETALS
INTERNATIONAL
ARETEABEEHEAE

Minmetals International is a mixed commercial and residential
development project located at the east of Yingbin Main Road
and south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu District, Tianjin. This
project comprises office space, apartments, retail stores and
car-parking spaces. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 21,000 square metres and has an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately 183,000 square metres. So
far, 96.5% of the gross saleable floor area was sold.

FRABESAEARSHART A8  BHEMFEMZER
TEEMAZREIER URKEEHRODERENREIEGE
VAR - 48RRI AR 4Y /521,000 F 5K - IEEEEL) A 183,000
FhHAK S ZHEEHBEELGS%RIEEHAEME -
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YANGTZE RIVER DELTA
k=Aitl&

NANJING SELLO ROYALE
MRAAEe NEAR

Sello Royale is a residential development project located at the
south of Hongjing Road, Science Park, lJiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. This project comprises villas and
low-rise apartments. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 179,000 square metres and has an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately 270,000 square metres. The
project was awarded the “Best Residential Development in
2014 (East & Central China)” at the first China Property
Awards held by Ensign Media. So far, 99.1% of the gross
saleable floor area was sold. In 2018, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 1,891 square metres.

hiEe NEEA/NNIHEENIERMBELSKENELZ
FEHRIER  BEEHRER I SEEM  BHBEBLR

179,000 75 >K » #8212 T [ 18 49 /270,000 75 7K ° fEEnsign
Media=E ## 2 % — & [ China Property Awards|® - 5218 B 7%
B2014FEPHERREPIWREREEEEE] &5 %A
BEEEHI9.1%EREEHEE N —N\F r ZHEWE
HHEEER8TFTK -

Project Sello Royale

R Ak NEE

Location At south of Hongjing Road,

2 Science Park, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the
PRC
FEIEE UL E R
BI2EARNE AR

Usage Residential

A& F=

Site area Approximately 179,000

AR E TS square metres

#9179,000F J5 K

Gross floor area

BIEEE R

Approximately 270,000
square metres

#9270,000F 75 2K

Group's interest

AREE PR

100%

Construction

completion date
BETRETKEH




Project Academic Royale

RS AR e RXEH

Location At Tian He Road, Jianye District,

2 Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the
PRC
BT H 4 R
R

Usage Residential

Rz =

Site area Approximately 136,000

H AR EFE square metres

#9136,000F 77 7K

Gross floor area

Approximately 482,000

RIEHEEE square metres
#7482,000F 752K

Group's interest 100%

REBE bR

Expected 2Q 2019

construction —T-NFE=F

completion date

TEHRETIZEMK
Sp

NANJING ACADEMK:ROYALE
ﬁ/‘?\ﬁﬁ)ﬁ% _J_X )ﬂz

Academic Royale is a residential development project located at
Tian He Road, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. It is
located approximately 5 kilometres from the Nanjing Olympic
Sports Centre and is situated in the Nanjing Hexi New City
Zone, a district of key future development with a construction
plan of becoming a comfortable living Eco-City. This project is
designed as a high-quality residential community with low
density. It occupies an aggregate site area of approximately
136,000 square metres and has an aggregate planned gross
floor area of approximately 482,000 square metres. The project
comprises four phases. The first three phases were delivered to
buyers. Phase IV commenced construction in April 2016 and is
expected to deliver to buyers with full refurbishment in the
second quarter of 2019. In 2018, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 4,069 square metres.

T e EXEW AN Jﬁéﬁm@%@%ﬁ%Z&%%@ﬁ
B BHERREMEREERLOANRAANE - 3%BR RN
HE BRI ATNEmEED ﬁﬂL RALERREE
¥ o 3% 7B B A AR EFEA) A 136,000 F HK - B E 2 EEmmE
KJMM&omiﬁ B ABEERER E%EO%EE%

SUOHHAE  aHERXMNER : FNHER T "FNAF
T AR - E—NFEE - FTZRBEES H IR - R &
—N\F ZBEENEHHEE@MEBL,069F 5K
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NANJING YAN SHAN JU
AR=UE

Yan Shan Ju is a residential development project located in the
established prime residential area at the southeast of Zijin
Mountains in Nanjing Xuanwu District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province where land supply is limited. It occupies an aggregate
site area of approximately 91,000 square metres and has an
aggregate gross floor area of approximately 203,000 square
metres. There are well developed transportation facilities and
the project is in close proximity to the Ninghang Expressway

and Subway Line No. 2. In addition, it enjoys excellent Project Vem Shem O
surrounding environment and neighbours a number of BHEWR ZWE
; B i : i i A, Location At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuan Wu

educational anFI resea.rch |hst|tut|ons. It. is de5|gn§d as a hlgh fhe et o
end low-density residential community comprises low-rise Province, the PRC

. " B THE R ZRE
apartments for first time buyers and upgraders from the local ;;%“‘ié@?ZKE
district and the Nanjing city. So far, 97.0% of the gross Usage Residential
saleable floor area was sold. In 2018, this project achieved a Rz B2
contracted sales of 3,154 square metres. Site area Approximately 91,000 square

AR TEE metres

ZUERUNIHEERZRERSUBERBANEESERE

#391,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 203,000

B fUEEHTHEEEERNERDHETR  AihemmE  REEER it e
#77591,000F 75 3K - 418 E H f& 49 4203,000F 755K « 3% IE B e e '100%'
SR EMARMLE2RE  JBEHN  BERBEEX BE  AsEfHE:
BETE  WBTLHE RRFKE  REA82/)SEMNS  Construction 2018
completion date —T-)N\F

mEZEEER BEEFPFAXRAERATHNEERERE
FeigS ZHEACDEHIT0%AEREEHEE R_T—N\
FRAEMBOHEAER3IN4F K-

BETIEEK A H




Project Enchanté Oasis

RS AL o WBLHEIR

Location At the junction of Shuanglong

b Bh Avenue and Xuelindong Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
LA B LR
BREABEBMRRBE A

Usage Residential

A& T=

Site area Approximately 95,000 square

AR TS metres

#995,000F 75 oK

Gross floor area

Approximately 255,000

RIEEEE square metres
#)255,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REB AT bR

Expected 2Q 2020

construction
completion date

EHRETIZMK

SE

—ETHFEFE-F

NANJING ENCHANTE OASIS
MR e B R

Enchanté Oasis is a residential development project located
within the core centre of Zijin Technology Entrepreneurial
Special Zone and at the junction of Shuanglong Avenue and
Xuelindong Road, Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province
and to the west of Shangginhuai Wetland Park, the largest
wetland park in China. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 95,000 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 255,000 square
metres. This project comprises two phases. Development of
Phase | has commenced in the second quarter of 2017 and is
expected to be delivered to buyers by the end of 2019.
Development of Phase Il has commenced in January 2018 and
is expected to deliver to buyers by the second quarter of
2020. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted sales of
17,156 square metres.

hiE e RMUEMRANNIHER I ERRERRAIRERE
RAEESEMRERIRAZEETHERER  RAZRB2ERKAN
RNBWAE — EREERBMWAE LEZEBEBARE
I BREIEA /395,000 F 77K - EREBEBEEE#)4255,000
FhHkK - ZBEBASMERAE  F-—HR_ZT—LFFE_FF
I HR_B-AFFERMNER: F-HR-_F—N\F—
ABT B _B_BFEE_FXNER -RT-N\F-
ZERMBRNHEEES17,156F 7K °
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NANJING ENCHANTE COVE
MR FLAE e B 7 L

Enchanté Cove is a residential development project located at
the junction of Fanggian Avenue and Wushi Road in the
Jiangning University Town at the south-eastern corner of
Fangshan, Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. It
occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 68,000
square metres and has an aggregate planned gross floor area
of approximately 144,000 square metres. Development of the
project was commenced in the second quarter of 2017. It has
reached completion in the fourth quarter of 2018 for pre-sale
and is expected to deliver to buyers by the third quarter of
2019. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted sales of
31,483 square metres.

Project Enchanté Cove
RS FHi e WBLH W
hEEU A LUAURNIHEMAIERESILREALIERE Location At the junction of Fanggian
R e TE P L i P 3 # Avenue and Wushi Road,
iﬁklﬁ?‘iﬁﬂﬁ@i@ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%%ﬁZE%%@Iﬁ E i ﬁm%@%ﬁ%% Jiangning District, Nanjing,
‘2 H oK £ 48 == K o i Jiangsu Province, the PRC
68,000F 75 K E%EJJM@EEE,\!72%144,09317?\/ 2 LA B L B
BRZZ—tFE_FHPT - ERFT - \FENFLRIWR FRIABREERIR
FRIEE  BRARZE-—NFE=FXNER -RZT—N\F - Usage Residential
ZIBEE BN EEEH31,483F 5K o i S
Site area Approximately 68,000 square
AR E TS metres

#768,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 144,000

RIEEETE square metres
#3144,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

REBpTh R

Construction 2018

completion date

BETIRZEK A H




Project Yu Shan Tang

B A ARELE

Location At the junction of Guangming

b B Road and Lixin Road, Pukou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Provirjce, the PEC
¢ﬁiﬁ%@&ﬁﬂﬁ
St A BR B T R ER 2 R

Usage Residential

A& F=E

Site area Approximately 83,400 square

AR A metres

#783,400F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 283,000

RIEEEE square metres
#7283,000F 77 2K

Group's interest 39.8%

REB bR

Expected 2Q 2019

construction
completion date

“T-FE=F

TREEETIR K

B

Project Nanjing Hexi Project

HE £ i 5 76 8

Location At the junction of Yanshan

b B Road and Shuiximen Avenue,
Gulou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
BT kA F R SR [ AR 1L BR
KPP R H R 57

Usage Residential and commercial

A& EEREHE

Site area Approximately 43,000 square

A% T AR metres

#743,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 230,000

RIEHEEE square metres
#9230,000F 752K

Group's interest 33.9%

REBFThER

Expected 4Q 2019

construction —T-NFEME

completion date

TEHRETIZEMK
B

NANJING YU SHAN TANG
MRl

Yu Shan Tang is a residential development project located at
the junction of Guangming Road and Lixin Road, Pukou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province with close proximity to
Metro Line No. 10 Yushan Road Station and is equipped with
well-established facilities. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 83,400 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 283,000 square
metres. Development of the project was commenced in
December 2017. It is expected to reach completion in the
second quarter of 2019 for pre-sale and to deliver to buyers
by the fourth quarter of 2020.

BUEAMNMNIHEAE SR EEARETHEIAZEESR
RIEE @ BRCHEI10RERLURY  BARERETES @ £t
BEEL 583,400 FK - EARBIBEMMAIEL 5283,000F
FK-ZEEN-ZE—+F+-AFHIT BN -NEE
—ERTWERBE R_E_TFFENEIMNER o

NANJING HEXI PROJECT
M SO FEIE B

Hexi Project is a residential and commercial development
project located at the junction of Yanshan Road and
Shuiximen Avenue, Gulou District, the northern part of Hexi,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province where it enjoys an array of
transportation, commercial and educational resources. It
occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 43,000
square metres and has an aggregate planned gross floor area
of approximately 230,000 square metres. Development of the
project was commenced in the third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to reach completion in the fourth quarter of 2019
for pre-sale and to deliver to buyers by the fourth quarter of
2021.

T PEIE B A AT 8 A /@ 5OR 7Ot S0 EE [ 5 1L IR Bk PP K
BERXRZEELEEREBE  BERAETZARBE  BER
HEEREERE B BmMEL 543,0005F 5K - BRER
EEEAEL A230,000F 5K - ZBHER -_E—N\FE=FH
T BEARZZE—AEEFNTRIVIEREE  N_T_—F
BENEXIMNER °

BEEFNRR DN

i
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CHANGSHA LOHAS INTERNATIONAL

COMMUNITY
RO TR o 58

i

LOHAS International Community is a large-scale residential
development project with ancillary facilities such as clubhouse,

shops, car-parking

lots, schools and

landscaped garden.

Located at Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town, Changsha County,

Hunan Province, the project occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 643,000 square metres, including a private lake
of 30,000 square metres, and has an aggregate gross floor

area of approximately 1,084,000 square metres. So far, %\Oée%% Eg:‘:‘nsu:l'i‘:e"“aﬁ°"a'
99.3% of the gross saleable floor area was sold. In 2018, this AR« EEEEBHE
project achieved a contracted sales of 6,987 square metres. Location At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town,
2 Changsha County, Hunan
Proir)ce, Eh\e RRC

hiEe B EBBR R ARNBEIEERIBEE  EEEH B gg@ﬁﬁ”%

S =l = PP S jalnl iy SRR oy o "ul =IRm=Ia
BA - EREBEMIERZEZHEERE RN AEERIES T Ermeemy
TEREE - BHREEL B643,000F 5K (& F £1530,000 JrEpes Fx
EITARFLAME) - BIEEEIEL) 41,084,000 5K « 125 - Site area Approximately 643,000
ZEEBREH93%AAESEAEE R~ \F Z\EE  LEEE SojUel € e

RIZR A EEIEAE6,987F 75 K o

#9643,000F 75 2K

Gross floor area

Approximately 1,084,000

HIZEEE square metres
#71,084,000F 752K

Group's interest 100%

REBFTh R

Construction 2018

completion date —T-N\F

BRETE5HK A




Project Scotland Town
RS BE /MR
Location At Yuntang Village and
3B Yuetang Village, Muyun Town,
Changsha County, Hunan
Province, the PRC
PEUBRE A RO &
ETRHEHTEN R AER
Usage Residential
Ri& T=
Site area Approximately 333,000
H AR EFE square metres

#9333,000F 75 2K

Gross floor area

Approximately 442,000

RIZHEEE square metres
#)442,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REBFTh R

Construction 2013

completion date —T—=F

BRETRE7TKAS

CHANGSHA SCOTLAND TOWN
RO EE/NR

Scotland Town is a residential development project located at
Yuntang Village and Yuetang Village, Muyun Town, Changsha
County, Hunan Province and is adjacent to LOHAS
International Community. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 333,000 square metres and has an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately 442,000 square metres. So
far, 98.7% of the gross saleable floor area was sold. In 2018,
this project achieved a contracted sales of 4,409 square
metres.

BENEANN EER)PGEZEEEN K AEN 2 EEE
RIEE M AR EERKELE - BHABREIEL A333,000
FRHK - EBEEEL B4L2,000F K25 ZERADE
HO8 7% EAEBHEEE - R-Z—\E - ZEENENHE
E & &4,409F 7 K o

\Eﬂgﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ



CENTRAL CHINA
P &

CHANGSHA QIN ROYALE
RO TR « L EEW

Qin Royale is a residential and commercial development project
located at Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu District, Changsha
County, Hunan Province, which is within a comfortable living
Eco-City zone under planning, with close proximity to the
Kaifu District Administration Centre. It occupies an aggregate
site area of approximately 150,000 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 560,000
square metres. Whilst the residential portion of the project will
be developed into a quality residential community for first
home buyers and upgraders, the commercial portion will be
developed as an entertainment complex with a studio in the
center of the development surrounded by office buildings,
hotel, shopping malls, and food and beverage facilities. This
project comprises four phases. Phase | comprises villas and
selected high-rise units and it was completed and delivered to
buyers. Phase Il is expected to deliver to buyers in the fourth :
quarter of 2019. The first part of Phase Il commercial i ; "3: :—;;l’-' ‘!'
development was opened for business in December 2018 and § ]

the remaining part is currently under planning. Development :
of Phase IV residential units was commenced in second
quarter of 2018 with pre-sale in third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to complete in the first quarter of 2021 and deliver
to buyers in the second quarter of 2021. In 2018, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 198,816 square metres.

S T

/MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B ORSAILN B EYAREREES 2 TR GG, SinfEcydees
MAREEER - uﬁéﬁﬁ'm MEROERERE - WHHER Location At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu
TR RE R L - BB AR FE XY A 150,000 F K - BEAREIBE 2 District, Changsha County,
BE#A560,000F 775k - ZAREEHAMERANEE - L e e
BEREFPATNSERIER BEBHNARLEHBERS BRI 15 T P B
B EPEREURZSERBPRAOESTH - M&ﬂi%z#ﬂ# AN Usage Residential and commercial
e v T N T
RIS R B AR BB T R ER %*H;ﬁiﬁpﬁr Ste area Approximately 150,000
RZB-NFENEINER : FZHHEEZRTHELH 2 #1150,000F 75
75/\_§ NF+-_AFARER K TRAENO EEREIE EX’ Gross floor area Approximately 560,000
FMBMEEENR T /\FE_FHT - AFE=FHKE  AREER AT

E EAR-_E_—FF-FRIVRN_FT_—FE_FIN

Group's interest 100%

° BER - RZZ—\F ZEEWNENHEEEER198,816FH 2 [ (5 R 2%

Ew Ko Expected Phase IV residential units in
== construction 1Q 2021

= completion date  FBIIHAMEE :

8 TEHEETIRTEK T —F%F—

" & =]
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Project Enchanté Crest
B A Ak e WHEE
Location At the junction of Songjiagang
b B East Road and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng Economic
Development Zone Huangpi
District, Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC
RN A EUET
=K R AR ER R
Usage Residential
A& F=E
Site area Approximately 61,000 square
A EE metres

#61,000F 75 5K

Gross floor area

Approximately 178,000

RIZEEE square metres
%7178,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

REE b

Expected 2Q 2020

construction
completion date

TEEZ S T2 55K
B

—TTFE-F

WUHAN ENCHANTE CREST
RETE e RIREE

Enchanté Crest is a residential development project located at
the junction of Songjiagang East Road and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng Economic Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province. It occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 61,000 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 178,000 square
metres. This project is designed as a high-end residential
community comprises low-rise apartments for first home
buyers and upgraders. Development of the project commenced
in the fourth quarter of 2017 and pre-sale was launched in
the third quarter of 2018. It is expected to reach completion
by the second quarter of 2020. In 2018, this project achieved
a contracted sales of 21,263 square metres.

TR« MR ZBEAMMNBILEAREM =R RBENCERERE
REMRBEEEZRIAZEEEREEE BHBRERENE
61,000 5K - EAR B RIEEETEL A178,000F 5 K o 5%
EREEANEE  BXEFAINSEE/\SERXRERE B
R-E—+FEMNEHTIRAN-_E— \FE-"ZEHEE &
ARZE-EFE_FTRT -N=-FT—/\F - ZIBENERLOHE
EmEA21,263F 5K °
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WUHAN SCENERY COVE
R B HKE

Wuhan Scenery Cove is a residential development project
located between the south of Third Ring and Fourth Ring of
Wuhan, Hubei Province with close proximity to Huangjiahu
University Town and the 2019 Military World Game Stadium.
It is well equipped with transportation and community
facilities, including the nearby Metro Line No. 8 Stadium
Station. It occupies an aggregate site area of approximately
52,400 square metres and has an aggregate planned gross
floor area of approximately 215,000 square metres. This
project commenced development in the second quarter of
2018 and is expected to launch pre-sale in the second quarter
of#2019¢

REESRKEAURNPILEREZEMEM - REMUR HA2EE
FRIER  MMOERPREHR R T - NLFHAEAEGEH
B RBRMEBERERETE WA MESKEFTEN 42
H AR AR 40 7552,400F 50K - EAREIBEREEL 215,000
FEHK ZBEER-ZZE—/\FE_FHT  BEFAR=_ZE—HN
FE_FHIKTEE -

Project Wuhan Scenery Cove

B A KEREKE

Location Between Third Ring South and

b B Fourth Ring South, Wuhan,
Hubei Province, the PRC
BRI A EUET
A= 3R LR PO 3R 2

Usage Residential

Rz =

Site area Approximately 52,400 square

A ETE metres

#952,400F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 215,000

HIZEMEE square metres
#)215,000F 752K

Group's interest 100%

RNEBE b

Expected 4Q 2021

construction - —FENF

completion date

BERETIETER
B &




PEARL RIVER DELTA
R=AiE

Project Hallstatt See

B A8 A o WHEE Y

Location Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County,

3 Bh Huizhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
HEEREEMT
BESERSE

Usage Residential

Rz =

Site area Approximately 984,000

AL E AR square metres

#7984,000F J5 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 1,621,000

RIEEMEE square metres
#1,621,000F 7 K

Group'’s interest 100%

REBFEER

Expected High rise of Phase IV in

construction
completion date
TEEEE TR A
HE

4Q 2021
FENHEEILS ¢
—TE-—FFHENF

HUIZHOU HALLSTATT SEE
BINETE « B HEIE R

Hallstatt See is a large-scale residential development project
located at Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County, Huizhou City,
Guangdong Province with close proximity to many amenities
such as golf course. Surrounded by hills and a 20-acre lake, the
project occupies an aggregate site area of approximately
984,000 square metres and has an aggregate planned gross
floor area of approximately 1,621,000 square metres. The
project received 4A tourist attraction rating by China National
Tourism Administration in 2015, and was given an award for its
innovative cultural and resort real estate model in the 10th
Annual Real Estate Billboard event hosted by China Commercial
Real Estate Commission. This project comprises seven phases.
Development of Phase | and part of Phase Il was completed
and delivered to buyers. Construction of the majority of Phase
Il and Phase Il was completed and the high rise portion of
Phase Il is expected to deliver to buyers in the third quarter of
2020. Pre-sale of the high rise portion of Phase IV will be
launched in the third quarter of 2019. It is expected to deliver
to buyers in the fourth quarter of 2021. In 2018, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 55,216 square metres.

B MREEFAVUREREABNMERSZEREZ ABEE
BRIEEH  HORZONESRRIGEC R - #ALKX20
EE AR - AR T TE4) A084,000F K - BREIR
EEEELB1,621,000F 5K ZEER_-_ZE—AFES
BRkERTEARFIARRESE  YRE2EIEHEE
BERPZETEHEREZE M b 8RS i E R
RAIFT A - ZBEEESLHER  F—HURTDE
BEBRIRRNER  E-  ZHABMHEBEIREDKETHK B
—HEEBHNER T _TEE=FTRINER - FHUHEE
PERNZBE-—NEF=ZHRBRRE Bt R_E-_—FFNE

RNER - R-F—/\F ZBEENELNHEMIER55216F
FoK e
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PEARL RIVER DELTA
IR = £ i &

FOSHAN ACADEMIC ROYALE
b LU FLBE o SROCE W

Foshan Academic Royale is a residential development project
located at Lujingdong Road, Chancheng District, Foshan. Being
situated in the Guangzhou-Foshan Urban Integration
Development Region, this project is located at the junction of
the Central Nanhai District and Chancheng District, within half
an hour drive to Guangzhou and the core districts of Foshan.
It occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 42,500
square metres and has an aggregate planned gross floor area
of approximately 214,000 square metres. This project
comprises mainly high-rise buildings over two phases. It will be
developed into a quality residential community for first home
buyers and upgraders. Phase | development was commenced

: ; A Project Foshan Academic Royale
in the first quarter of 2017 and pre-sale was launched in the BB &R BLELE « 224

third quarter of 2018. It is expected to complete and deliver P—— Lujingdong Road, Chancheng
to buyers in the fourth quarter of 2020. Phase Il development Hh B District, Foshan, the PRC
was commenced in the second quarter of 2018 and pre-sale e % L5 I A R B
will be launched in the fourth quarter of 2019. It is expected Usage Residential

to complete and deliver to buyers in the second quarter of ke =

2021. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted sales of Site area Approximately 42,500 square
6,768 square metres. SO AR R Z%Zt;;ooiﬁﬁ
BT EXSMBURBLEBRESRRBZETRRE  GRape’  aoorodmaey 214,000

B ME#HLTFROEEREERERR  BEGRMKES - #9214,000% 75
FIBRERGSRORE - BMBREMIEL 242,500 77 K - A e e
EAREEEEEELNR214000F 5K - ZIEBRBER RS 75 5 B (25

E HUEPREINGEZRRETIXE - ZBEB o MERE Expected 2Q 2021
F-—HR_TtFEFTHPIIR _ZFT-N\FE=FHHRA construction —F_-FE_F

E BN E_EFENFTRILARNER  F_HR_-_F %%@gﬁ;\
—\FE_FEFT  BAR_ZT—NFELEHRKREE ' R )

T FEERINER -RZZT—N\F ZEENERLOHEE
& A6,768F K o
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Project Greenery Terrace

HE A8 i &

Location Xingnan Avenue, Nancun

b B County, Panyu District,
Guangzhou, the PRC
*ﬁ%m%%@
AN SR B K

Usage Residential

A& F=

Site area Approximately 30,600 square

AR AR metres

#930,600F 77 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 29,000 square

LIZEmEE metres
#729,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

AREE PTG R

Expected 4Q 2019

construction —T-NFEME

completion date

TAHAE S T 32 ST K
=P

GUANGZHOU GREENERY TERRACE
BMNESH#E

Greenery Terrace is a residential development project located
at Xingnan Avenue, Nancun County, Panyu District,
Guangzhou within the Huanan New Town Zone. Being one of
the few low-density sites located in the Huanan New Town
Zone, the close proximity to Metro Line No. 7 and the various
developments and facilities in the Wanbo Commercial Area in
the near future will add tremendous value to the project. It
occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 30,600
square metres and has an aggregate planned gross floor area
of approximately 29,000 square metres. This project will be
developed into a high-end low-density villa community.
Development was commenced in the third quarter of 2017
and pre-sale was launched in the third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to complete and deliver to buyers in the fourth
quarter of 2019. In 2018, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 1,013 square metres.

EMaAavRENTEEEENEEE B2 EFEERER -
HEERE IR - RMISLENEREE ML - BRI HmE7
GREEEEENSERRELR BRI AZIEE AR
B - %8B A B MIE4 /530,600 52X BERBEEER
E#4)/29,000F 5K BERREARSHERENER  ER-Z
—tFE=FHPIIRA T \FE=FTHKRBE  BR=
E-NEFENERTIRRIMER - RZZE—NF ' ZHENE
HEEMBEA1,013F 5K -
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GUANGZHOU MAOGANGLU PROJECT
EIN ke 5 TR B

Maoganglu Project is a residential development project located
at Maogang Road, Huangpu District, Guangzhou. This project
strategically positioned at the pivotal intersection between
Huangpu Yuzhu Port Economic Zone and Guangzhou
International Financial City, the second CBD of Guangzhou. It is
conveniently located with close proximity to the planned Metro
Line No. 13 and equipped with quality educational, healthcare
and transportation facilities. It occupies an aggregate site area
of approximately 14,000 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 73,000 square
metres. This project will be developed into a mid-end quality
high-rise community. It is expected to commence development
in the third quarter of 2019 and launch pre-sale in the first
quarter of 2020. It is expected to complete and deliver to
buyers in the fourth quarter of 2021.

FEBRBEEAMRENTEREFEE2FERREE @ NESHEAKE
ENEERSHRARENEERMUE  WYRASKRENMWE13%R  TERUBELREEERLEE  RBREE
REREE S - % BB BB EEL A14,000F 5K - BERBBEAMEEL A73,000F 5K @ $53%E AP %R
LZeEBdE #A28R_ZT-NEF=FTHPT  BiR_ZT_F

RER -

GUANGZHOU CHANGLINGJU PROJECT
EMNKEEERHA

Changlingju Project is a residential development project located
at Changling Road, Huangpu District, Guangzhou. It is 8
kilometres northeast to the Huangpu District municipal
government office and 23 kilometres from Guangzhou
International Financial City, the second CBD of Guangzhou.
The project is conveniently located with close proximity to the
planned Huangpu Tram Line No. 1 and equipped with quality
educational, healthcare and transportation facilities. It occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately 72,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 252,000 square metres. The project will be
developed into a mid-end quality high-rise community. It is
expected to commence development in the third quarter of
2019 and launch pre-sale in the second quarter of 2020. It is
expected to complete and deliver to buyers in the fourth
quarter of 2021.

Project

Guangzhou Maoganglu

HE &R Project
BN 3 i BRI B
Location Maogang Road, Huangpu
3 B District, Guangzhou, the PRC
BN I R 5 e B
Usage Residential
Ri& FE=E
Site area Approximately 14,000 square
AR TS metres

#914,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 73,000 square

REEEE metres
#973,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REEFT{h R

Expected 4Q 2021

construction —T-—FFHNF

completion date

BHRETIZENK
B

S g

IERL /A

E*DEJ‘M%:%%IZP/D B

FE-—FRARE R_T-_—FEOFRTR

Project Guangzhou Changlingju
HE AR Project
BEiREREEE
Location Changling Road, Huangpu
3t B District, Guangzhou, the PRC
PEEMNEE R RS
Usage Residential
& x=E
Site area Approximately 72,000 square
AR & metres

#972,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 252,000

REHEEE square metres
#7252,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

NEBE L=

Expected 4Q 2021

construction —E-—FFNME

completion date

TREAR L TR ST hX
=R

/

REFRERUNENTERRRERZCETERELR  ERHERMNRILSSAE  EEMNE_BEPLE —
EMERSRW2AE  YIRAEHENERIRR MERUHAEREREREE  KBRAERERKES
ZIE B AR BEEAR72,000F 5K ERBEBEEELS252,000F 75K #ERATmmERERL
FERZFE-NAFE=ZFHI AR T_TFF_FRARE R T FENFERIEIMNER -
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Project Yau Tong Project
B A8 JMYEIE B
Location Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44 at
3t B the junction of Shung Shun
Street and Yan Yue Wai,
Yau Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BBNEREREG
BB B 22 R A ER 4457
Usage Residential
Rz =
Site area Approximately 10,500 square
AR TE metres

#910,500F 73 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 53,000 square

RIEHEEE metres
#953,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

REBFTh R

Expected 2022

construction =

completion date

S|

TREAZ S TR e K
B

HONG KONG YAU TONG PROJECT
BEMEEE

Yau Tong Project is a residential development project located
at the junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. With idyllic and unobstructed
view of the Victoria Harbour, the development offers stylish
and relaxing living environment. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 10,500 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 53,000
square metres. This project comprises four high-rise blocks
with 688 units, which are mostly small to medium-sized. It
aims to meet owner occupier and upgrade demand from
single and expanding families. It also provides three and four-
bedroom units for self-use and upgrade demand. Development
of the project has commenced in the fourth quarter of 2017
with pre-sale scheduled to commence in the third quarter of
2020. This project is expected to complete in 2022.

MIEEE AUREENERESCEHECFERAZEERRE
BH BEGREMNGESES REEBERTENEEE
Fff o 5% B B #23 Bm B4 /410,500 F 5K - BREQEEEE
#)A53,000F s K BENREEFEE  2MHA £688HE
A7 AR/ NFREZ S DURBREF AT R/IREB B RRE
TR ARWRE=S  NEEMHEARMBREE K - ZEER
—E—tFENEHT BN _E_TFE=FTRHEEE
RZE__FET -
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Land Bank

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a land bank
developable in gross floor area of approximately 4,560,000
square metres across 22 real estate development projects in
11 cities, namely Beijing, Yingkou, Langfang, Tianjin, Nanjing,
Changsha, Wuhan, Huizhou, Foshan, Guangzhou and Hong
Kong.

New Land Bank Acquisition

Throughout the year of 2018, the Group has added two new
projects to its real estate development portfolio and thus the
developable gross floor area of land bank increased
approximately 325,000 square metres. The total cost and
average cost for the newly acquired land bank amounted to
approximately RMB3,337 million and RMB10,300 per square
metre respectively. The newly acquired land bank located in
Guangzhou where the Group has already established a solid
footprint. These acquisitions will further advance the Group’s
leading position in the Greater Bay Area market with
enhancing brand penetration that continue to promote rapid
expansion of the Group.

I ki

REZ2E-—N\F - A=+—8 ' &A5EE
T+ _EAEERRER * MHit= -
20 BB -RKEZE -BR KD HE-
=ML BEMNEEBE @R
AHRTHBEIHMFEENREEARENA
4,560,000 5 3 o

UG BB 3 R

M= —)\F - KEEFILWIERE HE 3%
RIEER  tHREEZRITHAZEEARER
il #4 AN #9325,000F 5 2K o ¥ 1 th {15
ZHRAK AB3BI7TEITARE  FHEA
M AEFFK10,300TT A RE o EFEHE
BAEBERMED - ST mEESEE
AL R R FE R V& [ i [ A SB ST b L - 3 —
FRFAMBLESN  BEHERRNRE
TR o

Average

Estimated land cost

Attributable GFA Total land cost (RMB

interest Site area (sq.m.) (RMB million) per sq.m.)

to the Group (sq.m.) 23 0) @rmmE  FHLHRE

Location/Project Property type xEH G EE BIEEEE (AR# (BFEFHR

e 1EH HRER PG (EHXK) (EHRK) HETT) AR%RT)

1 Guangzhou Maoganglu Project Residential 100% 14,000 73,000 1,090 15,000
BMFmEEEE F=E

g Guangzhou Changlingju Project Residential 100% 72,000 252,000 2,247 9,000
EMREERR F=E

SPECIALISED CONSTRUCTION HERE

The Group is engaged in the business of specialised
construction mainly encompassing the services of design,
production and installation of curtain walls system and
associated metal works via Condo Shanghai for the PRC
market and Condo Hong Kong for the Hong Kong market. In
2018, although the revenue derived from this segment
dropped 2.3% to HK$941.7 million (2017: HK$964.3 million),
its operating results, net of intra-group transactions, improved
significantly with operating profit of HK$1.6 million (2017:
operating loss of HK$123.7 million).

AEBEBRHEN LS (BERETSER)
RInMEE (BERBMBER) K& AR
PP RERRREREBSREZEXRE
E¥B -RZE—)\F  BERZDBHKA
N #%2.3% £ 941,700,000 T (— T —+
£ : 964,300,000/ 7T) - H k& B AL
RPENKLEEERNIBNRS  SREELEH
#J1,600,000/8 T (T —+F : KEEE
123,700,000 7T ) °



Condo Hong Kong's active participation in both private
development and public sector over the years has earned itself
positive market recognition within the construction sector,
which has led to an increase in project bidding invitation.
However, competition has intensified as a result of curtain wall
construction companies from other regions entering into the
Hong Kong market. In view of the shortage of skilled labour,
rising trend in direct and indirect costs, Condo Hong Kong
implemented a relatively conservative bidding strategy and
underwent tight risk management measures whilst Condo
Shanghai has prioritised itself over operational risk
management. In 2018, this segment secured new tenders
amounting to over RMB700 million with projects on hand
amounting to approximately RMB1 billion as at 31 December
2018.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group’s investment property portfolio in Hong Kong
comprises two commercial office buildings, namely China
Minmetals Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF 29 in Central,
together with four residential units, all of which are located in
Hong Kong with a total gross floor area of 15,826 square
metres. As retail sales continued to be adversely affected in
2018, popular tourist districts including Lan Kwai Fong in
Central and Tsimshatsui have seen waves of early closing.
Occupancy rate in the said districts have dropped to a new
low level in recent years with significant downward revision in
rental rate. Apart from downward revision on the rental rate,
the Group also followed market practice to give marketing
incentive to attract potential tenants.

-1|||n“i|‘_l” 1

——

InMEBBOFRTR T Z @ERARLAR
B IRXRRETABRILTRIFAR 12
MTHEF2ELFHORE - A AR
Hipip R B AR OFEATENSE
BEFEEAR ESTRER - A0
TEHERALFRABREANBERT - wMNE
BERIR LREUT R T O IRARRE
FEAZSER - 2R EE - BAIAKE
EREEIEREEM -R_T—/\F -
ZOHMBEBBIRTARBIESL
REEFHESNESEORIOBTARE -

MERE

REBERBNEEMEAES @ BREAR
RPBZ A ATEAERFIRZLIKF 29/
BEEAE  UARNEMNAEEZEED
¥ AREmEEA #5826 5K - AR
018 F TEHFERR  UIRRABEER
HOPRBESRAYPHEHHR TRESE
28 EEEIRREAFHE AT
BIREIEERRE - AF% T THEASK
FoomREREMSEEREFRERK
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In 2018, revenue from this segment increased 10.0% to
HK$70.4 million (2017: HK$64.0 million). As at 31 December
2018, the occupancy rate of LKF 29 was 100% (31 December
2017: 87.4%) while China Minmetals Tower was 92.3%
occupied (31 December 2017: 95.0%).

RZZE—N\F WERESBZRALEF
10.0% £70,400,0008 T (ZF —+ F :
64,000,000 7L) cR=ZZE—N\F+=A
=+—H ' LKF 292 HHEEE100% (=F
—+&FE+=H=+—H8:87.4%) ' M+ &
FREAEMEEERANAERI%(ZE—+
Ty e =T E G 5T 94 )RY

Building China Minmetals Tower Building : LKF 29

ANELHE PR ABAE ANELHE LKF 29

Location 79 Chatham Road South, Location : 29 Wyndham Street,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong Central, Hong Kong

Hh E ERNBRADBERRBRE LT 5K b F BEBEPRERA - TN%R

Usage : Commercial Usage Commercial

Rz S R & S

Lease term Medium term Lease term Long term

& HIR 8

ENTRUSTED ASSET MANAGEMENT

During the year of 2018, the Group has recorded RMB9.2
million in management fee income according to the entrusted
management service agreement whereby China Minmetals
entrusted the Company with the management of all non-listed
assets within its real estate development and construction
division. The entrusted assets include real estate development
and management projects in Beijing, Tianjin, Shenyang,
Liaoning, Shandong, Qinghai, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the vyear of 2018, the Group’'s operations were
financed mainly by cash flows generated internally from
business operations as well as borrowings.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and bank
deposits (excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) of
HK$3,607.8 million (2017: HK$5,631.9 million), of which
75.8%, 15.1%, 9.0% and 0.1% (2017: 93.0%, 3.4%, 2.5%
and 1.1%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar and Macau Pataca respectively.

HERR =H

ZAEEER

REZZF—N\FR ~EEREZAEER
T 7% 8%159,200,000 TARB 2 EREH
WA - ZRZHE TRAEEEEE
EREEREEDIANFELTEEZT
AARER TEEEREMRILRE - X
Rk EE LR CFECIE S
AERERSHZEHERRKNREEE -

B %5 o] R
RPEERUBER

AZE-N\FAR AGEZEEEESTE
KEXKEEMBRZAERMMER

R-ZZE—N\FE+_A=+—H K&E#%
ERERBITHER(TEREZRHIEE X
$R 17 1F ) 3,607,800,000/8 T (— T — +
 :5,631,900,00087T) * EH75.8% *
15.1% ~ 9.0% K%0.1% (=& — + & :
93.0% * 3.4% * 2.5% &% 1.1%) % Bl LA A
R Bt - ZEURRPIEHIE -



The Group had utilised financing to supplement internal
resources to finance the acquisition of new projects and the
development of existing projects. Total borrowings of the
Group stood at HK$15,054.6 million as at 31 December 2018
(2017: HK$14,748.2 million), which mainly comprised
borrowings from banks and bond issuance. The net gearing
ratio (net debt to total equity) of the Group as at 31
December 2018 was 75.9% (2017: 62.4%).

The weighted average borrowing costs of the Group
maintained at a low level of around 4.75% (2017: 3.81%).

The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

AEBEHARMEERANBERAWER
HERBERBAEERHEES - AEER
T NE+_A=Zt+—BZEFRREA
15,054,600,0008 L (=T — & :
14,748,200,000%7T) + EH EEBIERIT
BRREHFET - R_TE—N\FE+_A
=+—B AEBZFEAEX(EBHFE
HRERERE) BISI%(ZE—+F
62.4%) °

AEBZMEFHEEXNRARBFEY
475% (—F—+% :3.81%) Z{EKF -

AEE 2 BRBBHERMOT

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-—H
2018 2017
—T-N\f§ —E—+F
HK$ million HK$ million
HEET % BEAT %
Within one year —FR 1,015.4 6.7 3,978.2 270
In the second year caTikE 8,067.7 53.6 35.9 0.2
In the third to fifth year FE=FEFRF 5,971.5 39.7 9,765.1 66.2
Beyond five years hELE = = 969.0 6.6
Total gt 15,054.6 100.0 14,748.2 100.0

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

AEBZEREEERLT

As at 31 December

B+=BA=+-—H
2018 2017
—E-0\E = et
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEEET % BEET %
Renminbi AR 1,153.0 7.7 143.5 1.0
Hong Kong Dollar BT 10,591.6 70.4 11,882.0 80.6
United States Dollar E=by 3,310.0 21.9 27170 18.4
Total st 15,054.6 100.0 14,748.2 100.0
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The finance costs charged to the profit or loss for 2018
amounted to HK$137.5 million (2017: HK$114.7 million) after
capitalisation of HK$553.8 million (2017: HK$539.1 million)
into properties under development. The unutilised banking
facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
HK$10,557.7 million (2017: HK$4,544.5 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group’s principal business is located in Mainland China
where external financing is denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and revenue is denominated in Renminbi primarily. The Group
is exposed to exchange rate risk on transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than Hong Kong dollar, the
reporting and functional currency of the Company. The Group
has been closely monitoring the fluctuation in Renminbi
exchange rate and has adopted necessary measures to
minimise the impact arising from adverse currency fluctuation
including adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in
foreign currency and utilisation of foreign exchange hedging
instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts or
capped forward contracts. In 2017, the Group has entered
capped foreign exchange contracts with certain banks in order
to hedge against exchange rate risk at an aggregate
nominated sum of US$80 million, which was settled by the
end of February 2018.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the borrowings of the
Group was on a floating rate basis and therefore, an increase
in interest rate would raise the Group’s interest cost. In order
to mitigate the interest rate risk, the Group entered into
interest rate swap contracts in which the Group would receive
interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at a
fixed rate based on the notional amount of HK$4.6 billion. As
at 31 December 2018, approximately 52.5% (2017: 42.9%) of
the Group’s borrowings was on a fixed rate basis after
hedging with the remainder on a floating rate basis.

RZZ—N\F - EHBRIAEREFT A EA
2% R R ) %£553,800,0008 T (—ZE —+
# : 539,100,000 7T) 1% * R85 NHER
Z B RS AZR £137,500,0008 7T (ZE—+
F 114,700,000 L) c AEBR =-F
—N\F+-_A=t+—HBHEKRFERZEITH
& %€ 510,557,700,0008 £ (T —+
£F 1 4,544,500,00058 7T) °
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AREBESEKERHRM - HINEE N
BrhaE WARNRAREEE  A£H
EIAB T (AIARATE Z58RERINEEEEE) A
SN BB SEHE B EXREFE
R AEB—EHEFYBETIARKEXRZEIR
HR B RESY - WERER T %6 A MR REHE i -
BOEREEHAEBMOTE  BIEAR
HNEEE SR L 5] - K% {5 R B SR 35k T A5 40
REINEAHKHFERPEN R _F
—tF - BYEPERAR  NEEHERT
R T HETHIEINERIEY EEHSH
# $ ¥ /480,000,000%€ T ° ZEFEAHER
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AEENTEMEREBMEZFERR - &
EEARHEFTNEEBF RS - Bl
FELASSAEEZFSKAELM - A&
BEFERR  NEERTLAXREHRE
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BEFRSFTEZFE  RIBEREST46
BETRETHEFEANRE - RZF—N
saete Bl S ae - E) dan s B (EisiEe v
525% (—ZF—+%F : 42.9%) LA E F =
B BRBIAEE AR B -



As at 31 December 2018, save as disclosed above, the Group
has not possessed any kind of financial instruments for
hedging and speculative purposes.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group and mortgage loan facilities to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties, and these pledged assets of the Group
included:

i. inventories with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$7,735,867,000 (2017: HK$6,165,669,000); and

ii. 100% equity interest in a subsidiary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, guarantees given to banks for
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the
Group's properties amounted to HK$7,538.1 million (2017:
HK$13,142.9 million). Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership certificate
which will generally be available within one year after the
purchasers taken the possession of the relevant properties; or
(i) the repayment of mortgaged loans by the purchasers. After
taking in account the net realisable value of the related
properties and the low default rate, the guarantee contracts at
initial recognition and subsequently at the end of each
reporting period is not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff of the Group, including the
Directors, increased 8.2% to 849 (2017: 785) as at 31
December 2018. The Group will continue to adopt a
remuneration policy in line with local market practice and
standards. The total remuneration and benefits for the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 were approximately HK$350.3 million (2017:
HK$356.8 million).

B EXFrBEEIN KRB~/ \F+_H
=t—B AEELEFEETATHETA
TR RIS -

SEEEMNF

RZB—NF+_A=+—8  x58E
HETEEMERAKHERITEREREHR
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Corporate Governance Report
LEERRSE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to and responsible for the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. The Board has put in place a
corporate governance structure for the Company which is
principally responsible for setting directions, formulating
strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of the
Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct
roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, except for the following deviations:

1. Code provision A.4.2 requires that all directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy in listed companies be subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting
after their appointment. Every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Instead of having elected at the first general meeting,
Directors (save for the Chairman and the Managing
Director) appointed by the Company to fill a casual
vacancy are subject to election at the first annual
general meeting after their appointment. Besides, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in the
manner as set out in the said code provision save for the
Chairman and the Managing Director of the Company
where they are not required to do so pursuant to the
private company act 1991 by which the Company was
incorporated.

EEeENREERE_ZT—N\FE+A
Zt+—HUEFEZLEEARE -

ARRBEERERBARRNMRSKFE
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2. Code provision E.1.2 requires that the chairman of the
board and the chairman of all the board committees of
listed companies to attend and answer questions at the
annual general meeting.

Mr. Li Fuli, the Chairman of the Board and of the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31
December 2018, was not available for the Company’s
annual general meeting for 2018 due to ad hoc business
commitment. Accordingly, Mr. He Jianbo, the then
Deputy Chairman, Managing Director and a member of
the Nomination Committee, took the chair of the said
meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Company,
however, are delegated to the management of the Company.

The Board comprises eight members as at the date of this
Annual Report, the composition of which is set out below:

2. RETAMEXEEI2ME EHAF
MESSXIFMEEFZERZE
FREEERBFAE IRXNEL
B & PR RIEMA o

HERBFEENABRZHE REEZ
E-NF+ZA=Z+—HIEFER
TEFERRERZESGIRTHEMN
FERELHFEARBN T —/\F
ERRBFREG BRZEIEFEHR
EERKENREZBEREMR
MEAEERMKSERFZEH -

s5e

EXeREFEEREBRARRZEME
VEBEERAREBARARRZER M
ERABABMEBRHITARRIZATEE

RACHAS EFEH \REFAN -
SRR

Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Director Designation Committee Committee Committee Committee
ESfZ B fi HiTERE BENERE HWESE REZERE
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C
a8 S A IERBITES
Mr. Liu Zeping Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
BT & EZRARBERITES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
BRER L EZRALERNTES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
BETRE EFRBERRHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
fal MBI L FHTESR
Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive Director C M M
BRREE BUFHTES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
ML BUFNTES
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BERFELL BYFHITES
C: Chairman ~ M: Member C:EXF% M:KE
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Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile” in this
Annual Report. To the best knowledge of the Company, there
is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships amongst members of the Board.

All Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of
three years and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election provisions of the Bye-laws.

The Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules to
have at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third members of the Board and with
at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate accounting and financial management expertise
and professional qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from all
Independent Non-executive Directors confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company and
commit themselves to spend sufficient time to perform their
duties. They are also aware of their collective and individual
responsibility to Shareholders. As such, they have taken active
interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain thorough
understanding of the business of the Company.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek
advice from independent professional advisors at the
Company'’s expense in the process of discharging their duties.
The Company has also arranged for appropriate liability
insurance to indemnify Directors for their liabilities arising from
corporate activities.

REEZREETERAFRIEELD
EBEEAEGN | -8R - RARBMA -
EZeXKEBECHLEN X15 KE
SEMBARBEZEIE -

FIBENTESZERR=F - WARER
ARBERARAEBRESEZIGRXE

ARR—HETEMRURE LTARE
ROBRB=ZRBUFATES - H%FH
VHATESRIEESEARRI =N
— MEFRRI-BBUFFATEREREA
BETRMBEXRERRERERIMAE

BB ETRANEIIBERZIMATE  ARFE
BRESBYIFNTESIRE 2 BIULIEM
BHERE  NARRRAEEMLIENR
TEFHRBIAL -

REEANBRSAETETMULARAE
BZEEMNZ/ARETE  URKARH
FRENBTESEZHE  KFTFHAARHK
RAEEERBRRER  AEBEHEZ2EAR
AEHERBETBARBE -

ARBBEREZENR  ZHBIEXREH
MERKBYVERER  UHPETHE
ERE MAEBRAAQEXNMN  NAF]
NEZHBEREETRER  REEEANT
REEB Mo BUERFREFEE -



During the year, a total of four physical Board meetings and
two general meetings were held. Notice of not less than
fourteen days is given for regular Board meetings. The
attendance of Directors is as follows:

ARBNFERABTTOREZTEEZN
MABRAG BEFETHER2BA
E OREFRTEMA TEREAREE
EX - ZEFNLASEZHREBRLT

Number of meetings attended/held
HEBITEHERY
Board Meeting General Meeting

Name of Director EEHS BEEE BERXE

Mr. He lJianbo o] 1082 5 A 4/4 2/2

Mr. Liu Zeping 2R FEE 4/4 0/2

Mr. Chen Xingwu (appointed on  FREER 4 (R =T —/\F 11 0/0
29 November 2018) T—AZtThBAEZRE)

Mr. Yang Shangping 15 kL 4/4 0/2

Ms. He Xiaoli fa/NEX L 4/4 2/2

Mr. Selwyn Mar BHREEE 4/4 2/2

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR B S A 4/4 2/2

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEWAE L+ (R=_TE—N\F 3/3 2/2
(appointed on 1 April 2018) M—A—HEZRT)

Mr. Li Fuli TREMEE(RZZE—NF 1/4 0/2
(resigned on 15 January 2019) — A+ R BEHE)

Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEKLET (RZZE-N\F 11 0/0
(resigned on 1 April 2018) A —B&fE)

DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package and training
covering the Company’s constitutional documents, internal
policies, guidance and procedures as well as the general,
statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to
ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her responsibility
under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other regulatory regimes. The Company provides monthly
reports to Directors which contain updates on business
development and financial information of the Group.

EFZFHEERI RER

ENMAZEER  HESHESHENA
BEHLEI O REARFEABEREX
- ARG - fEEl MEFARIERES
E—R ERFEEERESETEMEAR
TEEZEMN  UBRREFZSBEBEER L
MARANEMABEE RO T 2EE-

o BEIEREG N EHARA -
ERMEMAREAINETREHRNE
o ARANEEARESREARER
MEBBRREMBER 2 RS -
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All Directors have participated in continuous professional ﬁﬁﬁ%?i’iﬁgéﬁ FEFHEERTI - R

development. The individual training record of Directors for the HE-Z—N\FE+_A=+—HILFE
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below: %%%an Ala s T
Briefings &
updates on
business Attending
Paying visits  operations & expert
to Company'’s compliance briefings,
projects & matters seminars &
subsidiaries BEH%EH  conferences

REFAE EERNE HEEE
HERME EEZEE BE #EHg

Name of Directors EE ATIER REHEH Riwig
Executive Directors: BITES :

Mr. He Jianbo fa] @008 ST 4 v v v/
Mr. Liu Zeping IR FRAE v 7 v
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR L 5t A v v v
Mr. Yang Shangping o A v v v
Non-Executive Director: FERITES :

Ms. He Xiaoli M/ hNEr Tt v v v

Independent Non-executive Directors: JBIIFEHITEE :

Mr. Selwyn Mar FHRELE v v v
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy HRA B SR A v v v
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEME R+ v v v

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR TEMEFHRKIE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Li Fuli was the HREBEZ-_ZFT—N\F+=-_A=+—HIF
Chairman of the Board and Mr. He Jianbo was the Managing £ ' ARREEGTFEATEALL M
Director of the Company. The Chairman is responsible for the EHALIBRAREIKLE EFSEF
overall strategic direction of the Group and the management BEAEEZERBEAMNEEE=E 2
of the Board and the Managing Director is responsible for the E{F > M= FALEE B EARADNRIEBER
strategic planning and day-to-day management of the Group's BSMEEIRAFEEFEEEIE -

business operations.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own
“Rules and Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of
the Company in respect of Dealings in Securities of the
Company” (the “Rules for Securities Transactions”) on terms
no less exacting than those contained in the Model Code as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, they had
confirmed in writing that they had complied with the Rules for
Securities Transactions throughout the vyear ended 31
December 2018.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and its results and cash flows for the
relevant financial period. The Directors are also responsible for
the timely publication of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial statements
had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable,
and the consolidated financial statements had been prepared
on a going concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries,
that to the best of their knowledge, information and belief,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement made by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
independent auditor of the Company, about their reporting
responsibility on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.

SEFETEFXH T

ARBEL—ERES - ERIARRE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility to establish and maintain
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and, through the Audit Committee, to review the
effectiveness of such systems so as to protect Shareholders’
interest and to safeguard the Group’s assets. The Board has
authorised the management to design, implement and
maintain its risk management and internal control systems by
clearly defined responsibility, authority and accountability.
Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the Internal
Audit Department of the Company monitors the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
independent reviews.

The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and
internal control are essential for long term growth and
sustainability of the Group. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than to
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

A. Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “Top-down” and “Bottom-up”
approach whereby the three defensive lines formed by
business units, the management and the Internal Audit
Department join hands to identify, assess and manage
significant risks at corporate, operational and functional
levels.

Each business unit and its management team has the
duty to manage its own risks in the course of its daily
operations. It requires the identifying, measuring and
monitoring of the management measures of individual
risk to ensure that it is within the risk appetite of the
Group. It also requires the implementation of risk
management plans as recommended by the Internal
Audit Department and the Audit Committee to address
those significant risks that may affect its operation.

R\ 5 1 K A EB BS
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The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and
update the Group's risk profile and appetite. By
reviewing business and operation reports from Internal
Audit Department and management, the Audit
Committee assists the Board to oversee the risk
management and internal control systems on an on-
going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Directed by the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish
annual internal audit plan. The Internal Audit
Department performs internal audit works and reports
findings to the Audit Committee that provide the Audit
Committee with an independent and objective
assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The principle
tasks of internal audit works of the year include audit
reviews of operations, controlling mechanism, legal
compliance and compliance of internal rules and
regulations. Special attention has been given to matters
of significant risks or changes.

Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit
Committee meetings. Major findings and recommendation
are followed up and updated to the Audit Committee on
a regular basis. Minutes of the Audit Committee meetings
are then tabled at Board meetings to report the Audit
Committee’s findings on risk management and internal
control issues such as changes in the nature and extent of
significant risks since the last review, those newly identified
risks of material nature that require the attention of the
Board, and the recommendation or opinion on
management’s response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information in accordance with its “Policy on
Disclosure of Inside Information” to ensure that inside
information remains confidential until disclosure and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made.
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B. Significant Risks and Control Measures

Significant risks have been identified through the process
of risk identification and assessment. A summary of the
significant risks of the Group together with the relevant
internal control measures imposed during the year is
listed below.

a. Working Capital and Debt Risk

Working capital and debt risk remains the key
challenge of the Group and it increased as
compared to last year. All of the Group's
residential and commercial property development
and investment in mainland China are subject to
risks associated with the PRC property market such
as policy change, demand-supply rebalance, change
in overall economic conditions and availability of
financing which may pose an adverse impact on
the Group's financial and operation condition.

b. Operational Risk

Operational risk is another significant risk identified
by the Group during the year. The events of
default caused by purchasers and strategic partners
together with human error and system
inadequacies or failure may bring about
corresponding impact on the Group’s operations
where financial loss, litigation, and reputation
damage may follow.

C. Review of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board shall, through the Audit Committee,
review the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. The
Audit Committee instructs the Internal Audit
Department to carry out independent reviews to
assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

EXEREEERE

ERARERRZR MF[HEFF
sl - BEAKRERFAZEXR
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The management of the business units annually
review and update their risk registers, and provide
assurance that effective controls are embedded.
They also conduct self-assessment on internal
control and confirm that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been
established and properly complied with. In
consideration of the Group's risk appetite (i.e. the
extent of risk the Group is willing to bear in
pursuit of its strategic and business objectives), the
Audit Committee reviews the following with
reference to the assessment made by the
management and the Internal Audit Department to
assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the
Board to enable effective assessment of the
monitoring measures within the Group in
areas such as the reliability of financial
reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the
effectiveness of risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain
the efficiency in rectifying internal control
deficiencies and status update on
implementing of recommendation provided
by the Internal Audit Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the
principal business risk and the management'’s
response to changes in the Group’s business
and external environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by
the Board, directs independent investigations on
material internal control defects and reviews the
findings and the management’s feedback thereof.
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Based on the assessments made by the
management and the Internal Audit Department
and taking into account the audit work of the
independent auditor, the Board and the Audit
Committee consider that no significant areas of
concern in respect of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems were
identified during the year of 2018.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems
performed during the year, the Board considers
such systems effective and adequate.

RIFEEEBMAEE B 25 -
AR S BB S R BB e AT T1E
R -EFERERZEERA/R
—E-N\FAR TEERREER
NEMERAENEAEFEFT THT -

REFAHRREERAIERR
BREBRMENRS  EEERA
REZRBERRBRS -

BOARD COMMITTEES EETZEE
A. Audit Committee A. BEEZEE
All the members of the Audit Committee are EREZEGKENRBEVINTE
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Audit FHEIZREA/RN  ((BHAKHE
Committee is principally responsible for reviewing (i) the 2 B 75 B R AR e DA R [ B B ER A A
effectiveness of the financial reporting procedures and B EERS 2B BE - ()BILIZE
risk management and internal control systems of the BB E URETEXEMIE
Group; (i) the appointment of independent auditor and e ROINFTAEABETWE AR
the efficiency and quality of their work; and (iii) all EREEHZSMENREER -
internal audit reports as well as management feedback
to such reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2018. The BEZEEER_E—\FEITT=
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as Ke® sKELEE®E 2B R
follows: TF @
Attendance

Members of the Audit Committee BEZEEEMNE HERE
Mr. Selwyn Mar — Chairman BaELEE — X8 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy R R A 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EBWB L

(appointed on 1 April 2018) (RZE-NFHA-REZE) 2/2
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEKRT

(resigned on 1 April 2018) (R=Z-N\FHA—BET) 1”1



The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee
during the year are summarized as follows:

reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2017, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and
the annual results announcement, and made
recommendation to the Board for approval,

reviewed the interim financial information of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2018 and
the interim results announcement, and made
recommendation to the Board for approval,

reviewed the management recommendation
furnished by the independent auditor and the
response from the management;

reviewed the audit strategy provided by the independent
auditor and made recommendation to the Board for
the independent auditor’'s appointment, remuneration
and terms of engagement on audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2018;

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the independent auditor for non-audit services;

reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group;

oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
procedures and risk management and internal
control systems;
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h.  ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty
to establish and maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems including
adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff working in the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function;

i. reviewed the top tier risks of the Group and
recommended mitigating actions therefor;

j- furnished opinions to the management on risks
associated with significant matters of the Group;

k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the
Internal Audit Department, provided guidelines for
internal audit planning and reporting, and ensured
that the internal audit function was provided with
adequate resources to discharge its responsibility;
and

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the
procedures for monitoring connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions and the
mechanism of whistleblowing.

The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s proposal
regarding the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the Company’s independent auditor for the
year ending 31 December 2019. The Company will put
forward the relevant resolution for approval by
Shareholders at the AGM.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee consists of the Chairman of the Board and all
the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the
review of the remuneration mechanism and incentive
scheme of the Directors and senior management, and
the establishment and maintenance of a reasonable and
competitive remuneration package to attract and retain
Directors and senior management.
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The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the
Board to determine the remuneration packages of
Executive Directors and senior management and make
recommendation to the Board for the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in
2018. The attendance of the members of the
Remuneration Committee is as follows:

FNEE S RESTEREBEENTT
EENREEEABNHMES -
VHFATEFNFHAEFTSR

FMEBEER T -NFRITT —
REH SNEHEgREZBERA
-

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee HMES S S R
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman BOWILLE — £
(appointed on 1 April 2018) (RZZE—N\FHA—BEZ) 0/0
Mr. He Jianbo fa] RI08% 55 4 11
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHlEEE 171
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy RS 171
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEkKLLT
(resigned on 1 April 2018) (R=—ZE—N\FMWB—BET) 11
Mr. Li Fuli FRMEE
(resigned on 15 January 2019) (R—ZE—NF-—B+HBET) 0/1

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
and approved the 2017 annual bonus proposal, the
2018 annual salary adjustment proposal, the salary for
an Independent Non-executive Director and an Executive
Director cum Deputy Managing Director of the Company
appointed during the year.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
consists of the Chairman of the Board and all the
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee is principally responsible for formulating
policy for nomination of Directors and leading the
process of identifying and nominating candidates suitably
qualified to become Board members. It reviews the
structure, size and composition of the Board and makes
recommendation to the Board on re-appointment of
Directors as well as succession plan for the Chairman
and the chief executive of the Company. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
in order to enhance the equality of its performance.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Nomination Committee has the
primary responsibility for the implementation of such
policy and review of its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2018.
The attendance of the members of the Nomination
Committee is as follows:
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Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZSEHE R E
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman MEEtE — B 171
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHEAE 11
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B ST A 171
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BB LT
(appointed on 1 April 2018) (RZTE-N\FOA—BEZE) 11
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEKLL
(resigned on 1 April 2018) (RZZT—NFHA—BEFT) 0/0
Mr. Li Fuli FRMAE
(resigned on 15 January 2019) (RZE—NF—A+HBET) 01

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors, the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company’s corporate governance policy and performing
the following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
compliance of legal and regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
of the Company; and

C. to review the Company’s compliance of the CG
Code as well as the disclose made in the
Company’s Corporate Governance Report.
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During the year, the Board has reviewed the position on
the CG Code compliance and approved the Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Company's 2018
Annual Report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, the independent auditor of the Group, received
approximately HK$3.65 million (2017: HK$3.95 million) for
audit services, and approximately HK$1.1 million (2017:
HK$0.9 million) for non-audit services which include the
review of the 2018 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chung Wing Yee has been acting as Company Secretary
of the Company since August 2006. She is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
Ms. Chung has participated professional training activities for
more than 15 hours in 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

A. Convening of special general meeting on
requisition and putting forward proposals
at general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up share capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company
have the right to requisite the Directors to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. The requisition
must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionist, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a special general meeting
of the Company.
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B. Enquiries from Shareholders

The Company’s website provides email address, postal
address, fax number and telephone number by which
enquiries may be put to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communications
with Shareholders and the investment community (which refers
to the Company’s potential investors and research analysts
reporting and analysing the Company’'s status and
performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and
the investment community by way of the Company’s
announcements, website, meetings with shareholders and
general investor relations activities.

It is believed that effective communication with investors is
essential for promoting their understanding of the Group’s
business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a
regular basis.

A. Announcements and corporate website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements,
financial reports, press releases and update information
of the Group are available. It serves as a key channel
for Shareholders and the investment community to
access reliable and timely information about the
Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or provide
feedback via the designated section on the Company’s
corporate website.

The following corporate information is posted on the
Company’s website immediately thereafter the same has
been released by the Company to the website of the
Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars
— annual reports and interim reports

—  Bye-laws
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— list of Directors

— terms of reference of all the committees of the
Board

— procedures for nomination of Directors by
Shareholders

General meetings of Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on
their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.
They are welcome to raise questions and comments at
general meetings where members of the Board and
independent auditor of the Company are delighted to
answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of
general meetings by the chairman of the general meeting.
The Company also provides Shareholders with sufficient
and timely information concerning the date, location and
agenda of general meetings and other information
regarding issues to be decided at general meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted
and recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to
count the number of votes cast at general meetings. The
Company announces and publishes, on the same day of
the general meeting, the poll voting results on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

Investor relations activities

We believe that, to enhance corporate governance,
regular and effective communication with investors is
essential and in particular, for their understanding of the
Company’s business development. We endeavour to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the
investment community through participation in investor
conferences, analyst and media briefings, non-deal road
shows and investors’ and shareholders’ visits.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
(i.e. the Bye-laws) during the year.
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OVERVIEW
About this report

Minmetals Land is delighted to present the 2018
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
and its subsidiaries. This Report details the systematic approach
and performance of the Company in terms of sustainable
development in environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
aspects.

This Report covers the period from 1 January to 31 December
2018, and includes contents dating back to previous years for
benchmarking purpose.

This Report covers the principal businesses of the Company,
including Minmetals Land’s Beijing and Hong Kong offices as
well as its real estate development projects and property
management service subsidiaries across the country. For details
of the businesses of the Company, please refer to our 2018
Annual Report.

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the
Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. Complying with all
“comply or explain” provisions outlined in the £SG Guide, this
Report aims at an adequate reflection of efforts and
achievements of the Company in environmental, social and
governance aspects.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Stakeholder Engagement

The trust of our stakeholders and their active participation are
important basis of the Company’s sustainable development.
We greatly emphasize on maintaining stakeholder relationship
through effective communication mechanisms to understand
their expectations and suggestions. We host regular meetings
and dialogues with various stakeholders and release relevant
corporate information through corporate website on a regular
basis. Based on opinions of stakeholders, we continuously
strengthen our sustainable development strategies. The
Company endeavours to build a community with collaboration
and mutual trust, and create a sustainable future with steady
economic growth, environmental harmony and responsible
social development.

Main Stakeholders
EEHGE

Issues of Major Concerns
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Responses and Feedback
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Government organisation e compliance with laws and

B AT 4H 48 regulation
: e corporate governance
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Shareholders and financial performance
potential investors e risk management
BRREREREE information disclosure

IS AE R
J—lzlg/\ =] EE

fifgiaNl . BERE

Customers e quality of products and
HEE services
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conducting business in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations

FREXGRETHEREE AR

publishing announcements and reports
on annual results and interim results
holding annual general meeting of
shareholders

regularly updating the corporate website
to ensure timely release of latest
company information
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hosting property expo and property
carnival to demonstrate product and
service quality
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Main Stakeholders Issues of Major Concerns Responses and Feedback
FERBE FEMERSE BEERER
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Sustainability Mission and Vision

At Minmetals Land, we strive to uphold our corporate mission
of “Building the Best, Creating a Legend” in every step
towards a more sustainable future. By incorporating social and
environmental sustainability into our daily operation and
management schemes, we aim to fulfil our corporate vision of
“becoming a leading innovative and sustainable real estate
developer”.

As a highly committed sustainable developer, the Board is
responsible for assessing and determining ESG-related risks of
the Company, ensuring the establishment of an appropriate
and effective ESG risk management system and approving
ESG-related policies and reports.

OUR BUSINESS

By leveraging the abundant financial resources and enormous
business network of China Minmetals, Minmetals Land utilises
its unique position and competitiveness as the sole listed real
estate flagship of China Minmetals in Hong Kong and expands
its real estate development business across various provinces
and cities in the country under a well-established and
efficiently operating platform. Minmetals Land engages in a
broad range of real estate businesses, covering specialised
construction, property investment and securities investment.
The Company develops properties and offers management
services in major economic hubs of Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze
River Delta, Central China, Pearl River Delta and Hong Kong
regions. The Company also engages in the business of
specialised construction through two wholly-owned subsidiaries
based in Shanghai and Hong Kong, which both have
completed a great number of highly renowned specialised
construction projects in a number of major cities in the
country. The Company’s property investment business in Hong
Kong mainly comprises the lease of two commercial office
buildings, namely LKF 29 in Central and China Minmetals
Tower in Tsimshatsui. The occupancy rates of both buildings
constantly maintain at a substantially high level.
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Minmetals Land — “2018 China Real Estate
Central Enterprise Excellence Brand”

At the “2018 China Real Estate Professional Summit and
Brand Value List Launching Ceremony”, which was organised
by the China Real Estate Newspaper Research Institute,

Minmetals Land was awarded the “2018 China Real Estate

Central Enterprise Excellence Brand” for its exceptional
performance.
Under the rapid development and

fierce competition nature of the real
estate industry, Minmetals Land has
always adhered to its development

motto of “treasuring limited
resources to create endless
possibilities”. We attach great
importance to healthy and

sustainable urban development for
the benefit of people. Accordingly,
we strive to rationally utilize scarce
land resources, and make use of
green technology to provide
high-quality properties for
people.

Real Estate Development

Throughout the year of 2018, the Company has added two
new development projects to its real estate portfolio and thus
the total number of real estate development projects has
reached 22. The outstanding design and quality of our
projects gain market recognition in the vicinity. In addition,
Minmetals Land is also actively exploring investment
opportunities in other cities or regions. As such, Minmetals
Land is expanding and moving steadily towards its vision of
“becoming a leading innovative and sustainable real estate
developer”.
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Pan Bohai Rim

o Beijing Fortune Garden

o Yingkou Platinum Bay

° Langfang Harrow Town

o Tianjin Minmetals International

Yangtze River Delta

o Nanjing Sello Royale

o Nanjing Academic Royale
o Nanjing Yan Shan Ju

o Nanjing Enchanté Oasis
o Nanjing Enchanté Cove
o Nanjing Yu Shan Tang

o Nanjing Hexi Project

Central China

o Changsha LOHAS International Community
Changsha Scotland Town

Changsha Qin Royale

Wuhan Enchanté Crest

Wuhan Scenery Cove

Pearl River Delta

o Huizhou Hallstatt See

o Foshan Academic Royale

° Guangzhou Greenery Terrace
o Guangzhou Maoganglu Project

o Guangzhou Changlingju Project
o Hong Kong Yau Tong Project

Property Management Services
Property Service Teams

The closing of sales activities marks the beginning of our
caring and professional property management services through
a series of after-sales services. To pursue our vision of being a
leading sustainable developer and delivering value-added
services to our customers, tenants and communities, we have
established a professional and experienced property
management team, the Minmetals Property Service team. With
expertise in safety management, equipment maintenance,
facilities operation, environmental and building management,
the Minmetals Property Service Team has a proven track
record in luxury residential services. Dedicated to the solid
principle of maintaining close relationships with our clients, we
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consistently provide and maintain high levels of service quality
at all times. With top-tier hardware facilities and a strong
team of dedicated staff, the Minmetals Property Service team
provides not only a comfortable and safe home for residents,
but also further enhance the investment value of properties.

Furthermore, we are committed to the provision of the “37°C
Living” to our customers and residents representing a safe,
comfortable and modern living. “37°C" is defined as the
temperature that brings people happiness. The Minmetals
Property Service team endeavours to deliver a truly enjoyable
living experiences through first-class services in housekeeping,
facility maintenance and management, health care and
nursery/kindergarten facilities. In addition, the Minmetals
Property Service team officially launched the “Minmetals
Property 400 National Customer Service Hotline” during the
year with an aim to listen to the opinions and feedbacks of
our customers through the centralized customer service hotline
system.

Currently, we have established 4 property management teams
across the country and will continue to expand our service
network to deliver value-added property management services
to more tenants and communities.

Minmetals Properties Service Yingkou

As the vice presidential company of Yingkou Property
Management Association, Minmetals Properties Service Yingkou
is enthusiastic to make innovative developments in services and
offer breath-taking experiences to property owners.

Minmetals Properties Service Tianjin

Setting the mission of “connecting clients for wonderful
living”, Minmetals Properties Service Tianjin continues to raise
its brand value and market recognition by providing
outstanding property management services.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Minmetals Properties Service Nanjing

Minmetals Properties Service Nanjing is a member of Nanjing
Property Management Association that provides quality services to
customers of our various real estate development projects in Eastern
China region. The service team was awarded the "Outstanding
Property Management Project” for Jiangsu Province for their first-
class services for Riviera Royale.

Minmetals Properties Service Guangdong

Minmetals Properties Service Guangdong was awarded by
China Golden Key Alliance the “Service Demonstration
Enterprise Award”. To better serve the Guangzhou, Foshan
and Huizhou regions, Guangdong Minmetals Property Service
continues to provide high-end property management services
to customers.

Smart Community

Benefiting from advanced Internet of Things and Artificial
Intelligent technologies, the smart home and smart community
application is crucial for the transformation of a developer to
become a sustainable real estate service provider. Adhering to
the development motto of “treasuring limited resources to
create endless possibilities”, Minmetals Land is actively utilizing
cutting-edge technologies into our projects to create a green,
smart and liveable community for our residents.
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Community Events

As a leading real estate developer and property service
provider, we undertake our social responsibility for community
development and devote our best efforts to promote long-
term sustainable development in local communities. To offer a
truly comfortable and relaxing home living experience for
residents and community members, Minmetals Property Service
team organized a series of community events with the theme

#t @52
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of “We are a family” throughout the year, and categorized 12ARE D AZEE  BEST BEZ

the 12 months of a year into six themes, namely season of EXZZ « BB = - Hﬁxq—/\flfﬁ% ]

happiness, season of spring, season of family, season of joy, 3@_%%-’3%77 ZEI”\]é@J ﬂLl EREHAIE
ran 2

season of thanksgiving and season of warm winter, such that
a united, friendly and cohesive atmosphere is created.

hinese New Year Market
EHMFEERE BREY

On-site Clinic Service
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In addition to provision of activities for residents, Minmetals
Property Service Team also utilises several communication
channels to solicit valuable feedbacks from residents and other
stakeholder groups. To constantly improve service quality,
management team organizes resident conference on a
quarterly basis to gather suggestions and opinions. In order to
gather valuable feedback in a more effective manner, a toll-
free Customer Service Hotline has been established and
telephone surveys regarding service satisfaction are regularly
conducted. To provide residents with a safe home, we also
organised routine emergency training and equipment room
open days and property work experience days to raise
residents’ safety awareness and promote the safety standards.

E

Equipment om pen Day
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o e
Emergency Training Session
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Residents’ Conference
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Product and Service Responsibility

Delivering quality service and fulfilling product responsibility is
the fundamentals of our business. Minmetals Land strives to
adopt standardised, intelligent and environmental-friendly
strategies to improve the quality of our real estate
development projects and to promote the corporate brand.

We endeavour to build trusting relationships with our
customers, tenants and communities by safeguarding their
rights. Our management system for personal data and
intellectual property is in full compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, the “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and the “Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China”.

In terms of construction quality control, Minmetals Land strictly
adheres to the “Construction Law of People’s Republic of
China” and other national laws and regulations, as well as
industry standards. We also act in strict compliance with the
Company’s “Real Estate Project Quality and Measurement
Operational Guideline” to establish product quality standards,
assuring the best interests of our customers and other
stakeholders. We strive to continuously develop boutique
projects and deliver incomparable value to our customers,
maintaining the highest standard of product and service
quality in the real estate industry.

Responsible Supply Chain

The Company’s core business of real estate development and
property management service involves close relationship with
suppliers, who assist Minmetals Land to become a leading,
innovative and sustainable real estate developer. In order to
select the appropriate suppliers, we have adopted the
“Minmetals Land Real Estate Supplier Managing Rules”, a set
of stringent criteria for selecting suppliers covering topics such
as distance, size, pricing, quality control, legal compliance,
social responsibility, etc. For instance, a well-established
environmental management system and occupational health
and safety system serves as a compelling indicator of the
supplier’s fulfilment of basic social responsibility. The majority
of our suppliers and contractors have successfully obtained the
ISO 14001 environmental management certification and have
well-managed waste management system in place to minimize
environmental impacts.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Apart from our own staff, we also place the same level of
scrutiny in employment, labour standards, occupational health
and safety and professional ethics to all our suppliers and
contractors. To ensure the best quality of products and
services, Minmetals Land schedules annual evaluation and on-
site inspection to assess suppliers’ service, quality and delivery
punctuality. In order to effectively manage suppliers and
contractors, the Company has established and maintained a
supplier database where suppliers are grouped into different
categories. The annual performance evaluation will be
incorporated in the database to facilitate the shortlisting of
suppliers for the Company.
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Number of Suppliers by Region

BHEH#EHRE
Southern China Eastern China Central China Northern China Yingkou
ERE BERME EdiuE EitwE EonE
298 386 318 298 77

WORKING AT MINMETALS LAND

Minmetals Land regards employees and their talents as the
fundamentals of the Company’s sustainable development and
prosperity. We attach great importance to effective human
resources management by adhering to the principle of fair and
open recruitment, protecting the legitimate rights and interests
of employees, maintaining a healthy and comfortable working
environment, and building a promising career development
platform for all employees. We respect the uniqueness of each
employee’s talent and place utmost confidence in their
potential and abilities. The Company encourages employees to
explore their potential, achieve self-actualization and realize
personal values by offering comprehensive long term career
development programme. Minmetals Land is committed to the
building and maintenance of a working environment that is
safe, pleasant and inspiring for all.
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B HERERBSE

In 2018, Minmetals Land offered a promising career platform
for 849 talented employees. The particulars of our workforce

by gender, age, employment
location is presented below.

category and geographical

—E-)\F ARHMERBIOZEFHNE
THRET - EABRAZERASOBEFS
ATRIZMR - Fie - BEBERI MM IR
BEETHNOE -

Gender
i3] 50 or
Male  Female 20-29 30-39 40-49 above
Category Ehl L T 20-29% 30-39%  40-49% S0mEME
Total number of headcounts ABBE 535 314 192 374 225 58
Employment Category
k2 58 5l
Senior
Management
and Executives Mid-level

BREEER Management Others
Category =5l fTBAB hiREEE Hit
Total number of headcounts A B 428 9 73 767
Total number
of headcounts
Location E ASHEE
Hong Kong BB 102
Beijing bl 110
Tianjin RE "
Shanghai B! 106
Guangdong Province BRA 168
Jiangsu Province LERA 170
Hunan Province HMEA 82
Hubei Province wita 46
Liaoning Province HER 54




Recruitment

Minmetals Land strictly adheres to the principles of equal
employment and applies universal selection criteria that are
legal in all aspects. Our recruitment process complies with the
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Employment Ordinance”, the “Employee’s Compensation
Ordinance” and the “Immigration Ordinance”. The Company
entered into written labour contracts with each employee, and
strictly performed terms of the contracts to maintain a good
labour relationship. In addition to ensure full compliance with
all laws and legal regulations, Minmetals Land has also
formulated its own implementation manuals, which sets out
policies in recruitment, compensation, dismissal, promotion,
performance appraisal, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits
and welfare.

The Company has adopted a stringent policy to prohibit the
use of child labour or forced labour and implemented relevant
procedures in the recruitment process. Given the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors and the Regulation on the Implementation of the
Employment Contract”, we have stated clearly in the
employment contract that both Minmetals Land and its
employees are of equal legal status, and neither party may
impose its will on the other. Upon recruitment, comprehensive
background check will be conducted to ensure that the
potential employee is of legal age and eligible employment
status. Such strict policy against the use of child or forced
labour also applies to all product and service suppliers of
Minmetals Land to eliminate the use of illegal labour
completely.

In order to attract fresh graduates, Minmetals Land organised
recruitment events across the country. During the year under
review, we participated in the career fairs and hosted
recruitment events in six universities, namely Nanjing
University, Nanjing University of Science and Technology, South
China University of Technology, and Sun Yat-Sen University.
For outstanding candidates, the Company offers competitive
package including not only reasonable remuneration but also
employee benefits, technical training, career development
opportunities and pension plans.
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The Company has established a sophisticated remuneration
system based on employee’s work performance, experiences,
job location and industry average. As part of the company’s
assessment system, performance appraisals will be conducted
annually to evaluate both business and individual employee
performance. Such results would be then used to formulate
future development strategy and serve as basis of employee
promotion.

Throughout the reporting period, there was neither reported
cases of prosecution for violation of employment laws, nor has
the Company received any complaints in this respect.

Career Development

Embracing the philosophy of “innovating new mechanisms,
inspiring visions, focusing on talent, concentrating on usage,
facing the future and fostering teams”, the Company is
dedicated to providing comprehensive career trainings for
employees, unearthing their best potential and talents.
Minmetals Land highly encourages employees to make good
use of their potential and to enhance their professional skills
by offering a wide variety of training sessions, covering
engineering, law and contract studies, management skills and
other professional skills.

Training series:

o Induction training

o Job qualification training

o Professional training

o Real estate development training series
o Engineering training series

o Law and contract studies series

o Management skill training

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Class 80°s

Minmetals Land initiated the “Class 80's” strategic training
program in 2016. With the theme of "inspiring a shared vision
and marching into the future”, it provides training for the
Company’s young and enlighten staff in hope that they will
treasure the valuable opportunities to obtain practicable
experience, develop team spirit, enhance innovative thinking,
broaden horizon and enhance ability.

The participants will shape the Company’s future development
and corporate image. They will also help to consolidate the
thought of “pursuing achievement, advocating innovation,
scrupulous honesty and willing to collaborate” and promote
the understanding of intrinsic logic and connotations of
“treasuring limited resources to create endless possibilities” as
well as “never delaying and never slacking”.

At the graduation ceremony, Mr. He Jianbo, the Chairman of
the Board, expressed his heartfelt congratulations to the 28
students. He recapped the background of forming Class 80's
and fully affirmed the remarkable achievements of the training
program. He emphasized that the Company should fulfill its
social responsibility and the responsibility to train up future
leaders.
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B HERERBSE

In order to better meet the diversified learning needs of
employees, Minmetals Land provides a wide variety of career
development programmes, and thus giving the best career
aspiration for loyal employees.

Various training programmes

o Site visit
Tours for employees to local and overseas real estate
development projects to study their management
techniques and business strategies.

o Internal and external training classes
We invited lecturers with expertise on particular field to
provide lectures.

o Exchange programme and job rotation
Employees with good potential were offered opportunities
to a 3 to 6 months exchange programme to gain hand-
on work experience in other companies.

o Forum workshops
We organised customised workshops for individual
departments to discuss management strategies.

o Design and creativity workshops
We organised building design projects sharing sessions to
discuss best practices in the real estate development
industry.

o Landscape design workshops
We organised landscape design projects sharing sessions
for landscape designers and project managers.

° Emergency response training
Using the Hangzhou fire incident as a case study. We
conduct a thorough training on emergency handling of
various types of hazardous.
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Seminar on 2018 “Architecture Design in the New Era”

On 8 June 2018, senior management and department heads
of Minmetals Land gathered at Minmetals Plaza to attend a
seminar on “Architecture Design in the New Era”.

During the event, the guest lecturer Mr. Shao Xin, the
Managing Director and Chief Architect of Shanghai
PTArchitect, shared his insights on architecture design and R&D
trends in the new era. New design concepts such as “all-
customers”, “affordable luxury” and “Chinese-style courtyard
villas” were thoroughly interpreted and articulated. The future
trend for these architectural designs were also discussed.

The attendees fully realized that architecture design is in fact
a refined thinking of the customer’s lifestyle.

Mr. He Jianbo, the Chairman of the Board, made a concluding
speech at the seminar and pointed out that design work is
critical to the real estate development industry. Each company
creates and delivers its unique value. People demand for more
advance housing design as a result of the changes in family
size and consumption behaviour. Accordingly, we should take
into consideration the pricing, safety and comfort issues in the
design.

=B\ HRS THERSH BET
B

R-ZZ—NFRXANB  AEREMEM
TE2NTUREBRBERSHNHTEETH
EmRat | BEMFIEE

AHEBEEEHE T REEM EENEE
LR BRBREMBELE - I
(2 THERRTHAERBE I AE
BRI 28RPHPR]  [REEF
AR TR P& B E R R | E R
REEIT T RAMERE @ BRI R RER
RET A MAEBE o

BBERRT - AREORBBE - EH
BHHBTEEREMAL - MRESLE
ERBBACES -

SEEeTRMRINCEFREERS b
Rt TIEREHET %E’Jéﬁ—%' 5
NEFEIGERIEBREE - bR R

EREERE  OHBRENE(C - AMIHE
FREAMBERBAHAR  ROANRKREIE
SERNDEZELENE  LE2MENEFEED
BHES -

—E-\EER
AR EERAT

N

091



/ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

092

“7020” Keys Employee Training Program — “Eight Basic
Management Skills” Learning & Sharing

On 21 August 2018, the Human Resources Department
organized the “7020" project participants to conduct the first
training and sharing event. The general assistant manager
Feng Wang attended the event and pointed out that the
“Eight Essential Management Skills” are the cultivation of
working mindset, and that work must have a holistic thinking.
Furthermore, we should consider the overall performance of
the Company on a macro perspective. He encouraged the
participants to seize the opportunity to share and develop
their professional and communication skills and to take the
challenge to excel themselves.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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To evaluate the effectiveness of various training programs and
solicit valuable feedback, a training assessment would be
conducted afterwards. In addition to completing a training
evaluation form, employees who receive training may also be
required to attend interviews, writing test, oral examinations
to reflect the effectiveness of training programmes.

In 2018, the total training hours and number of times our
employee participates in career development programmes are
illustrated below.
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Number of
times
participates
in training
programmes  Training Hours

2 mIEHl AR B Sl 48 B B

Hong Kong BE 36 105.7
Beijing b= 1,746 15,512
Subsidiaries = NE]] 15,407 25,310.1
Total AEt 17,189 40,927.8
Occupational Health and Safety EERFEEARR

Promoting health and safety in workplace is the key element
in maintaining stable operation and pursuing sustainable
development of Minmetals Land. Throughout the reporting
period, the Company endeavours to enhance its health and
safety management and ensure both physical and mental
wellbeing of its employees by providing a safe and
comfortable working environment.

Minmetals Land adheres to the strict compliance of the “Work
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases”, the “Hong Kong Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance” and other relevant national and
local laws and regulations in occupational health and safety.
We have established a sophisticated health and safety
management system in place to ensure that all related matters
are properly reported and managed. Throughout the year of
2018, there were no reported cases of occupational fatalities
or injury.
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In addition to strict compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations in occupational health and safety, Minmetals Land
has also developed the “Work Safety Accident and Violation
Reporting Management Regulation” and the “Work
Supervision and Monitoring Management Rules” manage and
mitigate health and safety issues. The regulation includes a
series of safety policies in aspects of training, emergency
response, safety monitoring and reporting and contractor
management. To raise occupational safety awareness and
stipulate safety supervision duties of each staff, we adopted
the “Production Responsibility Management Regulation” and
“Education and Training Management Regulation”. In case of
safety emergency, staff are trained to perform safety
procedures in accordance with the “Work Safety Accident
Hazard Identification and Control Management Regulation”
and the “Work Safety Accident and Violation Reporting
Management Regulation” to minimize negative impacts of the
event. Furthermore, to carry out effective occupational safety
management of contractors and ensure the safe and civilized
construction process of projects, we adopted the “Contractor
Safe Working Management Regulation”, which standardizes
behaviours of both the employers and the contractors in
occupational safety management and provides systematic
protection to minimize the occurrence of safety incidents at
construction sites.

Precautionary measures are undertaken in all construction sites
to further mitigate likelihood of occupational health and safety
incidents, including:

o Provision of necessary labour protection supplies

o Comprehensive emergency plans

o Regular emergency education and training for all
personnel

o Sufficient supply of first aid equipment and facilities

o Fire drill practice on a regular basis
o Regular inspection of firefighting equipment

o Sufficient supply of firefighting equipment according to
the project size

o Proper placement of emergency escape route and other
safety signs

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Moreover, our offices across the country are also key focus of
our occupational health and safety management. To minimize
health incidents and provide staff with a comfortable working
environment, Minmetals Land also implemented a series of
preventative health measures in its offices, including

o Providing influenza vaccinations to all staff

. Regular pest control arrangement to prevent pest
infestation

o Regular cleaning carpets, water dispensers, air purifiers

and HAVC system

o Ensuring adequate lighting and ventilation in office

o Monitoring of in-door air quality and installation of air
purifiers

o Providing sufficient sanitary supply, such as protection

masks, antibacterial hand soap and alcohol-based
antibacterial tissues

Employee Welfare and Activities

To attract and retain the best talents, Minmetals Land offers a
comprehensive welfare and benefits program to improve
employee wellbeing. In addition to basic benefits mandated by
laws and regulations, we also provide paid annual leave, sick
leave, marriage and parental leave. Moreover, the Company
also offers medical and life insurances, complimentary body
check, employee pension plan, housing and provident funds,
providing all employees with peace of mind. The “Minmetals
Land Welfare and Reimbursement Policies” further outlines a
wide variety of allowances for employee transportation, dining,
cell-phone expense and holiday bonus. To further strengthen
team cohesion and ensure proper work-life-balance, a series of
recreational and sport activities are organized on a regular
basis.
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Professional Ethics and Business Integrity

Minmetals Land earnestly publicizes and advocates the highest
standard of professional ethics and business integrity. As a
result, members of the Board have committed to jointly
managing and maintaining good corporate governance
through the establishment of four committees in overseeing
relevant affairs of the Company, namely the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Executive Committee.

To provide equal opportunities to all staff and ensure the
rightful interests of all stakeholders, we mandate all employees
to strictly follow the “Minmetals Land Code of Conduct and
Business Ethics”, which stipulates relevant accountability and
ethical requirements regarding duties and responsibilities,
conflict of interest, integrity and confidentiality.

Aiming at preventing insider information trading for personal
benefits, the Company also formulated the “Rules and
Procedures for Director and Relevant Employees of the
Company in respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company”
and the “Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information”, which
provide detailed guidelines in trading securities and release of
insider information in accordance with regulatory disclosure
requirements.

At Minmetals Land, all procurement activities must be carried
out according to the Company’s open-tender system. Pursuant
to the “Invitation and Submission of Bids Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance”
by the Corruption Prevention Advisory of Hong Kong
Independent Commission against Corruption”, we are
committed to offering suppliers with a fair bidding platform in
which tenders are evaluated with regard only to quality, cost
and credibility. All purchasing and tendering matters in each
region, city and project company would be reviewed
periodically by the Tender Subversionary Supervisory
Committee. To ensure interest of suppliers, the following
behaviours are strictly prohibited by Minmetals Land under all
circumstances:

o Revealing details of the submitted tenders before the
announcement of tender results
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o Bid rigging, price fixing, market division and all forms of
collusion that may affect the bidding results biasedly

o Employees in contact with bidder in private or accepting,
soliciting any form of advantages or rewards from
bidders

Furthermore, the Company has established whistleblowing
channels that encourage employees to report potential bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering activities. Throughout
the reporting period, there was no reported incident of
violation of professional ethics and integrity.

PRESERVING THE ENVIRONMENT

In 2018, China's first-ever taxation law to promote the
development of ecological civilization, the “Environmental
Protection Taxation Law of People’s Republic of China”, was
officially introduced and implemented, which marked the
beginning of a new era of environmental protection and
sustainable economic development in China.

Being a pioneering real estate developer that regards
sustainability as one of the principal development strategies,
Minmetals Land strictly adheres to national and local
environmental protection laws and regulation such as the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the "Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Environmental Impact Assessment”, the "“Air
Pollution Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. To further reduce the environmental
impact of our operation and promote efficient use of
resources, Minmetals Land adopts a set of administrative
measures, namely the “Minmetals Group Environmental
Ecology Protection Rules”, the “Minmetals Group Energy
Conservation Rules”, the “Minmetals Group Environmental
Protection and Assessment Rules” and the “Construction
Project Environmental Protection Rules”. During the year under
review, there was neither reported cases of prosecution for
violation of environmental protection laws, nor has the
Company received any complaints in this respect.
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Green Operation

At Minmetals Land, we introduced an emission management
system and implemented a series of energy saving and
consumption reduction measures in both residential and
commercial properties. Meanwhile, the Company earnestly
promotes the digitalization and information management
system on facilities and equipment, thereby enabling improved
energy efficiency and effective emission control. Although
Minmetals Land does not operate in water-stressed regions
and face no issues of water supply, the Company endeavours
its best effort to conserve fresh water resources and protect
water bodies by actively reusing greywater and controlling
runoff in construction sites. In terms of waste management,
both non-hazardous and hazardous waste generated by
Minmetals Land are properly collected and processed by
professional waste management company and recycled
whenever possible. Due to the nature of our business, we did
not use any packaging materials throughout the reporting
period. With an aim to effectively achieve gradual reduction of
energy consumption, GHG emissions, waste production and
ultimately reduce the impact of our operation in the
environment, each key business subsidiary of Minmetals Land
is assigned with a clearly specified and quantitative target each
year. A monthly progress report on target completion is
required to be submitted for monitoring and benchmarking
purpose.

Green Office

The Company believes that raising employee’s environmental
awareness is the first step towards a sustainable future. As a
result, a set of green office policies have been implemented in
our subsidiaries and offices across the country to promote a
low-carbon and environmentally sustainable lifestyle. To better
monitor and measure the effectiveness of these green office
measures, assessments are performed periodically to ensure
proper implementation of all measures. The green office
measures have been adopted by our Beijing and Hong Kong
offices and updated each year.
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o Maintaining indoor air temperature at 25 degree Celsius,
installing heat-dissipating double-net curtains

o Replacing electrical appliances and office equipment with
more energy-efficient models, and turning off office
equipment such as computers, fax and copy machines,
etc. during lunch break and after office hours to
conserve energy consumption

o Arranging regular cleaning and maintenance works for
office equipment to improve operational efficiency

o Advocating paperless office strategy by converting
documents into digital forms, and thereby reduce paper
consumption and waste production

o Promoting audio or video conferencing to minimise GHG
emissions arising from business trip transportation and
improve employee efficiency

o Posting reminders at offices to prompt employees and
visitors to reduce unnecessary water and energy
consumption

Furthermore, we aim to raise our employees’ awareness of
environmental and climate change issues through effective
implementation of green operation and green office policies. It
is hoped that these policies would not only bring changes into
the daily operation of our business but also extend to society
as a whole to nurture a cleaner, greener and more sustainable
lifestyle.

Green Building

Our real estate development project in Yau Tong, Hong Kong
is designed for and enthusiastically pursuing BEAM Plus green
building certification. Looking forward, Minmetals Land is
actively seeking more opportunities in the green building field
to fully utilise its expertise in sustainable real estate
development.
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Yau Tong Project, Hong Kong — BEAM Plus Certification

In 2016, Massive Leader Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Minmetals Land) won the tender of a site in Yau Tong Inland
Lot No. 44 at the junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue
Wai, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. With a site area of
approximately 10,500 square meters, the site has been
planned for residential development.

To achieve better environmental performance, Building
Environmental Assessment Method (BEAM Plus) for New
Buildings Version 1.2 will be applied throughout the
construction stages for this project. Modifications will be made
to the construction practice, building design, material usage,
monitoring to the satisfaction of the Architect & BEAM
Consultant. Representative BEAM Plus credit items such as
water, air, and noise pollution control, construction and
demolition waste management plan, and material selection
have been carefully considered and implemented in design and
construction phases following the BEAM Plus Assessment.

Currently, the Provisional Assessment (PA) under BEAM Plus
New Building Version 1.2 for the Yau Tong project has been
completed, in which the project has achieved the “SILVER”
rating. Looking forward, the company strives to complete the
project with quality and specifications beyond the BEAM Plus
standard and pursue more opportunities in the green building
field.

Green Purchasing

Taking a step further to reduce the environmental impact of its
business operation and embrace the vision of being a leading
sustainable real estate developer, Minmetals Land has been a
pioneering member of the “China’s Real Estate Industry Green
Supply Chain Action (“Green Supply Chain Action”)”, the first-
ever voluntary emission reduction program in the real estate
industry founded by the Society of Enterprises & Ecology
(“SEE"), China Urban Reality Association, China Real Estate
Chamber of Commerce and other renowned real estate
developers.
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Minmetals Land Mission Statement — Green Supply
Chain Action

o Minmetals Land voluntarily participates in the Green
Supply Chain Action. We will engage suppliers with
regard to their environmental performance and establish
higher standards for suppliers accordingly

o Minmetals Land will select suppliers that would meet the
green purchasing criteria and a green suppliers list will
be released in this respect. Suppliers that fail to meet
the criteria will be asked to make rectifications

o Minmetals Land will regularly disclose progress on the
Green Supply Chain Action and assume the responsibility
for the authenticity of the disclosure

o Minmetals Land will actively participate in the discussion
and execution of the Green Supply Chain Action. At the
same time, we will concentrate our efforts in engaging
more green suppliers and continuously revising our green
purchase policies

Based on framework of the “Green Supply Chain Action”,
Minmetals Land is committed to standardising the company’s
procurement management system and establishing an open
and transparent procurement platform. We strive to prioritise
procurement of green products and collaboration with
suppliers participated in the Green Supply Chain Action. For
instance, among 529 suppliers in the environment compliance
whitelist of the Green Supply Chain Action, three out of the
five elevator companies have worked closely with Minmetals
Land during the reporting period.

Furthermore, through active communication with Beijing New
Building Materials Public Limited, a leading sustainable building
materials provider of the Green Supply Chain Action, the
Company seeks to carry out technical exchanges and close
collaboration in advancing green building materials.

Key Environmental Performance Data

In order to establish a comprehensive environmental
management system, Minmetals Land is constantly monitoring
and collecting environmental data from virtually every aspect of
our business operation, and thereby enabling meaningful
benchmarking and goal setting both internally and externally.
The below environmental data covers Minmetals Land’s core
business in real estate development and residential property
management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
THERERRE

Indicator Unit Data in 2018
EE Efu —E—-\FEHE
Air Pollutant Emissions’

XRSRMHME"

NO, Emissions kg 151.2

RELHINO, i
SO_ Emissions kg 1.1
HEILDSO, T
CO Emissions kg 523.7
—&LHKCO T
PM, . Emissions kg 7.3
FERYIPM, TR
PM, , Emissions kg 7.9
RERLYIPM, T
Resource Consumption and Intensity
EREREBREE
Electricity Consumption? kWh 456,119.6
HES? TR B
Electr|C|ty Consumption Intensity kWh/person 537.2
AEEZE FREA
Water Consumption? tonnes 3,295.8
FEkE3 7]
Water Consumption Intensity tonnes/person 3.9
MKEEE LEYIN
Natural Gas Consumption* m?3 3,568
RARAE SJTK
Natural Gas Consumption Intensity* m3/person 4.2
AARRAETE! SFARSA
Office Paper Consumption® tonnes 3.41
MAoRBERES Mg
Office Paper Consumption Intensity tonnes/person 0.0004
WARMERE M, A
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Intensity
mERBHREREE

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (in CO, equivalent) tonnes 191.2

from Mobile Combustion Sources®
FEREREKMRERBER(ZALCRESE)S M
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (in CO, Equivalent) tonnes 291.7

from Energy Indirect Emissions’
BE IR A 1 BE HUE B BB = RS BER g

(Z&EERE=)’
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions tonnes 482.9

(in CO, Equivalent)
BERESNEE (CatBEE) A
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity tonnes/person 0.6
BERBHERER WA



Indicator Unit

Data in 2018

EE Efu —E—-\FHE
Total Hazardous Waste Produced and Intensity®
FEREYELREREE®
Total Waste Batteries Produced kg 16.7

FEMEERE Fr
Intensity of Waste Batteries Produced kg/person 0.02
BEEMEEERE FRA
Total Printer Cartridges Produced pieces 182
BERIELAESE &
Intensity of Printer Cartridges Produced pieces/person 0.2
BRIEFEERE 18,/ A
Total Waste Light Tubes Produced pieces 232
BREELRE &
Intensity of Waste Light Tubes Produced pieces/person 0.3
BEREEFEER [EVPN

Total Non-hazardous Wastes Produced and Intensity®

EEBERVELEERER

Waste Paper Produced tonnes 15.3
BEREXES T8
Intensity of Waste Paper Produced tonnes/person 0.02
BREETE Wa, A
Notes: B 5
1 Air pollutant emission comes from vehicles owned by the Group in 1 RRT W0 HEBURIR B T8 Hh 2 7 R B P b A

Mainland China and Hong Kong SAR. The emission data is calculated in
accordance with the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” of the
Stock Exchange, (B R&H#E)= HFHUS B GBI T g (F117)) from the
Ministry of Environmental Protection of People’s Republic of China, and
the AP-42 Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors by United States
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

2 In 2018, we successfully collected electricity usage data of all offices and
subsidiaries within the report scope, except the project in Langfang.

3 In 2018, we successfully collected water usage data of our headquarters
in Beijing, subsidiaries in Southern China, Central China, Northern China
and Yingkou.

4 The natural gas consumption data comes from our subsidiary in Nanjing,

where it's intensity only includes number of staff in Nanjing.

5 The office paper usage data comes subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Southern
China, Eastern China, Northern China and Yingkou.
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Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors ©
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6 The greenhouse gas emission here refers to direct emissions from vehicles
that are owned or controlled by the Group. In 2018, the Group have
vehicles in Hong Kong and Mainland China that are in use. The emission
data is calculated in accordance with the “Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” of the Stock Exchange, the (PE X BIEH IR E
KRB E 7 = ERE R (B17))from Ministry of Environmental
Protection of People’s Republic of China.

7 The greenhouse gas emission here refers to “indirect energy” emissions
resulting from the generation of electricity that is purchased by
Minmetals. The data is calculated with electricity usage of all offices and
subsidiaries within the report scope referring to {( ZZ——FfM =T —=
Frh R BT iR E F ) from the National Development
and Reform Commission of People’s Republic of China.

8 The hazardous waste data was collected from Minmetals Land's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Southern China, Eastern China and Yingkou.
All hazardous wastes have been professionally handled by a third-party
waste-management company.

9 The non-hazardous waste data was collected from Minmetals Land’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Eastern China and the project in Langfang.

SERVING OUR COMMUNITY
Targeted Poverty Alleviation

According to the requirements of the Party Central Committee
and the State Council, Minmetals Land has established a
poverty alleviation working group to earnestly implement
poverty alleviation work in ZhaoTong City, effectively
improving basic infrastructure of education, medical and health
care, road transportation, and water supply in the local area.
In addition to the provision of direct funding, the Company
also actively explored industrial-orientated and project-
orientated poverty alleviation methods by launching a series of
economic cooperation with local businesses in the poverty
alleviation targeted area to substantially improve the level of
sustainable, long-term economic and social development.
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Hong Kong Cyclothon

Cycling activities have a profound cultural background in
Minmetals Land. On 14 October, 2018, the 4th “Hong Kong
Cyclothon” was successfully launched by the Hong Kong SAR
Tourism Commission. To actively promote sustainable
transportation methods, Minmetals Land joined the event in
two teams of a total of 20 cyclists wearing the uniforms with
the slogan of “Minmetals Land Builds you a Happy Home” in
the 50-kilometer ride.

On the other hand, Mr. He Jianbo, the Chairman of the
Board, is also the president of the Riding Association. He leads
the Minmetals Land team to become one of the most active
advocators of healthy cycling in the industry. He strongly
recommends cycling activity as it is a sustainable, green and
healthy sport that reduce mental stress. It also brings about
the positive attitude towards life. Cycling is not merely an
exercise. Essentially, it promotes a healthy, positive, green and
sustainable lifestyle for all staff, property owners, partners and
community members.
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Rainbow Run Fundraising Event

On 25 November, 2018, the “Minmetals Land Eastern China
Region 2018 Fifth Public Welfare Rainbow Run” attracted
hundreds of participants from its other real estate
development projects such as Riviera Royale, Sello Royale,
Academic Royale and Laguna Bay. More than 800 property
owners gathered in lJiangning, Fangshan to celebrate the
fundraising carnival for the year. They use their own strength
to support the Nanjing city with a warm memory.

In this rainbow running fundraising event, Minmetals Land
would convert the running mileage of each participant into an
amount for donation to the Yonghe Village Primary School in
Shuangjiang Town, Liping County, Guizhou Province. With the
efforts of all the participants, funding for a library was
successfully raised and donated to 80 teachers and students.
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Green Lifestyle Campaign

Promoting a green and sustainable lifestyle has been a
tradition at Minmetals Land. Previously, the Company has
worked jointly with the relevant departments of the Changsha
government in a number of occasions to carry out tree
planning. To further publicize the concept of diligence,
environmental sustainability and healthy living, Minmetals Land
jointly organised a green lifestyle campaign with the municipal
government this year. Over 400 participants made up of
government officials, party members, corporate
representatives, volunteers, and students and media staff
participated this year’s tree planning event to deliver a green
message to the community.

Adhering to our motto of “treasuring limited resources to
create endless possibilities”, Minmetals Land has been focusing
on sustainable real estate development. We share the
responsibility to build a green community with blue sky and
create an ideal home with balanced environmental
sustainability and urban prosperity.

If you have any comments about this report, please forward it
to the following address:

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2613 6363

Fax: (852) 2581 9823
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile
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Mr. He Jianbo, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Managing Director of the Company in December 2007. He was
appointed to the position of Deputy Chairman of the Board in April
2013 and was re-designated as the Chairman of the Board in
January 2019. Mr. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction
of the Group as well as the strategic planning and business
operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business
Engineer in the PRC. He is also a Council Member of the Chinese
Association for International Understanding, a Vice President of the
Liaoning Province Youth Federation and a Vice President of the China
Real Estate Chamber of Commerce. He graduated from the Peking
University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and
obtained a Master's Degree in International Finance from Peking
University and a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration from
Saint Mary's University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in
1992 and had served the positions of director of general
administrative office, director of strategic planning division and a
member of the strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. Mr.
He has extensive experience in real estate development, corporate
management, strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Zeping, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in June 2010. He
was re-designated as an Executive Director and a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in
March 2016. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor's Degree
from Military Academy of Engineering and an
Executive Master’'s Degree in Business Administration
from Tsinghua University. He is a Professorate Senior
Engineer in the PRC. Mr. Liu joined China
Minmetals in 1992 and was a director and the
President of 23rd Metallurgical. Mr. Liu has
extensive experience in real estate development and
construction business.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 49, was appointed as a
Deputy General Manager of the Company in June
2018 and an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company in November
2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Economics from the University of International
Business and Economics and is a qualified
Accountant and an International Business Engineer
in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in
1991. Mr. Chen has been serving various
departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals
group for international trading, financing of
international merger and acquisition and corporate
management businesses and has extensive
experience in strategic financing and investment,
and corporate financial management.
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Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 45, was appointed as
an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company in June 2017. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Structural Engineering
from Tongji University and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr.
Yang joined the Company as the general manager
of a real estate development company of the
Company in Nanjing in 2007. Mr. Yang is
responsible for the sales and marketing, strategic
investment, design and urban development divisions
of the Company. He had participated in project
works for China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and
Shanghai Vanke Co., Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr.
Yang has extensive experience in project
management as well as sales and marketing and
costing management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 51, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in February 2002
and a deputy managing director of the Company in
December 2009. She was re-designated as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in November
2018. Ms. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Economics (major in Accounting) from North China
University of Technology and a Master’'s Degree in
Business Administration from the University of South
Australia. She is a qualified PRC Senior Accountant
and a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. He was the head of business division and the
deputy minister of accounting information division of
the finance department of the previous China
National Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation.
She is concurrently a director of China Minmetals
H.K. (Holdings) Limited. Ms. He has extensive
experience in financial management of enterprises.
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Mr. Selwyn Mar, aged 83, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2002. Mr. Mar graduated from the
London School of Economics, University of London.
He is a Chartered Accountant, a director of Nexia
Charles Mar Fan Limited and the Managing Director
of Marfan & Associates Limited. Mr. Mar was the
President of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in 1991, a member of the
Appeals Panel of Securities & Futures Commission
and a member of the Board of Governors of
Chinese International School. Mr. Mar has been
actively involved in commercial and industrial
undertakings in Hong Kong and the PRC in the past
41 years. Presently, he sits on the board of three
other Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Mar is an
Honorary Fellow of the Lingnan University.
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 71, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in September 2015. Mr. Lam
graduated from the University of Hong Kong. He
also held a Master's Degree in Science of
Management from the Stanford Graduate School of
Business. He joined the Hong Kong Government as
Administrative Officer in 1970 and had worked in
areas like housing, environmental protection, land
administration, procurement, financial services,
infrastructural development and mega projects. He
had served as the CEO of the Airport Authority and
the Managing Director of the Urban Renewal
Authority. Currently, he is a member of the Lantau
Development Advisory Committee, the Country
Marine Parks Board, and a court member and an
adjunct professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004,
was awarded the Golden Bauhinia Star by the
HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 66, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Law graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with an Honours
degree in Science. She received a Master degree in
Public Administration from Harvard University and
was named a Littauer Fellow. She also has a Master
degree in Education from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Prior to her retirement from the civil
service in 2007, Ms. Law was the Commissioner of
the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against
Corruption. During her 30 years in the civil service,
Ms. Law has worked in many fields, including
medical and health, economic services, housing, land
and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil
service, transport and education. Ms. Law is currently
a member of the Executive Council of the
Government of the HKSAR and a Special Advisor to
the China-US Exchange Foundation. She is now an
independent non-executive director of four other
Hong Kong listed companies and an external director
of China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd.. Ms. Law was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Grand
Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017 respectively by the
Government of HKSAR in recognition of her
distinguished service to the community. She is also a
Justice of Peace since 2008.
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Mr. Liu Bo, aged 53, was appointed as the General
Manager of the Company in January 2019. He
holds a Master’'s Degree in Engineering from the
Architecture and Engineering Faculty of Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology and is a
qualified professorate senior engineer in the PRC.
Mr. Liu joined China Metallurgical Group
Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and has been
serving senior management positions in various
subsidiaries for constructional design, and
development and promotional of construction and
technology works. He has extensive experience in
land development and city complex’'s EPC general
contracting construction (including the EPC
contracting construction of the Singapore Universal
Studio project). Mr. Liu has participated in the
development and research works in various
technological research and has obtained various
patents and technological awards in the PRC. He
was granted a special government allowances by
the State Council in 2011 in recognition of his
distinguished contribution to the development of
constructional technology in the PRC. He is also a
vice president of the construction project
management committee and the foundation and
underground space construction committee of the
China Construction Industry Association.
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Mr. Law Yiu Wing, Patrick, aged 55, joined the
Company in September 2006. Mr. Law is now the
Company’s Chief Operating Officer, Hong Kong. Mr.
Law is responsible for the management of the
investment properties in Hong Kong and is the
general manager of Condo HK and Condo Macau
(being wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
engaged in specialised construction business in Hong
Kong and Macau respectively), and Massive Leader
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
engaged in the real estate development project in
Yau Tong, Hong Kong). Mr. Law holds a Bachelor of
Building (Hons.) Degree from the University of New
South Wales, Australia and a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the Australian Graduate
School of Management. He is a member of the
Australian Institute of Building, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA
Australia. Mr. Law has extensive experience in
property development, strategic planning, financial
and general management gained from listed
companies.
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward aged 45, joined the
Company as the Financial Controller in April 2013.
He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants,
and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tang holds a
Bachelor degree in Business Administration in
Finance (Honours) from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Tang worked in listed company and
state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang has

extensive experience in corporate finance, financial
and general management.
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The Board would like to submit the annual report together with

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate
development, specialised construction, property investment and
securities investment. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating and geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 158.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK8
cents (2017: HK6 cents) per Share payable in cash to
Shareholders whose names appearing on the
members of the Company on Wednesday, 29 May 2019.

Subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM, the dividend

cheques will
Monday, 10 June 2019.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy which sets out the

guideline for the distribution of dividends to its shareholders by
way of cash and/or Shares and aims to achieve sustainability
and stability. The recommendation of the payment of any

dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the Shareholders at the AGM.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the Company’s financial performance,
liquidity position, and its business requirements and operational
environment.

register of

be distributed to Shareholders on or about
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Any distribution of dividend is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company and any applicable
rules and regulations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 19 and
pages 23 to 53 of this Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set
out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

No important event affecting the Group has occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial
Highlights” on pages 4 to 5 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to maintain balance between its core real estate
development business and the ecological environment, looking for
green development opportunities from environmental challenges in
order to promote sustainable development. The Group actively
practices environmental protection actions covering the whole
building life cycle through integration of resources and scientific
management of the industry chain, aiming to create a harmonious
environment between man and nature communion. The Group
also promotes the “return to nature” concept in project planning
and design. The real estate development projects of the Group
adopt the notion of green design “according to local conditions,
resource conservation and comprehensive utilisation” in order to
increase their applicability and life, and to maximise the
integration between projects and natural environment. On the
construction side, the Group continues to strengthen its
construction management, by strict implementation of the “four
conservations one protection” measure on land, water, raw
materials and energy savings, and environmental protection so as
to reduce the hazardous effect of dust, waste water, construction
waste and noise to neighbouring residents and the environment.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the
Group complied with the requirements under the Companies
Act of Bermuda, Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the SFO (Cap. 571 of the laws
of Hong Kong) and other relevant rules and regulations of
places which it has operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success depends on the support of key
stakeholders, such as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are important and valuable assets of the Group. The
Group rewards and recognises performing staff by competitive
remuneration package and standardise performance appraisal
system with incentives. The Group has thorough career
development program to promote career development and
progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are buyers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Nanjing, Yingkou, Huizhou and
Tianjin to ensure professional and caring property management
services to buyers of its properties. The Group has established
“37°C Living” centres within our real estate development
projects to provide value-added services to our customers,
including health advisory, laundry services and recreational
facilities.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders.
The Group is poised to foster business development for
achieving the sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding
Shareholders by stable dividend payouts taking into account
capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions and business
expansion needs of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 28 and Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties held for investment and
properties under development of the Group are set out on
pages 28 to 50.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$1,114,902,000 (2017: HK$528,469,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 7.

SHARE OPTION
2003 Share Option Scheme

The 2003 Share Option Scheme, which was adopted by the
Company on 29 May 2003, expired on 28 May 2013. However,
share options granted under the 2003 Share Option Scheme
prior to its expiration shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with their terms of issue.
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Details of the movements in share options granted under the
2003 Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31

December 2018 are as follows:

B_TT-FRREFEROZERE  R®
BE-Z-\FT_A=1t—HLFEZE
BHBMT

Number of share options

ERiERE
As at 31
As at 1 Granted Exercised Lapsed December
January  during the  during the  during the 2018
Date of Exercise 2018 year year year WRIFE—)\fE
Category of participants  grant Exercisable period price RZF—/\E RER RER RER +=H
SHEEER R BH Eegid | T -A-H i Lok id ] =t+-H
HK$
ET
Employees and others 1.12.2008 1.12.2010 to 30.11.2018
(Note) 0.45 3,524,665 — 1,881,332 1,643,333 —
BELAM 1.12.2008 1.12.2010%30.11.2018
GiE3)
Total 43t 3,524,665 — 1,881,332 1643333 -

Note: These share options are exercisable in three tranches: the maximum
percentage of share options of each tranche exercisable within the periods
commencing from 1 December 2010 to 30 November 2018, from 1
December 2011 to 30 November 2018 and from 1 December 2012 to 30
November 2018 are 30%, 30% and 40% respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no share options in respect of the
2003 Share Option Scheme were granted, lapsed or cancelled

during the year.

2013 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 7
June 2013 to recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for

their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company

pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

st ZEBREAS=ZERITE: AT —FF+=
A—BRE=ZFT—N\F+—A=+H1L - =ZF—
F+-—A—HREZZ—)/\F+—A=t+HIEE=
T——F+-_f—BRE-_T—N\F+—A=t+H
LEEAM - AIfT R EREE DL ERSBIAB S Z
=t BAZE=TRESZOAT

R EXFIBEESN RAFERERE_-F
T FBBER B Z R MER L - R
AL AR o

—E-C=FERETE

KRARIRZE—=ZFNAtHEN == —=
FERENS BERTFRRBAEARAL
AT SE BRI E S RS BEL A B
fERZ ER’E -

ARARZESHERE T —=FBRETE
Z AR R AR B AR



The principal terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme are set
out as follows:

(1)

)

3)

Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the
Group and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to
any company of the Group or any person who has any
relationship (whether business or otherwise) with any
company of the Group or any person whom the Directors
consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed or will
contribute or can contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the
2013 Share Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing
approximately 9.97% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the 2013 Share Option Scheme
may be granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon the exercise of the share options
already granted or to be granted to such eligible person
under the 2013 Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such new grant
exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further
share options above this limit shall be subject to the
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

The period within which the Shares must be taken up
under a share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine
the period during which a share option may be exercised
and notify each grantee, save that such period shall not
be later than 10 years from the date on which the
Directors make an offer of the share option subject to the
provisions for early termination as stipulated in the 2013
Share Option Scheme.

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on
acceptance of the share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the
2013 Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28
business days from the date on which the offer is made
and the amount payable on acceptance of the share
option is HK$10.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at
the time of grant of the relevant share option and shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price per
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant share option;
(i) the amount equivalent to the average closing price per
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii) the
nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life

The 2013 Share Option Scheme is valid until 6 June
2023.
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(5)

(6)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual
Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo
Mr. Liu Zeping
Mr. Chen Xingwu
(appointed on 29 November 2018)
Mr. Yang Shangping

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli

(re-designated on 29 November 2018)
Mr. Li Fuli (resigned on 15 January 2019)
Mr. Cui Hushan (resigned on 16 April 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Selwyn Mar

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny (appointed on 1 April 2018)
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria (resigned on 1 April 2018)

Mr. Chen Xingwu and Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy will retire from
the offices of Director at the AGM in accordance with Bye-law
102 and Bye-law 111(A) of the Bye-Laws respectively and, being
eligible, the abovenamed Directors offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company and any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors as at the date of this report are as
follows:

1. Ms. He Xiaoli was re-designated from an Executive Director
to a Non-executive Director with effect from 29
November 2018.

2. Mr. He Jianbo was re-designated from the Deputy
Chairman of the Board and Managing Director to the
Chairman of the Board with effect from 15 January
2019.

3. Changes in Director’s emoluments during the year are set
out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS'
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules as informed by the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an
Executive Director of the Company, is also a director of
Yingkou Industrial Park, Minmetals Real Estate and Minmetals
Land Holdings.
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Mr. Liu Zeping, being an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company, is also a director of
Yingkou Industrial Park, Minmetals Real Estate and Minmetals
Land Holdings.

Ms. He Xiaoli, being a Non-Executive Director is also a director
of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Yingkou Industrial Park, Minmetals Real Estate and Minmetals
Land Holdings are companies established under the laws of the
PRC. Yingkou Industrial Park is engaged in the development of
Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real Estate is
engaged in real estate development and operation, construction,
property management, real estate agency, real estate advertising
and exhibition and other real estate related business. Minmetals
Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property
management, surveying and designing of construction projects,
project investment, provision of technical services, investment
consultancy and corporate management consultancy.

In case the Board decides that there are issues of conflict
between the Group and the aforementioned companies,
conflicting Directors will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report,
none of the Directors or their respective associates had any
competing interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete with the business of the Group (as would be required
to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as if each
of them were a controlling shareholder).
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short position of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO), which had been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short position which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to the Model Code as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, or as recorded in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, were as follows:
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Long Position in Shares Rihzize
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held total issued Shares
Zigck-prd 1HEEITRN
EEHS e i E BB ZEAE L
Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
AR o A & A
Mr. Yang Shangping Personal 1,206,667 0.04%
BEF R E & A
Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 1,163,333 0.03%
Al NBEZ L & A
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief B EXFIEEEZEIIN R_E—N\EFE+-_A=

executive of the Company or any of their associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any personal, family, corporate or
other interests or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2018.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company nor their spouses or children under
18 years of age, was granted or had exercised any right to
subscribe for any equity or debt securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2018.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, the
Company had no other outstanding options, convertible
securities, warrants or other similar rights as at 31 December
2018.

Save as disclosed above, there was no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
or the laws of Bermuda.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, according to the register of interests
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the
following entities had interests in the Shares and underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Position in Shares

TEMRR
RZF-NF+_A=1+—0 REAR
EESLAEGRIE=8= +/—\1Iz<2%ﬁ;£7(_
EZRESERMEE  TIHEBRARRMRK
DHRARBREFRPEGIE T RAFE =

ME=ZDHBMARRFEZEREIAR

BB ZBE

Interest in Shares

Approximate
percentage of total
issued Shares

HEBITRHEHK
Name of Shareholder BEREE Rz h 2z R ZHHBE R
China Minmetals AR 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMCL ERERG 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMNH IBEEER 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMN LTEAERN 2,071,095,506 61.88%
Album Enterprises B 2,071,095,506 61.88%
Minmetals HK BERRE 2,071,095,506 61.88%
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 61.88%
Note: June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turnis  Ff{sF : June Glory A& ERB 2 EMBAR  MAER

38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL,
Album Enterprises and Top Create Resources Limited respectively. Album
Enterprises and Top Create Resources Limited are wholly owned by CMN,
which in turn is owned as to approximately 99.999% and 0.001% by
CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMCL is owned as to approximately
88.4% by China Minmetals. Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL,
CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and Minmetals HK was deemed as
interested in the 2,071,095,506 Shares held by June Glory.

owned as to approximately 39.04%,

BB AR - BFH%E K Top Create Resources
Limited % Bll 4% B H #939.04% ~ 38.95% £22.01%
[ 4 - B % KTop Create Resources Limited
hEBERHE2EHRE MABREERKRMHAIAAE
BEZEREAIBERN D HI#H H%99.999% &
0.001% A& # B FLAE # 5 FLIE AR 15 4988.4% iR
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following contract of significance was entered into or
subsisted between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
Company’s controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2018:

1. Minmetals Land Beijing and Minmetals Zhidi (both are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company), and
Minmetals & Jingyi Futures Co., Ltd. (“Minmetals
Futures”, formerly known as “Minmetals Futures Co.,
Limited”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) entered into a construction project
management agreement on 24 February 2014 for the
provision of construction project management services for
the project involving the construction of a commercial
complex and certain ancillary facilities for the use by
Minmetals Futures as its southern headquarter in the PRC.
A supplemental construction project management
agreement was entered into by the said parties on 28
November 2018 whereby Minmetals Futures agreed to pay
an additional service fee to Minmetals Land Beijing and
Minmetals Zhidi. Details of the transaction have been
published in the Company’s announcements dated 24
February 2014 and 28 November 2018.

2. Beijing Shengshi Guangye Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Shengshai Guangye”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company), Minmetals Land Holdings (a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) and Tongxiang City
Anhao Investment Management Co., Ltd. entered into a
triparty framework agreement on 31 July 2018 whereby
Shengshi Guangye acquired from Minmetals Land Holdings
all its rights and benefits to participate in a joint venture
for the residential development project situated in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Details of the
transaction have been published in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 July 2018.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance were
entered into or subsisted between the Company or its
subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling shareholder or its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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No contract of significance to which the Company, any of its
holding companies, or any of their subsidiaries was a party, in
which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers combined was approximately 42%
of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 17% of the Group’s total
purchases. None of the Directors, their close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (which to the
best knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of
goods or rendering of services attributable to the Group's five
largest customers combined was less than 30% of the total
revenue of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

1. A financial services framework agreement dated 3
November 2015 (the “2015 Financial Services
Agreement”) was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Finance would
provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018. Pursuant to
the 2015 Financial Services Agreement, the annual cap on
the maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) to be placed by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2018 was
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RMB1,800,000,000. The 2015 Financial Services
Agreement was terminated on 20 April 2018 and a new
financial services framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Minmetals Finance on 20
April 2018 (the “2018 Financial Services Agreement”).

Pursuant to the 2018 Financial Services Agreement, the
annual cap on the maximum daily outstanding balance of
deposits (including accrued interests) to be placed by the
Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China for each
of the three years ending 19 April 2021 was
RMB2,000,000,000. The deposit services to be provided
by Minmetals Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries
in Mainland China and the aforesaid annual cap were
considered and approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 31 May 2018.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance for
the period from 1 January 2018 to 19 April 2018 and from
20 April 2018 to 31 December 2018 under the 2015
Financial Services Agreement and the 2018 Financial Services
Agreement were RMB1,796,000,112 and RMB1,259,365,749
respectively (2017: RMB1,795,985,146).

An entrusted management services agreement dated 18
March 2016 was entered into between the Company,
China Minmetals and CMCL (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the Company
would provide management services to China Minmetals
and CMCL in relation to the entrusted assets for a term
of two years from 18 March 2016 to 17 March 2018 (the
"Entrusted Agreement”). The annual management fees
payable by China Minmetals and CMCL under the
Entrusted Agreement (the “Entrusted Management Fees”)
shall be RMB30,000,000 for each of the two years ended
17 March 2018 whereby each of China Minmetals and
CMCL will be responsible for RMB3,000,000 and
RMB27,000,000 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the annual fee receivable
by the Company under the Entrusted Agreement are less
than 5%, the Entrusted Agreement is subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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A supplemental agreement to the Entrusted Agreement
dated 13 July 2017 was entered into between the
Company, China Minmetals, CMCL and Minmetals Land
Beijing (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
whereby the parties agreed that the management services
in relation to the entrusted assets be provided by
Minmetals Land Beijing and accordingly the Entrusted
Management Fees be payable to Minmetals Land Beijing.

The aggregate sum of Entrusted Management Fees
payable by China Minmetals and CMCL to Minmetals
Land Beijing for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
RMB6,246,575 (2017: RMB30,000,000).

A tenancy agreement dated 31 May 2016 was entered into
between Minmetals Capital (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion
(@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement |”), details of which are set
out below:

Premises : 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period : two years commencing from 1 June
2016 to 31 May 2018 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental : HK$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

The annual cap for the rent payable by Minmetals Capital
to Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement | for the
period from 1 June 2016 to 31 December 2016, for the
year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 and for
the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 May 2018 were
HK$1,216,530, HK$2,085,480 and HK$868,950
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement | are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement | is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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A deed of novation dated 31 December 2017 was
entered into between Texion, Minmetals Capital and
Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Capital agreed to novate
and Brightway Asset agreed to assume all Minmetals
Capital’s right and obligation in and under Tenancy
Agreement | for the period from 31 December 2017 to
31 May 2018.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Brightway Asset
under Tenancy Agreement | for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$868,950 (2017: HK$1,911,690).

A tenancy agreement dated 31 May 2016 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion
as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement I1”), details of which
are set out below:

Premises : 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period : two years commencing from 1 June
2016 to 31 May 2018 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental : HK$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

The annual cap for the rent payable by Minmetals
Cheerglory to Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement I
for the period from 1 June 2016 to 31 December 2016,
for the year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017
and for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 May 2018
were HK$1,216,530, HK$2,085,480 and HK$868,950
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement Il are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement Il is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals
Cheerglory under Tenancy Agreement Il for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was HK$868,950 (2017:
HK$1,911,690).

A tenancy agreement dated 31 May 2016 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement III”), details of which are
set out below:

Premises : 19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period : two years commencing from 1 June
2016 to 31 May 2018 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental : HK$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

The annual cap for the rent payable by Minmetals HK to
Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period
from 1 June 2016 to 31 December 2016, for the year
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 and for the
period from 1 January 2018 to 31 May 2018 were
HK$1,216,530, HK$2,085,480 and HK$868,950
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement Il are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement Il is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK
under Tenancy Agreement Il for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$868,950 (2017: HK$1,911,690).
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6.

A property management service contract dated 22
December 2016 was entered into between Jiahe Risheng
(@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan (formerly known as
Hunan lJiasheng Properties Service Co., Ltd., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals
Properties Service Hunan would provide property
management services to the sales office, show flats and
unsold residential units of LOHAS International Community
for a term of two years from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2018 (“Service Contract 1”). The annual cap for
the service fees payable by lJiahe Risheng to Minmetals
Properties Service Hunan in respect of Service Contract |
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31
December 2018 were RMB5,859,000 and RMB5,915,000
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the service fees payable by Minmetals
Properties Service Hunan under Service Contract | are less
than 5%, Service Contract | is subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempt
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee paid by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year ended 31
December 2018 was RMB141,535 (2017: RMB3,450,881).

A property management service contract dated 22
December 2016 was entered into between Zhongrun
Chengzhen (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and Minmetals Properties Service Hunan whereby
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan would provide
property management services to the unsold residential
units of Scotland Town for a term of two years from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2018 (“Service Contract
I1”). The annual cap for the service fees payable by
Zhongrun Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Service
Hunan in respect of Service Contract Il for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018 were
RMB1,932,000 and RMB1,464,000 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Zhongrun Chengzhen under Service Contract |l
are less than 5%, Service Contract Il is subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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The aggregate sum of service fee paid by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was RMB810,432 (2017:
RMB264,233).

A loan framework agreement dated 30 March 2015 was
entered into between Beijing Wanhu (a 51%-owned
subsidiary of the Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing Vanke (a company
holding 49% equity interest in Beijing Wanhu) (“Wanhu
Framework Agreement”) whereby Beijing Wanhu may
from time to time provide loans by way of entrustment
loans to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiary
in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholding in Beijing Wanhu. The term of Wanhu
Framework Agreement is three years from 1 May 2015 to
30 April 2018.

A supplemental agreement to the Wanhu Framework
Agreement dated 4 August 2015 was entered into
between Beijing Wanhu, MLIML and Beijing Vanke
whereby Beijing Wanhu would charge interest on loans
granted to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned
subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the
period from 4 August 2015 to 30 April 2018 with
reference to the benchmark interest rate to be announced
by the People’s Bank of China from time to time.

A second supplemental agreement to the Wanhu
Framework Agreement dated 6 December 2016 was
entered into between Beijing Wanhu, MLIML and Beijing
Vanke whereby (i) the term of the Wanhu Framework
Agreement was extended to 31 December 2019, and (ii)
the cap on the total amount of loans to be provided by
Beijing Wanhu by way of entrustment loans to MLIML (or
its designated wholly-owned subsidiary in Mainland China)
and Beijing Vanke, and the cap amount of interest
receivable by Beijing Wanhu for the period from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019 was increased.

The annual caps of the loans to be provided by Beijing
Wanhu by way of entrustment loans to MLIML (or its
designated wholly-owned subsidiary in Mainland China)
and Beijing Vanke for the period from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2019 under the Wanhu Framework
Agreement as supplemented are RMB3,519,000,000 and
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RMB3,381,000,000 respectively. Based on the maximum
amount of loan that may be granted by Beijing Wanhu
under the Wanhu Framework Agreement as
supplemented, the annual caps of the interest receivable
by Beijing Wanhu from each of MLIML (or its designated
wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC) and Beijing Vanke for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2019 were
RMB167,000,000 and RMB161,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Beijing
Wanhu and is therefore a connected person at the
subsidiary level of the Company. As the Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the terms of
the Wanhu Framework Agreement as supplemented are
fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, the Wanhu Framework Agreement as
supplemented is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum amount of entrustment loans provided by
Beijing Wanhu to Beijing Vanke and the aggregate
amount of interest received by Beijing Wanhu from Beijing
Vanke for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
RMB3,222,680,000 (2017: RMB3,133,500,000) and
RMB129,477,062 (2017: RMB94,548,831) respectively.

A loan framework agreement dated 6 December 2016 was
entered into between Kuangshi lJiye (a 50%-owned
subsidiary of the Company), Hanten (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing Vanke (a company
holding 50% equity interest in Kuangshi Jiye) whereby
Kuangshi Jiye may from time to time provide loans by way
of entrustment loans to Hanten (or its designated fellow
subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on
the same terms and conditions and in proportion to their
respective shareholding in Kuangshi Jiye (“Langfang
Framework Agreement”). The term of Langfang
Framework Agreement is three years from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2019. The cap amount of entrustment
loans to be provided by Kuangshi Jiye to Hanten (or its
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designated fellow subsidiary in Mainland China) and
Beijing Vanke shall not exceed RMB300,000,000 and
RMB300,000,000 respectively. Based on the maximum
amount of loan that may be granted by Kuangshi lJiye
under the Langfang Framework Agreement, the cap
amount of the interest receivable from each of Hanten (or
its designated fellow subsidiary in Mainland China) and
Beijing Vanke for each of the three years ending 31
December 2019 were RMB14,000,000 and
RMB14,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Kuangshi Jiye
and is therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level
of the Company. As the Independent Non-executive
Directors have confirmed that the terms of the Langfang
Framework Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the Langfang
Framework Agreement is subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempt
from circular, independent financial advice and
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

No entrustment loan was provided by Kuangshi Jiye to
Beijing Vanke (2017: Nil) and no interest was received by
Kuangshi Jiye from Beijing Vanke for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

A tenancy agreement dated 29 December 2015 was
entered into between Fifth Plaza Co (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the landlord, and
Minmetals Land Beijing and Condo Shanghai (both are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) as the tenants
("Tenancy Agreement V") in respect of the leasing of the
premises situated at Minmetals Plaza, Beijing, the PRC.

A supplemental agreement to Tenancy Agreement IV
dated 30 December 2016 was entered into between Fifth
Plaza Co, Minmetals Land Beijing and Condo Shanghai
whereby Condo Shanghai would terminate its portion of
the lease under Tenancy Agreement IV with effect from 1
January 2017 and Minmetals Land Beijing would assume
all the obligations of Condo Shanghai under Tenancy
Agreement IV with effect from 1 January 2017.

10.
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A second supplemental agreement to Tenancy Agreement
IV dated 11 May 2017 was entered into between Fifth
Plaza Co and Minmetals Land Beijing whereby the
monthly rent per square metre and the rental area of the
leased premises be reduced for the period from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2018.

Details of Tenancy Agreement IV (as supplemented) are set
out below:

Premises : part of 7th Floor, BM and B1 Floors,
Tower A, Minmetals Plaza, 3
Chaoyangmen North Street, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC

Car Parking Seven car parking spaces at Minmetals
Spaces Plaza
Period : two years commencing from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2018 (both dates
inclusive)
Rental : the rent for the premises (exclusive of

management, electricity and public
facility charges) was RMB220,331.10 per
calendar month

the rent for the car parking spaces
(exclusive of management fees) was
RMB8,400 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals Land
Beijing in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV as
supplemented shall not exceed RMB2,744,773.20 for each
of the two years ending 31 December 2018. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual rent
payable by Minmetals Land Beijing under Tenancy
Agreement IV as supplemented are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement IV as supplemented is subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals Land
Beijing under Tenancy Agreement IV as supplemented for
the year ended 31 December 2018 was RMB2,731,104
(2017: RMB2,562,641).
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11.

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 19
April 2017 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to
time invite China Minmetals, its subsidiaries and entities
whose financial statements have been accounted for in
the financial statements of China Minmetals on a
consolidated basis (“China Minmetals Group”) to tender
and award construction contracts, subject to successful
tender, in respect of the existing and future real estate
development projects of the Group in the PRC and Hong
Kong for the period from 19 April 2017 to 18 April 2020
("Construction Framework Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the original
caps were considered and approved by
independent shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 31 May 2017. The annual caps
were revised and approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 31 May 2018 whereby the total
contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group will not exceed the annual caps
below:

annual

For the period from

RETHIE

1 January 2018 to
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11.
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RMB6,085,490,000
6,085,490,0007T A E#&

The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 was RMB1,659,801,386 (2017: RMB1,074,098,931).

RMB3,711,280,000
3,711,280,0007T A B #&

RMB2,798,020,000
2,798,020,0007T A B #&

REBEZ_ZE—/\F+_A=+—HLF
B AEERTFTHRERABEEKE AT
2 & [Fl 4% 51,659,801,386 7T A R
(ZZF —+%:1,074,098,931 T A B
) o



12.

A conditional specialised construction framework
agreement dated 20 April 2018 was entered into between
the Company and China Minmetals whereby the Group
may, subject to successful tender, seek appointment by
China Minmetals Group as specialised construction
contractor(s) for the China Minmetals Group’s real estate
development projects and construction projects in the PRC
and Hong Kong for the period from 20 April 2018 to 19
April 2021 (“”Specialised Construction Framework
Agreement”). The total contract sums of the specialised
construction contracts which may be awarded by China
Minmetals Group to the Group will not exceed the annual
caps below:

12.
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19 April 2021
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RMB935,230,000
935,230,0007T A R #E

RMB794,090,000
794,090,000 A R #E

The Specialised Construction Framework Agreement and
the aforesaid annual caps were considered and approved
by independent shareholders at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2018.

The aggregate contract sum awarded by China Minmetals
Group to the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 was RMB99,188,199 (2017: N/A).
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Brightway Asset as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement V"), details of which are
set out below:

Premises 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period two years commencing from 1 June
2018 to 31 May 2020 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and
conditioning charges)

air-

The annual caps for the rent payable by Brightway Asset
to Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement V for the
period from 1 June 2018 to 31 December 2018, for the
year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 and for
the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 were
HK$1,459,836, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement V are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement V is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Brightway Asset
under Tenancy Agreement V for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$1,116,741 (2017: N/A).
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14.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion
as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VI“), details of
which are set out below:

Premises 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period two years commencing from 1 June
2018 to 31 May 2020 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals
Cheerglory to Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement VI
for the period from 1 June 2018 to 31 December 2018,
for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019
and for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020
were HK$1,459,836, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement VI are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement VI is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals
Cheerglory under Tenancy Agreement VI for the vyear
ended 31 December 2018 was HK$1,116,741 (2017:
N/A).
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VII”), details of which are
set out below:

Premises 19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period two years commencing from 1 June
2018 to 31 May 2020 (both dates
inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and
conditioning charges)

air-

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals HK to
Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement VIl for the period
from 1 June 2018 to 31 December 2018, for the year
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 and for the
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 were
HK$1,459,836, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement VII are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement VIl is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK
under Tenancy Agreement VII for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$1,116,741 (2017: N/A).
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16.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VII"), details of which are
set out below:

16th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Premises

Period 23 months commencing from 1 July
2018 to 31 May 2020 (both dates

inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-

conditioning charges)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals HK to
Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement VI for the
period from 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018, for the
year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 and for
the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 were
HK$1,251,288, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the annual rent receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement VIII are less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement VIII is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempt from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK
under Tenancy Agreement VIII for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$941,830 (2017: N/A).
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the above
continuing connected transactions (“Continuing Connected
Transactions”) have been reviewed by the Independent Non-
executive Directors who have confirmed that the Continuing
Connected Transactions were carried out:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(¢) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
was engaged to report on the Continuing Connected
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed by
the Group on pages 128 to 143 of this Annual Report in
accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO
RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”)
for the grant of general banking facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$100,000,000 (“Facility 1I”) on 9 April
2015. Facility II has no fixed term and is subject to
periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Il, China Minmetals,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
remain the single largest Shareholder of the Company
maintaining at least 31% of the beneficiary interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Bank may
suspend, withdraw or make demand for repayment of the
whole or any part of Facility Il offered to Condo Hong
Kong.

Condo Macau (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor,
accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the grant
of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$200,000,000 (“Facility IlI”) on 27 April 2015. Facility
Il has no fixed term and is subject to periodic review of
the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Ill, China Minmetals,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
remain the single largest Shareholder of the Company
maintaining at least 31% of the beneficiary interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Bank may
demand for immediate repayment of all sums of moneys
granted to Condo Macau and the interest accrued.

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as
the guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the
“Bank”) for the grant of general banking facility in an
aggregate amount of HK$100,000,000 (“Facility IV") on
27 November 2015. Facility IV is subject to annual review
of the Bank.
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As one of the conditions of Facility IV, China Minmetals,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
remain the single largest Shareholder of the Company and
has management control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility IV is
repayable in full amount on demand by the Bank.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLl as the
guarantors and certain banks as the lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for a 4-year
term loan facility (“Facility V") in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000,000 on 8 June 2016 (“Facility Agreement
V).

Pursuant to Facility Agreement V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) at least 31% of the
entire issued share capital in the Company as well as
remain the single largest Shareholder (directly or indirectly)
of the Company and has management control over the
Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions
would constitute an event of default and the Lenders may
(i) cancel all or any part of the commitments under
Facility Agreement V; and/or (ii) declare that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other
amounts accrued under Facility V be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) declare that all or part of the loans be
payable on demand.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLl as the
guarantors and a bank as the lender (the “Lender”)
entered into a term loan facility agreement for a 4-year
term loan facility (“Facility VI”) in the principal amount of
HK$1,800,000,000 on 28 June 2016 (“Facility Agreement
VI").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
of the issued Shares of the Company as well as remain
the single largest beneficial Shareholder of the Company
and has control over the management of the Company. A
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute
an event of default and the Lender may (i) cancel all
commitments under Facility Agreement VI; and/or (ii)
demand that all or part of the loans together with
accrued interest and all other amounts accrued under
Facility VI be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans be payable on
demand.
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Massive Leader Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) as the borrower, the Company as the
guarantor and certain banks as the lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a term loan facility agreement for
a 5.5-year secured term loan facility (“Facility VII”) in the
principal amount of HK$5,500,000,000 on 20 March
2017 (“Facility Agreement VII").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VII, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
of the entire issued share capital in the Company as well
as remain the single largest Shareholder of the Company
and has management control over the Company. A
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute
an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all or
part of the commitments under Facility Agreement VII;
and/or (i) declare that all or part of the loans, together
with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued
under Facility VIl be immediately due and payable; and/or
(iii) declare that all or part of the loans be payable on
demand; and/or (iv) exercise or direct the security agent to
exercise any or all of its rights, remedies, powers or
discretions under the Finance Documents (as defined in
Facility Agreement VII) and in respect of the Transaction
Security (as defined in Facility Agreement VII).

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as
the guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the
“Bank”) for the grant of general banking facility in an
aggregate amount of HK$150,000,000 (“Facility VIII") on
26 October 2017. Facility VIl is subject to annual review
of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility VIII, China Minmetals,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
maintain controlling shareholding in the Company. Upon
a breach of the aforesaid condition, all amounts due
under Facility VIII shall be due and payable and the Bank
shall not be required to make any further advances under
Facility VIII.

OFL as the borrower, the Company as the guarantor and
a bank as the lender (the “Lender”) entered into a facility
agreement for a 1-year revolving loan facility (“Facility
IX") in the principal amount of HK$1,500,000,000 on 29
January 2018 ("Facility Agreement IX").
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Pursuant to Facility Agreement IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
of the issued Shares of the Company as well as remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company and has
control over the management of the Company. A breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lender may (i) cancel all
commitments under Facility Agreement IX; and/or (ii)
demand that all or part of the loans together with
accrued interest and all other amounts accrued under
Facility IX be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans be payable on
demand.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLl as the
guarantors and certain banks as the lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for a 1-year
term loan facility, extendable for a further three years at
the option of OFL (“Facility X”) in the principal amount of
HK$3,500,000,000 on 19 October 2018 (“Facility
Agreement X").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement X, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) not less than 51%
of the issued Shares of the Company and has control over
the management of the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default
and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments under
Facility Agreement X; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other
amounts accrued under Facility X be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans
be payable on demand.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLl as the
guarantors and a bank as the lender (the “Lender”)
entered into a facility agreement for a 1-year revolving
loan facility (“Facility XI”) in the principal amount of
HK$780,000,000 on 21 November 2018 ("Facility
Agreement XI”).

10.
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Pursuant to Facility Agreement XI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
own beneficially (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
of the issued Shares of the Company as well as remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company and has
control over the management of the Company. A breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lender may (i) cancel all
commitments under Facility Agreement XI; and/or (ii)
demand that all or part of the loans together with
accrued interest and all other amounts accrued under
Facility XI be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans be payable on
demand.

11.  Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as
the guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the
“Bank”) for the renewal of general banking facility in an
aggregate amount of HK$70,000,000 (“Facility XII”) on 1
March 2019. Facility XII is subject to annual review of the
Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Xll, China Minmetals,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
remain the single largest Shareholder of the Company
maintaining (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
shareholding interest of and have management control
over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid
conditions, all amounts due under Facility Xl shall be due
and payable and the Bank shall not be required to make
any further advances under Facility XIl.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to
the SFO, the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float
exists for the issued Shares as at the date of this Annual
Report.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and has also
discussed auditing, risk management and internal control, and
financial reporting matters including the review of the
accounting practices and principles adopted by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this
Annual Report have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
who will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the AGM.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 158
to 321, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
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our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter
A EZEIR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI ERNTHAREREIRETREE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEMEE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter because the valuation process is
based on an estimation of future results, a set of
assumptions and a determination of key inputs, which
are judgemental. Any changes to these inputs may
have a significant impact on the fair value.
Management determined the fair value of the Group's
investment properties at 31 December 2018 with the
assistance of an independent external valuer.
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Details of the investment properties and the related
key estimation uncertainty are set out in Notes 15
and 4, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.
ERREMERBAFEGFTAARRZF1ED 5
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Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation
of investment properties included:

B EREHREMELERTZIEFIERRENU
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o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by
management.
HAFFEEREMZENINDEERM ZER - B
ADSE=S A

o Obtaining a copy of valuation report prepared by

the external valuer and discussing with the
external valuer to understand the basis of
determination of valuation.
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o Challenging the external valuer the methodologies
and judgements used in valuing the investment
properties and obtaining the market evidence
that the external valuer used to support the key
inputs.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

S EXEIE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI EZNAHAREXSHEETRE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMEKA

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and volume of sales transactions recognised
during the year.

BB HEMERABI ABAREREE  REZF
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Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of
properties included:

B EENRERABTZIEFIERYE

o Testing key internal controls over revenue
recognition on a sample basis.
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o Selecting property sales transactions on a sample
basis and:
mBWMEKEDEHEER S WEH

— reading the signed sales and purchase
agreements to understand the relevant
terms of the timing of property delivery
and title transfer.

BECEZEENE  UWTBRUEINR
5 R AR O B ) A AR BB MR AK

— obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer.

MWL R B RA B -

— reconciling the monetary amounts of
recorded transactions and related
payments to the signed sales and purchase
agreements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Mok Sau Fan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
SEBERR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
Revenue [N 5 10,930,824 11,935,505
Cost of sales 5 & KA (7,044,153) (7,841,935)
Gross profit EH 3,886,671 4,093,570
Other income, other gains Hupg A - sz REE
and losses 7 126,207 61,306
Fair value changes on SEMEAREE
investment properties 15 134,052 151,334
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (175,506) (185,569)
Administrative and other expenses 17 & E b fi % (539,148) (590,113)
9 Expected credit losses, TEHEEEE (REE)
S net of reversal 10 (6,514) —
= Finance income M A 9 189,019 147,039
= Finance costs B 75 B AR 9 (137,524) (114,674)
§ Share of results of associates DREEE R R FEE 16 (10,531) (2,495)
& Share of results of joint ventures D {h& & A Al ¥ELE 17 (3,310) (2,610)
= Profit before tax B i A it 1) 3,463,416 3,557,788
i Income tax expense FriS®if = 11 (1,716,273) (2,108,987)
E
o Profit for the year A EEF 6 1,747,143 1,448,801
3
§ Profit for the year KEFEBFFBR :
g attributable to:
< Equity holders of the Company RRARREREE A 934,964 712,914
\ Holders of perpetual KABARIARBAA
capital instruments 184,362 1,303
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R A = 627,817 734,584
1,747,143 1,448,801
Earnings per share for profit EATIBREREA
attributable to equity holders  FE{hi@EFIZ
ks of the Company, in HK cents  SERZEF - #E
Ee Basic =N 12 27.94 2132
2o Diluted e 12 27.93 21.30
"o
N\




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBERRHEMR2E RS X

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—F—N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
THT FHET
Profit for the year F S5 F 1,747,143 1,448,801
Other comprehensive MRBiEHMbE2E (TH) A :
(expense)/income:
Items that may be reclassified HignpeEF M E B
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEA -
Currency translation differences fEH =5 (902,215) 1,000,250
Fair value loss on hedging WEMERHE AT A
instruments in cash flow hedges Z AR BEEE (45,994) (39,552)
Share of other comprehensive DIEEE N R EMEE
(expense)/income of associates (Z) WA (55,635) 79,886
Share of other comprehensive SMhEERRAMEE
(expense)/income of (Zd), WA
joint ventures (4,407) 3,156
(1,008,251) 1,043,740
Item that will not be reclassified Bt T8 EZ T B
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEA
Fair value gain on financial assets FRAMEEAREZARE
at fair value through other ArECHBEEEMME
comprehensive income Az W= 18,437 311,135
Other comprehensive (expense)/income 7% & H & H
for the year (), A (989,814) 1,354,875
Total comprehensive income AEERBIEEZE
for the year W B 757,329 2,803,676
Total comprehensive income AEERBEZERAN
for the year attributable to: HEEEER
Equity holders of the Company RARRERFEA 214,924 1,904,065
Holders of perpetual KABERTEFEBA
capital instruments 71,312 1,303
Non-controlling interests FEPERR AR SR 2 471,093 898,308
757,329 2,803,676
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN R

As at 31 December 2018 R=Z—\F+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—LF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BT 5 FH#T FHET
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE MEE 14 196,512 190,025
Investment properties KEYE 15 2,256,393 1,814,294
Interests in associates /NI 16(a) 1,152,277 1,218,443
Interests in joint ventures REERNE 2R 17(a) 97,028 99,065
Financial assets at FERE M2 ERESR
fair value through other DREFEZTH
comprehensive income EE 23 811,254 792,817
Other financial assets By KEE 24 30,091 76,085
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 31 778,610 1,096,579
5,322,165 5,287,308
Current assets RBEE
Inventories rE 18 25,787,021 25,353,243
Amounts due from customers BREFEZAHITERIEA
for contract work 19 — 119,020
Prepayments, trade and TERRIE  BSREM
other receivables FEWURIE 20 11,868,354 12,003,147
Contract assets BREE 21 453,833 —
Contract costs X DN 22 12,275 —
Cash and bank deposits, ZRHIR & MIRTTFER
restricted 25 201,353 623,774
Cash and bank deposits, TR HIIR S RIRITFR
unrestricted 26 3,607,776 5,631,889
41,930,612 43,731,073
Total assets HEHHE 47,252,777 49,018,381
EQUITY HEx
Share capital % 7R 27 334,691 334,503
Reserves % 28 8,033,017 8,018,174
Equity attributable to equity EATBREHEA
holders of the Company EEZ#ER 8,367,708 8,352,677
Perpetual capital instruments KABAIR 29 3,854,289 2,393,903
Non-controlling interests FEiE IR A R 2,588,454 2,855,958
Total equity WS 14,810,451 13,602,538




2018 2017
—B-0\% —T—tF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE FHET FHET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERFEE
Borrowings B 30 14,039,272 10,770,064
Deferred tax liabilities RERHIBEEE 31 133,288 168,431
Other liabilities HEiafE 223 223
14,172,783 10,938,718
Current liabilities REAR
Borrowings & 30 1,015,365 3,978,151
Other financial liabilities EmyisasE 24 — 41,960
Trade and other payables B 5 R H M 5RI8 32 10,682,838 9,516,785
Contract liabilities BHIBE 33 6,119,742 —
Deferred revenue EIEUT A 34 5,461 10,383,976
Taxation payable 18 446,137 556,253
18,269,543 24,477,125
Total liabilities BiE88E 32,442,326 35,415,843
Total equity and liabilities EERAEEE 47,252,777 49,018,381
Net current assets RHEEFE 23,661,069 19,253,948
Total assets less SEABERRSHER
current liabilities 28,983,234 24,541,256

\\\%éﬁﬁ%mﬁ

The consolidated financial statements on pages 158 to 321 SE158F321ENGAMEHRERCHN TR
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of FZA_-+—HEZFSH /EIFETZE -
directors on 21 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: W TINATREREE

He Jianbo fa#l&
DIRECTOR &=

Chen Xingwu BFE

DIRECTOR %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in
REERBBX

Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE—-Z—/\E+_A=+—HIL&EE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

FATRERFAES
Perpetual Non-
Share capital controlling Total
capital Reserves Total instruments interests equity
KA iR
B*& 1 ag B5IR REEE EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhEL FiEn FhEL FiEn FhEL FiEn
(Note 28) (Note 29)
(Mizt28) (Miz229)
As at 1 January 2017 RZE—t5—-A—-H 334,444 6,247,680 6,582,124 — 1,967,748 8,549,872
Profit for the year ERET — 712,914 712,914 1,303 734,584 1,448,801
Other comprehensive income EREMZERA
for the year - 1,191,151 1,191,151 - 163,724 1,354,875
Total comprehensive income AEERHR S EMNLE
for the year, net of tax — 1,904,065 1,904,065 1,303 898,308 2,803,676
Issue of shares BkH 59 206 265 — — 265
Issue of perpetual capital BIKABRIE
instruments - - - 2,392,600 - 2,392,600
Capital reduction paid to a A-ZMBLAEZ—BIHER
non-controlling shareholder of BREZ 2 RAHIR
a subsidiary - — - — (10,098) (10,098)
Dividends paid to shareholders of ~ MZARREEI 25K 8
the Company - (133,777) (133,777) - - (133,777)
59 (133,571) (133,512) 2,392,600 (10,098) 2,248,990
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—t&+-f=1-H 334,503 8,018,174 8,352,677 2,393,903 2,855,958 13,602,538
Profit for the year EREH - 934,964 934,964 184,362 627,817 1,747,143
Other comprehensive expense FREMZAS N
for the year - (720,040) (720,040) (113,050) (156,724) (989,814)
Total comprehensive income FEERTGERAKNALE
for the year, net of tax - 214,924 214,924 71,312 471,093 757,329
Issue of shares Bikin 188 658 846 - - 846
Issue of perpetual capital BOKAERIE
instruments - - - 1,554,622 - 1,554,622
Distributions paid to holders of AAAERTIEREAZNZ
perpetual capital instruments [dss - - - (165,548) - (165,548)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling [\ —F i B2 &2 — 3L
shareholder of a subsidiary BRERZA2BE - - - - (738,597) (738,597)
Dividends paid to shareholders of ~ MZARRREI 25K &
the Company - (200,739) (200,739) - - (200,739)
188 (200,081) (199,893) 1,389,074 (738,597) 450,584
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-\E+ZR=+-H 334,691 8,033,017 8,367,708 3,854,289 2,588,454 14,810,451




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$ 000
P 5 THT FHET
Operating activities EEEE
Cash generated from operations  EZEBMELRE 36(a) 582,653 2,556,737
Income tax paid EATFTEHE (1,548,661) (2,087,999)
Interest paid EAFLE (691,371) (653,763)
Net cash used in EEREFTA
operating activities R&R8E (1,657,379) (185,025)
Investing activities BEEE
Purchase of property, BEME BELREE
plant and equipment (16,217) (11,250)
Proceeds on disposal of HEME - BEREE
property, plant and equipment FriS 3R 266 1,933
Advance to an associate Al—RESQNFRE (747,193) (6,612)
Repayment of loans from/ By (BXF)—X
(loans to) a non-controlling WEARlz—%
shareholder of a subsidiary JEIE PR 625,156 (1,110,731)
Interest received EEEYC) 189,019 147,039
Investments in joint ventures "EARENA (5,680) (98,292)
Advances to joint ventures A& EANRRE (83,865) (4,750,871)
Repayment from/(advance to) Bxa//(2EF)—X
a non-controlling shareholder WEARlz—%
of a subsidiary IEFERR IR R 125,058 (125,058)
Net cash generated from/ BEEER®/(FTH)
(used in) investing activities REFE 86,544 (5,953,842)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—B-N\fE —E—+F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
s TFH#T FHET
Financing activities RMEEH
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D FT 1S BB 846 265
New borrowings L& 4,194,480 5,383,203
Repayments of borrowings EEER (3,918,373) (2,329,768)
Issue of perpetual BITKABARIA
capital instruments 1,554,622 2,392,600
(Repayment to)/advance from (BHT)/ BEE—R
a fellow subsidiary EEY by =NE] (1,179,969) 1,036,812
Dividends paid to the IS T AR B R
shareholders of the Company Z % B (200,739) (133,777)
Dividends paid to AT —RHE A A
a non-controlling shareholder 2 —BIFERRR
of a subsidiary 2B (738,597) —
Distributions paid to holders of AT FRAERT A
perpetual capital instruments BEAZEE (165,548) —
Capital reduction paid to M—KXMBRARZ—%
a non-controlling shareholder FEERB R 2
of a subsidiary NSl Ve — (10,098)
Net cash (used in)/generated BLEEE (FTA) FERE
from financing activities B (453,278) 6,339,237
(Decrease)/increase in cash G/ tEiRe RIRE
and cash equivalents EEY (2,024,113) 200,370
Cash and cash equivalents FONzBEeEREEEY
at beginning of the year 5,631,889 5,431,519
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESERESEFEY
at end of the year 26 3,607,776 5,631,889




For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in real estate development, specialised
construction, property investment and securities
investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major
market for the Group’s businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock Exchange”). Its
immediate holding company is June Glory International
Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and its
ultimate holding company is China Minmetals Corporation
(incorporated in Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$” or “HK dollar(s)”), unless
otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FE] MEERTN B BB R
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG HER (BB BREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al]) M e
("HKFRSs")
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are NAREERGI AR 2T R AEE
mandatorily effective for the current year A EEMBREEL
The Group has applied the following new and RAFE  NEBFRERAATEES
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute FrENAg ([BEGERAE]) B 20
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first B CHE p LU

time in the current year.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BERBREED HMBIA
E95%
- HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers EARBREEY BPAORARABET
E and the related Amendments E15%
2 HK(FRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and B8 (EBRTBRE IMNERHREARE
E Advance Consideration ZEBZEY)
” — REE2%
é Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of ERRBRELD BROINRH2HE
2 Share-based Payment Transactions E2R 2B RitE
£ Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BAMBREEN EREBUBREER
a with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts EX LA H EORMBIAATHE
2 ISR R 4%
= RBAH
g Amendments to HKAS 28  As part of the Annual Improvements to bl BEERBREEN -
S HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle F28HZERT —OEE-TNFEY
w LEERE B
'5 Amendments to HKAS 40  Transfers of Investment Property R eHE BERBME
= FA05E 2 EFT
o
-
(]
\Z

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/




APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying this
standard recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2018. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained earnings (or other components of
equity, as appropriate) and comparative information
has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance
with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has elected to apply the standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under HKAS
18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related interpretations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources which arise from contracts with
customers:

o Sales of properties
° Provision of specialised construction services

Information about the Group's performance
obligations and the accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in Notes
5 and 3 respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

There was no material impact of transition to
HKFRS 15 on the retained earnings at 1 January
2018.

2.1

FERTIAERZ T REE
B EREED (|

EEMBRERERBISHEFE
HIGA (&)

AEEHAWAZ TZHRR (EL
BEFPAK)WMT

s MERHE
o  REFXBERS

EBAEERITETHERKE
BEETIEREERE1SKTE
ARG TR D BRI 5 KM &
3PFE -

BRERABEVBREELES
SRR E
RZF-NFE—-A—-BBEER
B BREENBEISFRERE R
MIBELEBEATE -



APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (Continued)
The following adjustments were made to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 1 January 2018. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.

sl RAEHERT BB f AL
AE R ([ 578 B 75 3R
81l 1) ) B A )

RAE R AR 2 HT REE
AEEMBREEL @

\

2. #H
£y
=

2.1 BEHMBRERABISHEFE
A (&)
BREREBMBEHREERES
SREVRER A ()
R-ZE-NF—-A-—BHGEEH
BARRRER S FIEL AT H
- T%jﬂﬂfﬂﬁﬁdﬁﬁﬁﬂ """"" Lok

AR

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 15 at
31 December 1 January
2017 Reclassification 2018*
RZF-N\Ef
FRIER —B—HiRE
R-ZF—tf EEMBHRE
+=-A=+-8 RIS 155%
ZAREE ENSE ZERE{E*
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i FET FET FHET
Current assets MEVEE
Amounts due from  EWEF A4
customers for TFE
contract work (a) 119,020 (119,020) —
Prepayments, trade ~ FANFIE - BH K
and other H #h pE W FE
receivables (a) 12,003,147 (181,040) 11,822,107
Contract assets AREE () — 300,060 300,060
Current liabilities TEAE
Contract liabilities BREE (b) — 10,375,641 10,375,641
Deferred revenue PRI A (b) 10,383,976 (10,375,641) 8,335
* The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from * Wz BALEAS BT B®RE

the application of HKFRS 9.

ARSI T E A HE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 2.1

%ﬁ%?&%%f HESESG M’% E2y
EEB|([BBI B RELE
JJ)E’JJIﬂ% ()

MAFERAH LR 2 WHET REE
AEEMBREEN @

EEMBRERERBISHEFE

Customers (Continued) LA (45)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of BRERB BV BHMELRFE5

HKFRS 15 (Continued) SR 2R (48)
Notes: F5E -
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(a)

In relation to construction contracts previously accounted for
under HKAS 11, the Group continues to apply input
method in estimating the performance obligations satisfied
up to the date of initial application of HKFRS 15.
HK$119,020,000 of amounts due from customers for
contract work were reclassified to contract assets.

At the date of initial application, included in the
prepayments, trade and other receivables, HK$181,040,000
of retention receivables were reclassified to contract assets

upon application of HKFRS 15.

At the date of initial application, included in the total
deferred revenue, HK$10,375,641,000 related to the
consideration received in advance from sales of properties
to customers. The balance was reclassified to contract
liabilities upon application of HKFRS 15.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of
applying HKFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year for each of the line items affected. Line
items that were not affected by the changes have
not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial
position

RAE R AR 2 HT REE
AEEMBREEL @

2.1

EEMBREERFI5HEFE
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BREREBMBEHREERES
SREVRER A ()
NSRBI R B W R s A
FISHEHAEER —F—/\F
TZA=T—HNEEHBRR
REFAEGBEERT BRI
EHEMNTZE - TRAEI H
BERZHUEZENAER -

HIEAPHIMR RO E

Amounts
without
application of
As reported  Adjustments HKFRS 15
KFEM
FEIRE
WA
EE#H AR FI5HRZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Current assets MEBEE
Amounts due from BREFAHTIRERE
customers for contract
work — 310,598 310,598
Contract assets BREE 453,833 (453,833) —
Prepayments, trade and TBRFIE - B REM
other receivables J& W IE 11,868,354 143,235 12,011,589
Contract costs BRI 12,275 (12,275) —
Equity gy
Reserves G 8,033,017 (12,275) 8,020,742
Current liabilities mEEE
Contract liabilities aRaE 6,119,742 (6,119,742) —
Deferred revenue EIEW A 5,461 6,119,742 6,125,203
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or

2.1

HE RS ST T B0 15
SR (2B B

A

A1) eV o)
MAFERAH LR 2 WHET REE

A EEMBEREER (@
21 BRHBRERAEISHESS
Lol ONE )

EPN R 2 R IEAL
9 0 & i (4)
HEABRENYE

loss
Amount
without
Application of
As reported Adjustment HKFRS 15
KFER
BT
mEER
EE2R HE  H15MZzEeE#H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FTET FTET FTET
Selling and marketing HEREHAZ
expenses (a) 175,506 12,275 187,781
Note: Ff3E -

(a)

The Group incurred incremental commission paid/payable in
connection with obtaining sales of properties contracts with
customers. These amounts were previously expensed as
incurred. Based on the assessment by the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”), at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 15, it had no material impact on the opening
retained earnings and the related deferred tax.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related

amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces
new requirements for 1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for
financial assets and other items (for example, lease
receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has early adopted the 2010 version of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2011.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with
the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e.
applied the measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to
instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1 January 2018 (date of initial application) and has
not applied the requirements to instruments that
have already been derecognised as at 1 January
2018. The difference between carrying amounts as
at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as
at 1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening
retained earnings and other components of equity,
without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
amendments (Continued)

In addition, the Group applied the hedge accounting
prospectively.

Accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 9 are disclosed in Note 3.

Based on the Directors’ assessment, the implementation
of the standard did not have a material impact
arising from application of HKFRS 9 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of
Investment Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from,
investment property necessitates an assessment of
whether a property meets, or has ceased to meet,
the definition of investment property, supported by
evidence that a change in use has occurred. The
amendments further clarify that situations other than
the ones listed in HKAS 40 may evidence a change
in use, and that a change in use is possible for
properties under construction. (i.e. change in use is
not limited to completed properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed
the classification of certain properties based on
conditions existed at that date, there is no impact
on the classification at 1 January 2018.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'
Amendments to Definition of a Business*
HKFRS 3
Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretation will have
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS
16 also includes requirements relating to subleases and
lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flow, the Group currently presents the lease
payments as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will
be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which
will be presented as financing and operating cash flows
respectively by the Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$58,934,000 as
disclosed in Note 38. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a
lease. Upon the application of HKFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases.

The application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. The Group intends to elect the practical
expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date of
initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect
the modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained earnings
without restating comparative information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments that are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that the results of the valuation technigue equals the
transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as below:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the vyears presented, unless otherwise
stated.
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/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

3.

FTESHHRE @)

HEeiRE
BAMBRELEARTRAL ALY
MER (BIEAEER) RENEA T
MR - EARTBBEETNTE -
BIAF7E R 41 -

. has power over the investee; . AI IR E TR 5
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . 2HEWRE FHEFTS R A&

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributable to the equity holders of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributable to the
equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to ensure conformity with the
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to equity holders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interests and (i) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on the
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9/HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

3.

FEERTER (1)

FEaiRE (&
RHED TM#%&%EE$ R

H’r

RATERRED R 2 RERRNIEE
IR 158 AR IR L ) 0 15 1 46 R B /B8 AT
FEEMNENREPTAERER -

FEEREEHBLGIZHFEESE
-5/
WALERMBARMNESEB FgE
BASEEKXEEMB A R/IEG#E - Al
E%éi%ﬂ% NS B AR B AR A 4B A

DRIFERBEZHEDESIERE
u&%ﬁﬁ%% AIMMEEER B
RIEAREE R IR R MGt E
AEE IR LS 2 MEF KA
-

FEREEHBECEACNAE WHRE
NREZENEMEEEERNERER
LEBTARARBEHAA -

BEAREEKREFKHBRE ZE I
B M BARNEENMBERIFER
TZE”\ (anE) R ILFER - BN BRAE
Wiz (VBB A2 EREAER
%%ﬁ@ﬁ@%%ﬁw$ AR B
ABBZMBERRAZEE (BHEAE) &
%TM&EH#Th%\Z%EEZ¥
o TR SERTRN B b 2 U s TR
Zﬁ@%WEATZﬁE'%EﬁW$
SECERLEZMBRARZABEE
FBEARAZERRTEYHRELE
E'ZZ%%;E//u¢‘TL*§ZEE%ﬁ DEEREN
BREES—EfD)  RAEZFEE
WWW%QT% ZIEMREZ AR
ERREEEMBRESEANESR &
B ERIE395 - RERARK I
R RER 2 A E - 3 (WER) 1Y)
SHARNBLERTREERAZIRE
DN

\ﬁewﬁﬁﬂm



/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

Bt 7% R MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate or a joint
venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS 39, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
the associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company that
make strategic decisions.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of respective entities of the Group
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Forelgn currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of
those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group's interests.

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint venture or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal of associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

—  the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may exist
regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration
for a significant financing component, the Group applies
a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an
asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January
2018)

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in
the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below.

Sales of completed properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognised
when the properties are delivered and titles are
transferred, at which time all the following conditions are
satisfied:

o The Group has transferred to the purchasers the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.

o The Group retains neither continuing managerial

involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

o The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior
to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
recognised as deferred revenue under current liabilities.

Contract revenue

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, the Group uses the “percentage of
completion method” to determine the appropriate amount
to be recognised in a given period. The stage of
completion is measured by reference to cost incurred to
date as a percentage of total contract cost. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included
to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably
and its receipt is considered probable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January
2018) (Continued)

Contract revenue (Continued)

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable to be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period when incurred. When it is probable that total
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the
expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

The Group presents as an asset the gross amounts due
from customers for contract work for all contracts in
progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits
(less recognised losses) exceed progress billings. Progress
billings not yet paid by customers and retentions are
included within trade and other receivables.

The Group presents as a liability the gross amounts due to
customers for contract work for all contracts in progress
for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses).

Management fee income
Management fee income is recognised when services are
provided.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described in the accounting policy
for leases below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event
that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as a
finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
property is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically,
the entire considerations (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element at initial recognition.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the leasehold land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as if the leasehold land
is under finance lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the profit or
loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on
leasehold land classified as finance lease and depreciation
on other assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate cost to the residual values over the
estimated useful lives with annual rates as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5%

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining
period of the lease

Machinery 5%-25%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%—25%

Motor vehicles 20%-30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised in the profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties, comprise land held under operating
leases and buildings, are held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both, and are not occupied by the
companies comprising the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at their fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property is carried at fair value. Where
fair value is not reliably measurable, such investment
property under construction is measured at cost until the
fair value becomes reliably measurable or construction is
completed (whichever is earlier). Investment properties
that are being redeveloped for continuing use as
investment properties continue to be measured at fair
value.

Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the
profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied as
evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its fair
value at the date of transfer becomes its deemed cost for
accounting purposes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has been changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any differences
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that
item (including the relevant prepaid lease payments) at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve.
However, to the extent that a fair value gain reverses a
previous impairment loss for that property, the gain is
recognised in the profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve
will be transferred directly to retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from the disposals. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.

Transfer from inventories to investment properties
carried at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to
investment properties when there is a change in use to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the inception of an
operating lease to another party. Transfer from inventories
to investment properties is evidenced by commencement
of an operating lease to another party prior to 1 January
2018. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment on tangible, intangible assets
and contract costs other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible, intangible assets with
finite useful lives and contract costs to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group
assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other
assets related to the relevant contracts in accordance with
applicable standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for
assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the
extent the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or
services that have not been recognised as expenses. The
assets capitalised as contract costs are then included in
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which
they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of
that cash-generating unit.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment on tangible, intangible assets
and contract costs other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Development cost of properties comprises
cost of land use rights, construction costs and borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete
beyond normal operating cycle.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 January
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collect
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRM

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss, except that at the date of
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income as measured at fair value through profit or loss if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the "other income, other gains and
losses” line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRM

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, lease
receivables, contract assets, cash and bank deposits and
financial guarantee contracts). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
impaired credit or related parties and collectively for the
rest using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKAS 17 Leases.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
and other receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets are each assessed as a separate group. Loans
to related parties are assessed for expected credit
losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;
. Nature of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

For financial assets at amortised cost, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets measured at amortised cost is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired
and impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a "loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. For certain categories of financial
assets, such as trade and other receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The amount of impairment loss is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all financial assets with the exception of trade and
other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade and other receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credit to profit of loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at fair value through other comprehensive
income upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but
is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, where there is no
contractual obligation for the Group to deliver cash or
another financial asset to the holders or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with the holders
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
Group, are classified as equity instruments and are initially
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and
other payables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using effective interest method.

Derecognition/non-substantial modification of financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a
financial liability with substantially different terms as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability
or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the
financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such exchange
of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification s
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities (under
HKFRS 9 since 1 January 2018)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities” original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, at the point of
modification, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities is revised for directly attributable transaction
costs and any consideration paid to or received from the
counterparty. The effective interest rate is then adjusted
to amortise the difference between the revised carrying
amount and the expected cash flows over the life of the
modified instrument.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into derivative financial instrument
contracts to manage its exposure to interest rate risk.
Further details of derivative financial instrument are
disclosed in Note 24.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition
in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness
(under HKFRS 9 since 1 January 2018)

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships
meet all of the following hedge effectiveness
requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument;

o the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

o the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the
quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged
item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated
hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts
the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying
criteria again.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

A hedge is regarded as highly effective only if both of the
following conditions are met:

o at the inception and in subsequent periods, the
hedge is expected to be highly effective; and

o the actual results of the hedge are within a range of
80 to 125 per cent.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging
reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting (under HKFRS 9
since 1 January 2018)

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively
only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof)
ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if
applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.
Discontinuing hedge accounting can either affect a
hedging relationship in its entirety or only a part of it (in
which case hedge accounting continues for the remainder
of the hedging relationship).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Discontinuation of hedge accounting (under HKFRS 9
since 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that
time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or
loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or
when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that
time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or
loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
arising between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Current and deferred tax (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting periods and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting periods, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leaves are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined
contribution pension schemes. The schemes are generally
funded through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions
and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction
in the future payments is available.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense in the profit or loss. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the equity instruments granted at the grant
date. The total amount expensed is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied and based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-
based compensation reserve.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it
recognises any related restructuring costs. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the Group’s financial statements unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is remote. When a change in the probability of
an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group's investment properties located in Hong Kong are
not held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties located in Hong Kong
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a
result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes
on changes in fair value of investment properties located
in Hong Kong as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on the fair value changes of the investment
properties on disposal.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties
(Continued)

With regards to the Group’s investment properties located
in Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are
held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in these investment properties over time.
Therefore, the Directors have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the
Group’s investment properties located in Mainland China
on the basis that the entire carrying amounts of these
properties are recovered through use.

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing uncertainty to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below:

Investment properties

Independent external valuer was engaged to carry out an
independent valuation of the Group’s investment property
portfolio as at 31 December 2018. The fair value of each
investment property is individually determined at the end
of the reporting period based on market value
assessment, on an existing use basis. The valuer has relied
on the income capitalisation approach as its primary
method, supported by the direct comparison method.
These methodologies are based on an estimation of future
results, a set of assumptions and a determination of
relevant key inputs specific to each property to reflect its
tenancy and cashflow profile. Changes to these
estimation, assumptions and key inputs would result in
changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss would be recognised in profit or
loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$2,256,393,000 (31
December 2017: HK$1,814,294,000). More details are set
out in Note 15.

Construction contracts

The Group recognised profits and losses from construction
contracts, which were derived from the latest available
budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and
the management’s best estimates and judgements.
Estimated construction income is determined in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant
contracts. Estimated construction costs which mainly
comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of materials
are estimated by the management on the basis of
guotations from time to time provided by the major
contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience
of the management. Because of the nature of the
construction industry, the management regularly reviews
the progress of the contracts and the estimated
construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or
less than expected, or changes in circumstances which
result in revision of management's estimates on the
percentage of completion, the effect of such change is
recognised prospectively in the profit or loss in the period
of the change.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2018, deferred tax assets of
HK$778,610,000 (2017: HK$1,096,579,000) have been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position as set out in Note 31. The realisability of
the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the
profit projections of the Group for coming years during
which the deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are
more or less than expected, an additional recognition or a
reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
recognition or reversal takes place.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
debtors’ aging as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, trade receivables
with impaired credit or related parties are assessed for
ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Notes 39 and 20 respectively.

4.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

Revenue
Revenue (represents turnover) comprised the following:

WA K573 2B &+
L ON
WA (B ) BIEATIEA -

2018 2017

—B-N\E —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHET

Sales of properties MEHE 9,918,725 10,907,177

Revenue from specialised BEEEASHOBA

construction contracts 941,654 964,271
Rental and management fee income HEMEZHESRERE

from investment properties WA 70,445 64,057

10,930,824 11,935,505

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with alternative use to the Group. Taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of
properties is therefore recognised at a point in time when
the completed property is transferred to customers, being
at the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group provides specialised construction services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations as at 31 December 2018 was
HK$8,297,605,000 and is expected to be recognised as
revenue within two years.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. U A K5 Z8&EE )
(CONTINUED)

Operating segments HERE

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as FELERARECHERRIITES - H
the executive directors. The executive directors review the TESEEAEEANITTBHE - AT
Group's internal financial reports in order to assess BRAERSEER - HTES2REZ
performance and allocate resources. The executive EMERTED TINESKEDE

directors have determined the operating segments based
on these reports as follows:

Real estate development: Development and sales of BHEEZEE: ZELKEEEEED
residential and commercial 3k ES
properties

Specialised construction:  Design, installation and selling HEEEE: Rit - TRRIHER
of curtain walls and e taE o PFIRE
aluminum windows, doors ftb 4%

and other materials

Property investment: Holding of properties to WERE T AE ) E REUE ®
generate rental income and/ WA - Wt REm
or to gain from the E BMEAETF
appreciation in properties’ e

values in the long-term
Securities investment: Investment of securities BHKE KEF
No operating segments identified by the executive #

directors have been aggregated in arriving at the pd
reportable segments of the Group.

TE BRI D HRAEE
SRS WEEEITA M -
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

WA KD

7 B0 & B )

il

(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) BENE (&)
Segment revenue and results PEBMAREE
Real estate development Specialised construction Property investment Securities investment Total
RRHEER EES L hERE BHRE L]
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Z5-\E ZT-+F ZF-\E -E-+f ZF-\E -F-+f ZE-\E -I-+tf CZF-\E C-E-+f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR Tt T Fix TR T TR Tt
Revenue LN
Total segment revenue BHBMA 9918725 10907177 1,044,183 970,123 75,613 69,093 - — 11038521 11,946,393
Inter-segment revenue D LON - - (102,529) (5,852) (5,168) (5,036) - - (107,697) (10,888)
Sales to external customers HIRPHE 9918725  10907,177 941,654 964,271 70,445 64,057 - — 10930824 11,935,505
Results 4]
Segment results PHEE 3371789 35665578 1,609 (123,705) 191,744 24,429 69,121 39490 3634263 380579
Unallocated corporate expenses, *AECERY  FE
net (208,501) (275,264)
3,425,762 3,530,528
Finance income SBRA 189,019 147,039
Finance costs B A (137524)  (114,674)
Share of results of associates E BBELIEE (10,531) (2,495)
Share of results of joint AENFIEE
ventures (3,310) (2,610)
Profit before tax BB 3463416 3,557,788

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting polices
described in Note 3. Segment results represent the profit
before tax without allocation of unallocated corporate
expenses, finance income, finance costs and share of
results of associates and joint ventures.

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market

rates.

Finance income, finance costs and share of results of
associates and joint ventures are not included in the

measure of segment results.

“‘%ﬁ%ﬁz
B esEE— -
’\Eﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬂi .
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K5 &R @)
(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) FESE @)
Segment assets and liabilities HEBEEREE
Real estate development Specialised construction Property investment Securities investment Total
RHEER LS Ed LEL E5RE a8
018 017 2018 2017 018 2017 018 017 2018 2017
R i N . NI BT SV e e ST S
HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSODD  HKS000
F#ET Tin T#ET FiEn TR T FET Tt T L
Assets Bz
Seqment asels SHEE 0533 ASEBA0 1000400 99363 2007991 191204 8154 GNG%  MA1997 45201476
Unallocated corporate assets AR ELEEE 2,839,780 3,796,905
Total assets REER 425,777 49,018,381
Liabiltes L
Seqment lbies 538 W55 RN M0 5SS BFT 270 - —wmE RKTS
Unallocated corporate labiliies AAELZEME 2,517,002 2,608767
Total liabities BELE 3402326 3541588
Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates, NEEEFZERRNBE AR 2EE
interests in joint ventures, property, plant and equipment, REERRZEZ WME - -KERR
investment properties, inventories, receivables, contract B KREWE TE EBUFKIE &4
assets, contract costs and operating cash but exclude BE AHKARZERS  BAEE
items such as bank deposits for corporate use and EEERABR 2 RITERRELCHIBEEE
deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities comprise all ZIEE - nHEEREMEEERE
operating liabilities but exclude items such as taxation. BAEERIE -



5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA KRS ZE R @)

il

(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) HESE @
Other segment information Bt 7 S5+
Real estate development ~ Specialised construction ~ Property investment ~ Securities investment Segment total Unallocated Total
EREER LEEH LT 25448 ] #HE 4

018 0 018 0 018 0 018 0 018 0 018 0 018 0
§-0\E C5-tEF ZE-0E 3-tF CE-NE C3-4F Z%-0E CE-tF CE-NE CE-HF C§-0E Z3-tF C§-0E CE-4F
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS00

T TEn  fER TEr TR TEn  fAR TAr TR TEn  fAR 0 TAnT TR TEn

Amounts induded n the  SBHANTERE
measure of seqment profit AR
o loss or seqment asets:

Interests n assocites RBELTZER 1152017 121848 - - - - - = 1R 1218483 - = 1R 1218483
nterests n joint ventures— RAERE ZER 9,08 99065 - - - - - - M 99065 - - M 99065
Capltal expenditures E1RR 309883 1B 206 35 81 - - 15em 100 30 B0 AT 11250
Depreciaion recognised in the  RGABERSERZ

consoldated statement of &

profit or loss 463 3840 218 1770 460 1460 - - 1,40 6,070 1028 1133 8,268 7203
Fair valle changes on RENENAERD

investment properties - - - — 134052 151334 - — 134052 151334 - — 134052 151334
Alowance for impaiment of ~ FEHERE

inventories 45284 8713 - - - - - - 45284 8713 - - 45284 8713
Alowance for impaiment of ~ EHRERENTERE

rade and other recehatles - 121 6514 19017 - - - - 6514 3029 - - 6514 3029
Alowance for impaiment of ~ BEHERE

goodwl - - - 9425 - - - - - 9425 - - - 9425

REMBHRRME
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K5 &58& &)

(CONTINUED)

Operating segments (Continued) FESE @)

Geographical information W IE E#

The Group operates its businesses in two main REEZEBEFEZE S RAREMRAAE

geographical areas:

Hong Kong: Real estate development, BE EMEERE HE
specialised construction, BE - MEKRE
property investment and LEHFEE
securities investment

Mainland China and Real estate development, B A EMEER HE

Macau: specialised construction and BRFT BERMERE
property investment

In presenting geographical information, sales are REFIMEERE  HEZ 2 KRR

presented based on the geographical locations of the FPZMBUBEREE - FERPEETE

customers. Total non-current assets exclude financial RYBTARBLEREEE -
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Hong Kong Mainland China and Macau Total
gk PEARRAM i

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

-\ ZE-+E ZE-\f ZT-tf ZE-N\f CZE-+t%f

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

THL T THL T THL T

External sales MHE 548,711 554494 10382113 11381011 10930824 11935505

Total non-current assets FRYEELE 2085473 1952837 1616737 1368990 3702210 3321827

Information about major customer FHETEEFRZEH

No revenue from transaction with single external customer
is amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for
both years.

AEBVES -ZPRMEFE WA
BEA0% A L °



PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

6. ANFEZmA

2018 2017
—F—N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T
Cost of properties sold (note (i) BE R WERA (FEI) 6,160,075 6,840,034
Cost of specialised construction BHEFENK 869,540 988,646
Depreciation e 8,268 7,203
Auditor’s remuneration % E B & 4,200 4,500
Direct operating expenses incurred BEERFH S W A Z R E W%
for investment properties that EAXZHEEZERY
generated rental income 14,538 13,255
Employee benefit expense EERNAX (BIEES
(including directors’ emoluments) B ) (Fi3£8)
(Note 8) 232,007 224,108
Operating lease charges LEHEER — @ L
— minimum lease payments in MEFZzHEBEMNK
respect of land and buildings 14,219 13,193
Allowance for impairment of FEREREE
inventories 45,284 83,713
Allowance for impairment of trade & 5 K £ b JiE U ZR I8 i (B
and other receivables BB 6,514 30,229
Allowance for impairment of R E R
goodwill — 9,425
Net exchange gain PE W W= (5,451) (14,064)

Note:

(i) Included in cost of properties sold are interest expenses of (i)
HK$368,372,000 (2017: HK$545,923,000).

B & ¥ ¥ 5K A B 15368,372,00078 7T
(ZZ—+4% : 545,923,000/ L) 2 Fl 8%

oo
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7.

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND 7. EAMA - Hflias & EE
LOSSES
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Government subsidies BT & B 2,585 4,363
Dividend income fig B W 69,141 39,562
Management fee income from an WH—XKEREZERAE &
intermediate holding company BRIEBRARZERE
and ultimate holding company WA 7,399 32,666
Management fee income from WERR A M E QA2
fellow subsidiaries BEEEBRA 15,919 —
Fair value changes of other HMPBaEAIEEH
financial liabilities (Note 24(b)) (M 5E24(b)) (609) (41,960)
Gain on revaluation of inventories FEEBREINEMERLZ
upon transfer to investment B (FEE15)
properties (Note 15) 5,623 —
Others Hth 26,149 26,675
126,207 61,306
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 8. EEEAE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$000
TFH#T T
Wages, salaries and bonus TE& e R4 318,088 321,934
Pension costs — defined RREKRA — EEER
contribution plans (Note 35) FT &) (FT7E35) 32,253 34,828
350,341 356,762
Less: amount capitalised as B AE AR BA
properties under development BRPYMEZSE (60,988) (71,746)
Less: amount included in cost of  J& : FF ASHER AR
sales x| (39,230) (46,832)
Less: amount included in B RTAESE REMER
advertising and other promotional ~ FKXARZ & ¥
costs (18,116) (14,076)
232,007 224,108




8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 8.
(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

EBERMNZ L@

(a) EENS
BE-—T—\E+-A=+-0H
LEE REEZMAEHIIMT :

Employer's
contribution Share
Salaries and  Discretionary  to pension option
Fees  allowances honuses scheme benefits Total
Bih&its
Name of directors EEits He HeREM 0 BETL BEIfHR  RRESH ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TiER TiER TiER TiER TiER
Non-executive directors FHES
Mr. Li Ful FREfnE - - - - - -
Mr. Cui Hushan (note (i) BRI %4 (FEG) - - — _ _ _
Ms. He Xiaol {note (i) BT (B (i) - 233% 700 106 - 3,141
Executive directors #iEe
Mr. He Jianbo* gl - 3774 1,400 165 - 5,339
Mr. Liu Zeping HATEE - 1,189 650 63 - 1,902
Mr. Yang Shangping BRTEE - 1,581 1,000 62 - 2,683
Mr. Chen Xingwu (note (i) IR % (B3 Gi) - 425 450 - - 875
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar ShHELE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy WHBEE 350 - - - - 350
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny  EBHAZL
(note (i) (B () 0 - - - - 20
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria EEHAT
(note (v) (B3E0)) 90 - - - - 9
1,070 9,304 4,200 396 - 14,970

\%éﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTinueD) 8.

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
The remuneration of each director for the year

ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

.

EERMNZE @

() EEME @
Bz-—Zz2—+5+-A=+—8H
HEE  SESZMeHIIMT

~

Employer's
contribution Share
Salaries and ~ Discretionary ~ to pension option
Fees  allowances bonuses scheme benefits Total
RAAeHE
Name of directors L2 we  EeREM 0 BERML EIER EREET ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
Non-executive directors FTES
M. Li Pl (rote () SR (H00) - - - - _ _
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong (note (vi) %A (BT & (i) - - - - - -
Mr. Cui Hushan ERILAE - - - - - -
Executive directors HiEE
Mr. He Jianbo* BN - 3632 1,00 128 - 4,960
Mr. Yin Liang (note (vii) FR%E (i) - 1,439 - 45 - 1,484
Ms. He Xiaoli Bt - 2892 90 101 - 3893
M. Liu Zeping HERT - 1,109 500 60 - 1,669
Mr. Yang Shangping (note (i) 17 5 (i (x) - 953 900 34 - 1887
Independent non-executive ~ BAFHITES
directors
M. Selwyn Mar SHELE 360 - - - - 360
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria EESTes 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy B E 350 - - - - 350
1,070 10,025 3,500 368 - 14,963

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

Discretionary bonuses were determined by the
management with regard to the performance of the
directors of the Company and the Group’s operating
results.

FRATEEMEEBZ P REF
RARB R ANEENEEERIE
R

LHFRITERE R B IFARTE
EMEET B RREFETARE
=%

BB EARERETREERA
RARGEZEXERET -



EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (coNTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

During the year, no directors of the Company
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments (2017:
Nil).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of
office (2017: Nil).

The executive director marked “*” above is also
considered as chief executive of the Group and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Notes:
(i) Resigned on 16 April 2018

(ii) Re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive
director on 29 November 2018

(iii) Appointed on 29 November 2018

(iv) Appointed on 1 April 2018
(v) Resigned on 1 April 2018
(vi) Appointed on 18 May 2017
(vii) Resigned on 18 May 2017
(viii) Resigned on 22 June 2017

(ix) Appointed on 22 June 2017

8. EERA

(a)

EENE @
FERN - TEEERELRABERE
AAME (ZE—+E &)

FAAEERERAERNESES
NMEERBSIMAREE 2 82
B ERREREE (T —1F:
&) -

R ZHITEETRE/ANE
B2 ITIRARE - ERN EXHE
e B s K EETHRARIER
RIFE B

GEX
) RoT-NEMA+ABEAE

(ii) RZZE-NF+—A=thBhmH
TEERTRIEDTES

iy ~RZB-NF+—-—AZ+NLAEZ
£

vy RZIZ-N\FNA-BEZF
v RIZ-NFEHA-BE{E

vy RZIE—LFRATN\BEZAE
Vi) RIE—LFHEA+NBEHE
(i) RZTB-EFRA-TZHBHE

(ix) RZE—tFNAZ+TZHEZHF
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continued) 8. BEEFI X H )

(b) Five highest-paid individuals (b) ABAmSHMMAL
In 2018, five highest-paid individuals in the Group RZZE-NF KEBLEES
include three (2017: three) directors. These directors’ HWMALTREFE=2(Z2Z—+
emoluments are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the FZRB)ARAES - EEHE
emoluments of the remaining two (2017: two) R EX(a)EFREEE - HBWE (=
individuals are as follows: T—tEF - mB) AT ZMEFE
Ul
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
&
Z Salaries and allowances e MoERL 2,681 2,599
E Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 1,800 2,776
< Employer's contributions to RIRSFHEIEEHRK
< pension schemes 140 89
S
s 4,621 5,464
'S
@ The emoluments fell within the following bands: e esEmT -
3
o 2018 2017
2 —E-\&  —T—t%
9]
I
'5 HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 8B TE
~ 2,500,000 7T 1 —
ﬁ HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 %8 T2
2 3,000,000 7T 1 2
\ 2 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the FRN AEEHRERNZZFALX
Group to these individuals as an inducement to join N EERRSIMAREER 2 #
or as compensation for loss of office (2017: Nil). B (ERBERAE (S —+F
).
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9.

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9. HIBUA KA
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Finance income B U
Interest income from bank HRITEFF B WA
deposits 35,665 33,265
Interest income from loans to WE—RMB AR —%
a non-controlling shareholder IR R E R 2 F A
of a subsidiary WA 153,354 109,128
Interest income from loans to WA ERRIRRERERZ
shareholders of joint ventures FEHA — 4,646
189,019 147,039
Finance costs B 7 B AR
Bank borrowings wholly ARRAFANEEERE R
repayable within five years ITIER 437,792 341,592
Other borrowings wholly ERAFRNEBEHEEZE
repayable within five years fth B 5K 253,579 248,814
Other borrowings not wholly TERAFABHBEEZ
repayable within five years Hi B — 63,357
691,371 653,763
Less: Amount capitalised as B MEAME A
properties under BRPMECSE
development (note (i)) (B EEG)) (553,847) (539,089)
137,524 114,674
Note: B
(i) Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from 2.23% to 0] B AR F N EH2.23%%£6.50% (=F

6.50% (2017: 1.87% to 6.50%) per annum.

—tF : 1.87%%6.50%) FULERI -
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mE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE_-T

Bt 7% R MY EE

—N\E+ZA=t—ALFE

10. EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES, NET OF 10. TEHE B8 (FIBRE D)
REVERSAL

2018
—FE—-N\FE
HK$'000
FHET

Impairment losses recognised on trade HESHEWRIBEREHNEERR IR
receivables and contract assets (EVSEiE] 6,514

11.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in Note 39.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
assessable profit for the year or has sufficient tax losses
brought forward to offset current year’s assessable profit
(2017: Hong Kong profits tax was calculated on the
estimated assessable profit derived in Hong Kong at the
rate of 16.5%).

The PRC enterprise income tax has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the vyear derived in
Mainland China at the rate of 25% (2017: 25%).

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including costs of land and development and
construction expenditures.

1. B

BE_ T )/\F+_A=1+—HLLFE
ZRAE AR BN 39

BHAX
EEECZ!S%@EC$¢F§§£M§E%%S§%UQ€
AR AR E B A B R RS - &
BEREEMERRARE BB RIEL
BB (T —tF  BBFNEHIUAE
FEREEBZMHAERI EAMIZE
16.5% 2 EFTHE) ©

REGEMSRIOIUAFEIRETER
Moz At SRR B M 25% (—F —+
F:25%) ZHEREFEH -

T REHEBE T EEZER (ALY
EWEABFENR IR H (21
THIRR AN - BER REET ) RRER
R H30%E60% U -

2018 2017
—F—-)N\FE —ZE—+F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FH&IT FHET

Current tax B[ HR %% 18
PRC enterprise income tax AR EMSR 629,088 1,245,063
Hong Kong profits tax BEBENEH — 1,852
Land appreciation tax T I E R 843,141 1,305,285
1,472,229 2,552,200
Deferred tax (Note 31) EFERIE (M5E31) 244,044 (443,213)
1,716,273 2,108,987




11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11.

Tax charge on the Group’s profit before tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities as follows:

PSR S ()
REERBHAER 2 HAEAY - R
FIBA NG A B8 2 2 1T B
EHEFBEREBEIERNT

2018 2017
—EB—-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Profit before tax B 50 A& A 3,463,416 3,557,788
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates %3 A REEEZ EF 2
applicable to profits in the B REAE 2 HRIE
respective regions 881,373 909,143
Land appreciation tax T ET 843,141 1,305,285
Deferred tax on undistributed R iRm | < IEEFIE
profits 5,831 38,239
Tax effect of land appreciation tax T HIBEFR 2 T E (210,785) (326,321)
Tax effect of share of results of DREBE RRIERZ
associates iR 2,633 624
Tax effect of share of results of DIREERRIERELZ
joint ventures MR E 827 653
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA (37.364) (36,105)
Expenses not deductible for tax TRz A X
purposes 163,424 162,611
Utilisation of previously FAFAIAERZ
unrecognised tax losses WG EE (35,256) (57,370)
Tax effect of tax losses/ RERBBHBERR
deductible temporary differences A 1% 2 Ba i =58
not recognised 102,449 112,228
Tax charge IR 1,716,273 2,108,987

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 25.4%
(2017: 25.6%). The vyear-on-year change is primarily
caused by a change in the relative profitability of the
Company’s subsidiaries in the respective regions.

BRAZMEFEHHREAB254% (ZF
—+tF :25.6%) o BIRIZFERE TP
AEENBRARREBEIE 2 B ZEF

BE IR AT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE — BASIC AND 12. §RERN — EXNES
DILUTED
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BRERBNIDILEARGIRIERSE AR
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 157 MR A A E 21T AR 2 INFE ¥
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary HRBETE -
shares in issue during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the FiREERN T ARE BT E @R ME
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding FHRE AR BRI AR N R AR AT &
to assume exercise of share options granted under the TRE A A ESRERNEE LB
Company's share option schemes. matE o
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—+F
Weighted average number of BT E BRI
ordinary shares in issue R B (F %)
(thousands shares) 3,346,009 3,344,548
Adjustment for share options BREAE (TR
(thousands shares) 1,614 2,298
Weighted average number of ARt EgkEs
ordinary shares for diluted Bz EBRINE
earnings per share (thousands R B (F %)
shares) 3,347,623 3,346,846
Profit attributable to equity holders ZNABIAEERFH A
of the Company (HK$'000) FEAE & F (F#&T) 934,964 712,914
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SERXEARZEF (&) 27.94 21.32
Diluted earnings per share BRREE R GEI)
(HK cents) 27.93 21.30
DIVIDENDS 13. Ix &

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK8.0 cents (2017: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share
with total amount of HK$267,753,000 (2017:
HK$200,715,000). Such dividend is to be approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 10 May 2019. These
consolidated financial statements do not reflect this
dividend payable.

Final dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December
2017 of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share totaling
HK$200,739,000 (2017: final dividends in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2016 of HK4.0 cents per
ordinary share totaling HK$133,777,000) was recognised
as distribution during the year.

EFERRNRORESRE®AKS0
BUW(ZZT—CF 6.081)) r @58
£267,753,0008 (= — £ F
200,715,000/ 7T) ° s & BAFIR R
ARARRZE—NFRATHBEITZE
REFRE LHE - W FREMBEmE
AARAB RIS -

REERNERRDEREE-_Z—tF
T+ A=t+—BUEFEZRBKRESK
T MAR6.081 - 48%58200,739,00078 7T
—EEF HE_FT-AFTA
=+ —HIFEZ RS S E R
4.0l - 48%58133,777,000/87T) °



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as

14. Y% - BEKEHE
M BEREEZEHOT

follows:
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Motor
buildings  improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HELHR HEnz & RER
8% 3 e B ] a8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx T TEn Thx T TEn
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE-F-\%
tZAZt+-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENEEEE 169,939 2453 5,080 7,830 473 190,025
Exchange differences ERER (306) (0) (198) (400) (222) (1,196)
Additions HE 8,997 20 2,595 2,606 1,749 16,217
Disposals = - - (86) (87) (93) (266)
Depreciation it (1,617) (702) (1,675) (2,750) (1,524) (8,268)
Closing net book amount FREESE 177,013 1,951 5,716 7,199 4633 196,512
At 31 December 2018 RZF-N\F
+ZA=1-H
Cost A 187,367 8,774 1,178 30,710 18,155 256,784
Accumulated depreciation and  EiFERE
impairment (10,354) (6,823) (6,062) (23,511) (13,522) (60,272)
Net book amount BEFE 177,013 1,951 5,716 7199 4,633 196,512
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-F-t%
tZAZt-BLER
Opening net book amount ENEESE 171,532 2,186 4321 5,349 3013 186,661
Exchange differences EiZ8 - 107 264 478 401 1,250
Additions HE - 1,195 2,576 4,749 2,130 11,250
Disposals HE - (229 (1,260) (257) (187) (1,933
Depreciation ik (1,593) (806) (821) (2,489) (1,494) (7,203)
Closing net book amount EREMTE 169,939 2,453 5,080 7,830 4723 190,025
At 31 December 2017 RoB-+F
+-A=1-R
Cost wk 178,702 8,595 9,764 30,152 18,265 215478
Accumulated depreciation and  ZHFERFE
impairment (8,763) (6,142) (4,684) (22322) (13542) (55,453)
Net book amount BEHE 169,939 2453 5,080 7,830 473 190,025

\\\%ewﬁﬁﬁma
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.

(CONTINUED)
Note:

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings are erected on

land under medium-term and long-term lease in Hong Kong and long-
term lease in Mainland China respectively.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. % - WE &

R 8 ()
B E

RREREHRA  AEERFHRNEERTE
RRETHALRAEERRGBE L FEE -

15. IRE W

2018 2017
—E-N\E e
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At Fair Value BaE
At beginning of the year F9 1,814,294 1,662,326
Transfer from inventories HEAEEE 306,810 —
Fair value changes on investment RIBRAER R EYE
properties recognised in profit or AR EEH)
loss 134,052 151,334
Exchange differences ME H ZE 1,237 634
At end of the year Fr 2,256,393 1,814,294

The amount transferred from inventories included the
carrying value of the inventories amounted to
HK$301,187,000 with the fair value change of
HK$5,623,000 recognised in profit or loss during the year.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not pledge any
investment properties as collaterals for bank borrowings
(2017: Nil).

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31
December 2018 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
an independent valuer. The valuation for completed
investment properties was arrived at by considering the
income capitalisation of the properties or, where
appropriate, by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the same
locations and conditions as direct comparison.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

EREAREZ e BERER A
301,187,000 T2 &  HAnEE
&)5,623,0008 LA FRNFEBRIER o

RZE-N\F+_A=+—8 A&E
MEREMEEERERRITERZE
Am( T —tF: &)

BREWER-_FT-N\F+-_A=+—H
Z A (B B B S (E AN U H B AR
BHEARARENGE CRIRED
ENHEDZEEMEZRRENLHZ
ZHEAELBYEELE RRE AU
MERMERS (FRERLK -

Efﬁﬁ’%%@ﬁﬁﬁ% IR AR HE R
aR&EAR



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group’'s

investment properties and

information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

15. IRE Y= )
RIREEER  AEEREMER AR
EEREEMT :

Fair value

as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31.12.2018

ARER

—E-N\F

+=A

E—% ot 1} E=4H =+-—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000

TERT TERT TERT TERT

In Hong Kong MR EE — 40,500 1,898,100 1,938,600
In Mainland China Az 7 A B A 3 — 33,211 284,582 317,793
Fair value

as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31.12.2017

DAER

—E—+tF

+=A

E—H E-R E=R =+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEL FHEL FHEL FHEL

In Hong Kong IR EE — 39,920 1,764,900 1,804,820
In Mainland China iz 7 R B A 3 — 9,474 — 9,474

Property 3 in Mainland China was transferred out of
Level 2 at 31 December 2018, as the valuation technique

has been changed to
comparison method.

income method from direct

R-F—N\F+-B=+—A  RERK
MRIEE - ME - EREEE
11 B 1 L BOR 2 R M o

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and key inputs used),
as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based

15. I E WY &)
TRIEHNABTRENLEA LB E
K OEE 2R E RN IEERT RE AR
B)  ARBREEARBY AL ETE
WATERREREAA B BEARE
BRANDE(E_REE=H) -

on the degree to which the key inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated statement ~ Fair value  Valuation technique(s)

of financial position hierarchy and key input(s)
GREBKNR AREL
D AMEES BESKREREARE

Relationship
Significant of unobservable
unobservable input(s) inputs for fair value

EXATRRZEARSR FUREEANBEAREZRRE

Property 1 in Hong Kong Level 3

Y 2R ERMBERMAK

The key inputs are:
BlEAZRR:

1. Reversionary yield; and

I BEMEE: R

2. Market unit rent of individual unit
1 ERERkmRELRS

Direct comparison method and income method

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit  The higher the reversionary yield,
market rental income and unit market value of the lower the fair value
the comparable properties of 350% 2017 ERUEEEE LhEEE
3.85%)

EENEER ZRUEHRNZ FRENTSES
WARELTIZERZ350% (ZE-+ £
385%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables  The higher the market unit rent,
and taking into account of similar character, the higher the fair value
location and sizes, from HK$48ksq fumonth to ~ HEEMHSHE - ArEHE
HK$ 100/sq. 1t fmonth (2017: from HKS46/sq./
month to HK$100/sq.ftmonth)

mAEliES  RRERT AL BHRTAZERN
B LERRE - A8 AGTARGEE
10087 (25 GABTARIELE

E7(=
10087 «



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. IRE Y= )

Investment properties

held by the Group in Relationship
the consolidated statement ~ Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant of unobservable
of financial position hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs for fair value
GAMBRRZTAEEL
L H MEES HERFREREANE EXTUREZHAYE TIRERAMBRAREZHR
Property 2 in Hong Kong Level 3 Direct comparison method and income method  Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit ~ The higher the reversionary yield,
g =8 BRUBERMAE market rental income and unit market value of the lower the fair value
the comparable properties of 3.75% (2017 BEUEZHF DA EHE
The key inputs are: 385%)
BRe\gES: EEUEE ZETENAME EREATAES
BARENTEEEZ3 5% (25—t E:
1. Reversionary yield; and 385%)

1 BERER R

2. Market unit rent of individual unit

2 @rEuNmRELES

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables  The higher the market unit rent, the
and taking into account of similar character, higher the fair value
location and sizes, from HK$20sq.ftmonth to ~ ABERAEHS  AAEHS
HK$40ssq.ft /month (2017: from HK$21/s0.f/
month to HK$42/sq.f/month)
TRERS  RRERTALRHETAZERAN
B ERSE BEAGTAR0ETEN
AT(Z3-tE: GRETFRV A EM0E
)

Other properties in Hong Kong ~ Level 2 Direct comparison method hased on market — N/A N/A
Y 25 observable transactions of similar properties  NEF Nl
and adjust to reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject property.
ERABEERENZ 2 TR BER Al
BENRBANE GHRIE -

\ﬁewﬁﬁz@ma
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. WEWY X =&
Investment properties
held by the Group in Relationship
the consolidated statement  Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant of unobservable
of financial position hierarchy ~and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs for fair value
GAUBRRzTAEEZ
Ran AERS HERKRBREANE EXATBEZEAE TIREB)\BBALLEZBE
Property 3 in Mainland China ~ Level 3 Direct comparison method and income method  Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit  The higher the reversionary yield,
RERENE3 E ERIEARUAE market rental income and unit market value of the lower the fair value
the comparable properties of 7% (2017: NiA)  BEWHEEHE AR EHE
The key inputs are; EEbEE ZETEL BN FRENTAES
BB RES: WARENTSEEZT%(ZF- £
k)

1. Reversionary yield; and

I BEMEE R

2. Market unit rate
) ERERNTRENER

Market unit rate, taking into account the recent ~ The higher the market unit rate,
transaction prices for similar properties adjusted the higher the fair value
for nature, location and conditions of the RN ERER  RAEHE
property, being HK$22,029/s.m. (2017: N/A)

TRENER ZRENNEEHRRSE WA

FME ERMRMEL AR DETHR
D09ER(ZF-1F TER)

/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property 4 in Mainland China ~ Level 3 Direct comparison method and income method ~ Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit ~ The higher the reversionary
hEREEY =4 BRUBARMAE market rental income and unit market value of yield, the lower the fair
the comparable properties of 6% (2017: N/A) value
The key inputs are; BEAE ZETENENE EEENTERS BEUREHE AREHE
BiEA\ZRR: WARELTAEE 6% (ZF -5
AER)

1. Reversionary yield; and

I BEMEE R

2. Market unit rate
2 ERERMTRENER

Market unit rate, taking into account the recent ~ The higher the market unit rate,
transaction prices for similar properties acjusted the higher the fair value
for nature, location and conditions of the mRENERES  LrEER
property, being HKS44,020/50.m. (2017: N/A)

TRENER ZRENNEEHRRSE WA
FME ERMRMEL AR NETHR
MO00ET(ZF-tF  FER)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties
held by the Group in

15. IRE Y= )

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EXTURRZGALR

Relationship
of unobservable
inputs for fair value

TIRREABRAAREZRE

the consolidated statement ~ Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
of financial position hierarchy  and key input(s)
GRMBHARTAEEZ
Rang AEED  HESHREEEANE
Property 5 in Mainland China ~ Level 3 Direct comparison method and income method
HERHIES 5=k ERLBERMAE

The key inputs are:

Ena\gEs:

1. Reversionary yield; and

I BEREE: R

2. Market unit rate

2 BHERNTSELER
Property 6 in Mainland China ~ Level 2 Direct comparison method based on market
hE N E6 it observable transactions of similar

properties and adjust to reflect the
conditions and locations of the subject

property.

ERLBRAERMAUNZ LS RER AL

ABURBANE 2 RIFRIE -

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit
market rental income and unit market value of
the comparable properties of 7% (2017: NA)

EENEE ZRUANANE FRENTAEE
WARENTHEELT%(Z5—tF : TER)

Market unit rate, taking into account the recent
transaction prices for similar properties adjusted
for nature, location and conditions of the
property, being HK$49,589/sq.m. (2017: NJA)

MABMER ZEENNE EERGE  Wih
$ORE LERMR(ELAE AGTHR
49589 (25—t F : FER) -

N/A
TR

The higher the reversionary yield,
the lower the fair value

EENEZAR DhEEE

The higher the market unit rate,
the higher the fair value
mEENERES DAEER

N/A
TR

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the Group uses market observable data to the extent it is
available. The management of the Group works closely
with the valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and key inputs to the model.

ERAREMENAAER  AREE
AIREERAMZA SRR AEENE
BEEGEMETAE  UHEEE
(CRERFRIPNEEE 2PN 287
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

(a)

N

16. NBiE N ARl 2w

I

Investments (a) B&E
2018 2017
—E—-N\f —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At beginning of the year F1 1,218,443 1,141,052
Exchange differences e =% (55,635) 79,886
Share of results of associates DAL E R R EE (10,531) (2,495)
At end of the year Fx 1,152,277 1,218,443

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follow:

Name of entity Principal activities

HEREW ETREH

AERBR-_ZE—N\FRER_ZE—+
F+-A=t+—HBHzHE A

BT

Proportion of Proportion
Place of equity of voting
incorporation interest held rights held

and operation by the Group by the Group
AREHF AREHF
AR EE B BRA R LL I REEL

BHEEREFRWEREARAAF  Real estate development
(Langfang Wanheng Shengye
Property Development Co., Ltd)
("Langfang Wanheng”) (note (i)
BYEEREFHEREERAT EHEER
([BHEED (M)

IRIBEEREEERAA Real estate development
(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real
Estate Co., Ltd) ("Beijing Minmetals
Vanke") (note (i)

IRIBEEREEERAA FEHELE
([ERARER]) (M)

Note:

@)

The companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures
established in Mainland China with operating periods of 30
years. The Group accounts for its investments in these
companies as associates as it only exercises significant
influence over the investees by minority representation in
the board of directors. Pursuant to shareholders’
agreements, the Company has the right to cast 40% of the
votes at shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and
40% of the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Beijing
Minmetals Vanke.

Mainland China 50% 40%
B A i
Mainland China 51% 40%
B A i

B3

(i) ZERB RN T B A M AL ZF SN
BEREDLE  BEHA30F - A
RAEEERNZ BB ETT BB
EFgLBRRTEERFES
HE BN Z R E 2R E AR R
ERE - BEEBRRHE AR
ARBHEERRREFHFH40%H)
REE ARRIERABEBERER
REFHL0% R ERE



16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of each
associate of the Group is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associates’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the

equity method in the consolidated financial

16. B = A Al 2 1 78 ()

(b)

BEATRZMBEERHE

AREBEBERT W B ER
ZINFT - THMBEMGRR
BEIREE AR M BEHREA
ZEBDNIRBERM GRS LA

A ZEHE AR RAEDER

HEGEYBREAR -

statements.
Langfang Wanheng BhEE
2018 2017
—E—N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Current assets MENEE 2,070,040 484,129
Non-current assets ERBEE 173 178
Current liabilities mEAE 1,733,908 110,834
2018 2017
—F—N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Loss for the year NFEBE (20,753) (4,341)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ ANFEEMEE (),
income for the year A (16,415) 24,599
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AFEZME (), WA
income for the year 4B FE (37,168) 20,258

\\\%ewﬁﬁﬁma
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16.

(b) Summarised financial information of
associates (Continued)
Langfang Wanheng (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

NG NCI P

7 [t
\ ==
LE

(b) Hy“ﬁ“"“lZﬂﬁ%éﬂ#&%

(%)

BBy EE (&)

LB E S R RS B E R
REMBRRAMERZERER

Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated M B2 $15% -
financial statements:
2018 2017
—E—-N\Ef¥ —t%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
Net assets of the associate B NAlz BE SR 336,305 373,473
Proportion of the Group's AEERBHEEZ
interest in Langfang Wanheng  #£z5 tb 11 50% 50%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHT
Carrying amount of the Group's ZNSER BB & 1E R A
interest in Langfang Wanheng % 2 BREIE 168,153 186,736
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IEREHEEF
2018 2017
—FT-N\f —T—+tfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Current assets mBEE 2,006,853 2,102,173
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,036 1,119
Current liabilities mBAaE 78,233 80,338




16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16. REE S N E] 2w ()

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEATIZHBEREE
associates (Continued) (&)

Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) tREREF (F)

2018 2017

—F-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&ET FAT

Revenue ON — 13,143

Loss for the year REFEE (303) (635)

Other comprehensive (expense)/ AEFHMEME (XH),/
income for the year A (92,995) 132,522

Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEZM®E(ZH),/

income for the year WA 458 (93,298) 131,887
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial N BENBSZEIL R AES
information to the carrying amount of the interest RIR GRS MK AT HER 2
in Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the mARHEEZ R

consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
—B-0\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ER FHT
Net assets of the associate Bte NaEE SR 1,929,656 2,022,954
Proportion of the Group's AEBERIERABRER
interest in Beijing 2 Kz LB
Minmetals Vanke 51% 51%
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT FHT
Carrying amount of the Group's AEERIt R AEER
interest in Beijing IR 2 BREE
Minmetals Vanke 984,124 1,031,707

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REERAIZEKE
(a) Investments (a) #®&
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HKS$’'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
At beginning of the year iNGSE) 99,065 —
Investments in joint ventures REERAIZ’E 5,680 98,292
Exchange differences PE W =% (4,407) 3,156
Share of results of joint ventures 7 {h& & N FIELE (3.310) (2,610)
Gain on deemed disposal BRIELE 2 W — 227
»
E At end of the year R 97,028 99,065
w
=
E Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follow: REBEE R ZHBOT
3
= Proportion of equity interest
= Place of held by the Group
2 incorporation FEEHERAERILG
= Name of entity Principal activities and operation 2018 2017
3 EBLE TEEH SR REEHE —B-0\f CT-+t&
3
§ ERENEREHEREERAA Real estate development  Mainland China 33.9% 33.9%
= (Gekuangli Nanjing Property
'5 Development Co., Ltd.)
'; ("Gekuangli”) (note (i)
o ERFEAEHEREERAR FHEER FEIRH
2 (TR ) (B3 )
\ HRENSEHEREERAA Real estate development Mainland China 39.8% 39.8%
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property
Development Co., Ltd.)
("Kuanglijin") (note (i))
HRENEEHEREERAR FHEER REI A
(TR & 1) (BREEa)
BMZaRHEREERARF Real estate development  Mainland China 10% N/A
i (Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate
E2 Development Co., Ltd.)
g: ("Guangzhou Anhe") (note (ii))
. EMRARHERRERAA RUHERE RE R
i3 G TEENIGETD
=
c C
N\




17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CoNTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Investments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The companies are joint ventures established by the Group
and other investors in Mainland China with operating
periods of 30 years. The Group accounts for its investments
in these companies as joint ventures as it exercises joint
control over the investees through its voting rights, as
unanimous consent is required for the relevant activities.

(i) During the year, the Group obtained 10% of equity interest
of Guangzhou Anhe through capital injection. The Group
accounts for this investment as joint venture as it exercises
joint control over the investee through its voting rights, as
unanimous consent of all equity holders is required for the
relevant activities.

Summarised financial information of
material joint ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s material joint ventures is set out
below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’
financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

All of these joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)

(i) FZERTR/AEEARPEAEM
REERIZAZERTE  2EDRA
30%F - AN AKEEBREEL R
BEDTEARZES (BARHEREE
RE-HFEE)  HEBR&EAR
ZRENRERAZERA -

(ii) FRAREEBIERNEEMNER
B10% A% - AR AEEREBR
SREAEIRE R BITE AR EGE
(AAREREEBAEMBEEE A
—HAE)  WEHZREARER

s =
NG

SEABIZHBERGE

bl

KEERERRZMBENMY
ZHFEMT - THFHERBRE
BEIRNELERANMBEREZ
SEDNRBEBEEM RS EAR
B o

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%#ﬁé@ﬁﬁﬁ
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17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continuep)  17. A& R R 2K E (@)
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) EEATFZ BEEHE
material joint ventures (Continued) (4&)
Gekuangli BEF
2018 2017
—E—-N\E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Current assets MENEE 7,750,174 8,125,308
Non-current assets ERBEE 121 —
Current liabilities mENaE 7,642,562 8,009,632
2018 2017
—F—-)\E e
HKS$’'000 HK$'000
TFH#T FHET
Loss for the year REEEE (2,723) (3,815)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ ZAFEHM2E (ZH)
income for the year Ve & (5,219) 3,641
Total comprehensive expense for ZN4F & H i 2 H 37 H
the year (7,942) (174)




17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (conTinuep)  17. )\J_/\\\;/:\ /N m A ZIRE @)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) SIZBEREE
material joint ventures (Continued) (.‘;‘g)
Gekuangli (Continued) BHF (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial X BERSEEES BN
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BB MER AN PTER 2 R
Gekuangli recognised in the consolidated financial BEERWAT :
statements:
2018 2017
—EB-0\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ERT FHET
Net assets of the joint venture & & RAEIZEEFHE 107,733 115,676
Proportion of the Group's REERBENZ
interest in Gekuangli 1 7 BE B 33.9% 33.9%
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT

Carrying amount of the Group’s 7% B E1EF I A s

interest in Gekuangli ZHREE 36,522 39,214
Kuanglijin wF2

2018 2017

—B-N\F e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Current assets mBEE 5,262,914 5,267,403

Non-current assets IERBEE 346 —

Current liabilities mEEE 4,692,192 5,117,024

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 433,199 —

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%#&ﬁmﬁ
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17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (conTiNnueD)  17.

(b) Summarised financial information of

material joint ventures (Continued) (&)
Kuanglijin (Continued) BHZ ()
2018 2017
—F-N\FE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Loss for the year KEEBIE (5.808) (2,651)
Other comprehensive (expense) AFEEHMEE (ZH),/
income for the year Wz (6,702) 4,742
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AFEZ2ME (1), K
income for the year BEs (12,510) 2,091

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in
Kuanglijin recognised in the consolidated financial

X BEHREEREN D AR
EMBRERAMER 2 EEE®
BEHEOT

statements:
2018 2017
—F-N\FE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Net assets of the joint venture A& R a2 &EFHE 137,869 150,379
Proportion of the Group's REBRENE 2
interest in Kuanglijin 1 % Lt 131 39.8% 39.8%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Carrying amount of the Group’'s 7% B IEF & B A 25
interest in Kuanglijin Z HREAE 54,872 59,851




17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continueD)  17. REZE AN B 2K E @)

(c) Information of joint venture that is not () ERMEEFRERZEEL
individually material Sz&EH
2018
—F-N\EF
HK$’000
T#ERT
The Group's share of loss for the year REEELAFREER (75)
The Group’s share of other comprehensive 7N B & {5 H fth 2 [ Y 25
income 29
The Group's share of total comprehensive 7N B {52 X 1 4258
expense (46)
18. INVENTORIES 18. 78
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#RT FHET
Properties under development BEPYE
— located in Mainland China (a)  — A Ab(a) 14,457,449 17,595,853
Properties under development BRPWE
— located in Hong Kong (a) — MR EE) 4,407,395 4,158,708
18,864,844 21,754,561
Properties held for sale — located #{EHL &Y E
in Mainland China — IR E A 6,922,177 3,598,682
25,787,021 25,353,243

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ
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18. INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

18. 75 (&)

(a) Properties under development (a) BERPYE
2018 2017
—E—-N\f —E—+tF
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FiET FHEIT
Land use rights I Hb {3 A 15,248,471 18,223,333
Construction costs REERK 3,616,373 3,531,228
18,864,844 21,754,561

As at 31 December 2018, properties under
development with carrying amount of
HK$7,735,867,000 have been pledged as collaterals
for bank borrowings (2017: HK$6,165,669,000)
(Note 30 (a)).

As at 31 December 2018, properties under
development with carrying amount of
HK$11,806,949,000 (2017: HK$15,557,530,000) are
expected to be completed and realised after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
Properties held for sale of approximately
HK$2,653,942,000 (2017: HK$403,700,000) as at 31
December 2018 are expected to be sold after
twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK

RZE—-—N\FE+=ZA=+—8"
BRI {E & 7,735,867,00078 JT ) 3
EBFVECERIEARITERZ
IS (FEE30(@) (Z T —+4F:
6,165,669,000/% 7T ) °

RZE—N\F+=ZA=+—8"
BREIE A11,806,949,000/% 7T (—
£ —+ % :15,557,530,0007% 7T)
R A ETEBBE R RE R
BI2EAABEIRER R _Z
—N\NE+=-_A=Z+—8 "%
2,653,942,000/8 T (=& —t%F:
403,700,000 7T) BV 1EHH &)
EBRRERARL12EABEL -

19. T2 TREAED

2017
—T— 4
HK$'000
FAET
Contract costs incurred plus recognised EEABLORAMEER
profits less recognised losses s MR B TR BT 18 3,868,737
Less: progress billings o TIREERR (3,749,717)
Gross amounts due from customers for W EF &N TIZEE
contract work 119,020




20. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20. TENRIE - B 5 R HMER
RECEIVABLES KIB
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables, net (b) H 5 RWFIE - FE (D) 448,660 603,515
Retention receivables FEWAR B & — 181,040
Deposits o 63,390 35,243
Prepayments (c) TR IR (0) 855,178 840,991
Prepayments for land cost (d) FEA LA AR (d) 1,986,073 1,497,699
Loans to a non-controlling EXRT—ZKHMBRARZ—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FE 2 A AR 3R (BT 7E40(b))
(Note 40(b)) 2,951,037 3,748,606
Amount due from a non-controlling W —RHTEBAF z—%3kF
shareholder of a subsidiary 2 % B% 3R R IR (BT 5E40(b))
(Note 40(b)) — 125,058
Amount due from an associate FE U — KB R B EUE
(Note 40(b)) (B 5E40(b)) 837,513 94,674
Amounts due from joint ventures UL A & A &) K18
(Note 40(b)) (M4 3E40(b)) 4,616,224 4,750,871
Amounts due from an intermediate JEU — K /EMIZA A B K
holding company and ultimate BRI A R RRIE
holding company (Note 40(b)) (Bt 5E40(b)) — 35,889
Others Hitb 110,279 89,561
11,868,354 12,003,147

(@) The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and
other receivables are denominated in the following

(@) TENNRE BEZREMEKFIA

ZARHEETIA T E IR -

currencies:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
HK$ BT 208,236 229,133
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARE] 11,660,029 11,741,760
Macao pataca (“MOP") SRS ([P ) 89 32,254
11,868,354 12,003,147
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20. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)  The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due

date for rental receivables,
delivered to purchasers

date of properties
and billing date of

construction services certified is as follows:

20.

BRFIE - B NEAMER
TE ()

HEKESIHA WEIMNT
EXmMBEHMERERERBEH
RERMBS 2ESREALZ
BRie o tfran T

2018 2017

—E-N\fE —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

0 to 90 days 0Z290H 209,399 321,052
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 55,922 83,580
181 days to 1 year 181HZE—4F 45,833 50,740
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 92,846 92,465
Over 2 years N F LA B 96,236 113,389
500,236 661,226

Less: allowance for impairment  J& : Jal (& 5 1 (51,576) (57,711)
448,660 603,515

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balances are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$214,082,000
which are past due as at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables neither
past due nor impaired are with customers having
good repayment history and no default in the past.

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of
HK$301,529,000 were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers
for whom there is no history of default.

R-ZFB-NF+-A=+—8"
REEBEEFHERRBELEHBIER
T #18 5214,082,00078 7T 2 FEUL
Ry HNREBRB®E -

R-F—tF+-_A=+—8"
BHRBKREHLEBY T8
BREW BESLHERRIITE
AR BELEBENTRZE
Eo

WZZE—+F+=ZA=+—8H"
301,529,000 7L 2 B 5 FE M GRTE
CDHaMEERE ZSERBELES
FEENCHZBITEPEAM -



20. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20. TR - B 5 N A EI
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) TRIA ()
(b)  (Continued) by (%)
Aging of trade receivables which are past due but EmBERRECE S EKRIE
no impaired: ZERERAT
2017
—ET—+F
HK$'000
FET
Past due days BEAEH
1 to 90 days 1£90H 178,555
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 11,253
181 days to 1 year 181HE—4%F 24,904
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 53,919
Over 2 years GES NS 32,898
301,529
As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of RZE—tF+ZA=+—H"
HK$57,711,000 were impaired and allowance for 57,711,000/ T 2 & 5 fE W 5k 1B
impairment was made. The individually impaired ERE LEFHRERE - @
receivables relate to customers, which are in difficult Rl 2R (B FE W3k I8 B2 20 SR PA A B
financial situations. The aging of these receivables is BRENEF B - Z5RIK
as follows: H2REDTAT
2017
—E—LF
HK$'000
FHET
Past due days 1 5 A &k
Over 2 years GES NS 57,711

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%#&ﬁmﬁ



/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

20. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(e)

(Continued)
Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

20.

BRFIE - B NEAMER
TE ()

(b)

(%)
BB P EMGRIBE L 2 BB &
ZEWT

2018 2017

—F-N\F —ET—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH#IT FET

At beginning of the year F4 57,711 29,185
Exchange differences EH =58 (2,217) 2,210
Allowance for impairment, net  JE{E& & CF5E) 5,433 26,316
Written off Hi SH (9.351) —
At end of the year Fx 51,576 57,711

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in Note 39.

As at 31 December 2018, prepayments include
prepaid taxes and other charges of approximately
HK$687,619,000 (2017: HK$777,501,000).

As at 31 December 2018, prepayments for land cost
represent payments to the PRC Bureau of Land and
Resources for the acquisition of lands in Mainland
China and the amount will be reclassified to
inventory upon issuance of land use rights
certificates.

The other items within trade and other receivables
do not contain past due or impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.

(e)

BE_T-/\F+_-_A=+—H
LFE B REMEERAZ
B R FF BN M RE39 ©

R-_E—N\F+_A=+—8"
FEMNFERERAMNTEREME
F #1687,619,0008 L (ZE —+
£ : 777,501,000/ 7T) °

R-ZE-NF+-_A=+—8"
TE A £ Ak AN 15 L R B A U
BN THEBELERR
ZHE MBS NEREL
WEREBRERR/EFE -

B 5 M E A EYFRIAR 2 K MR
BT EEAHNATREEE -

RBEMRBzERSEERRTY L&
WOkTE 2 BRTE B © AN 5% B30 S 55 6 (E ]
AR A -



21.

CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHIEBEE
2018
—FE—N\F
HK$’000
FHET
Construction services BERG 310,598
Retention receivables EWIRE £ 143,235
At end of the year RER 453,833

The contract assets from construction services primarily
relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work
completed and not billed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, typically upon the
issuance of certifications.

Retention receivables are included in contract assets until
the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the
Group'’s fulfillment of its quality warranty obligation. As at
31 December 2018, retention receivables with carrying
amount of HK$91,737,000 (2017: HK$125,783,000) are
expected to be recovered after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

BERB 2 AHNEETR S RAEESL
B ITREBMREZENEHARA
Eﬁ%%'JL/($EIE’95EPKE%’W%1W¢ *
AEHERE) AOBEERENKRE
fii 1¢E¢(L%ﬁ§*tﬂﬁﬁﬂzﬁf)$ﬁ§§3”’
2 EWFRIE -

EURRB ST AGHNEE  BEE2RIEH
HERIE - AAKREBREGZ&ENS D
BRI EEEXNEEERFTETAIK
o HEE-NF+=ZA=+—8"
BRI {E91,737,0008 (=& — £ F ¢
125,783,000/ 7T ) ) FE WL IR B & T B %
REHE+ @A FWE -

AEERZEENEEIBERRDE
E RESAREEHHENELELS
BHRAKZEEEZR -
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22.

23.

CONTRACT COSTS 22. & KR
2018
—T-N\E
HK$'000
THET
Sales commissions HEME 12,275
Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions BRIKAE REA A EREE
paid/payable to property agents whose selling activities BEEAE  ZERENHE DTS
resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase BEPIVEBASEMENEE W
agreements for the Group's properties. Contract costs are F AR BB EEEMEK
recognised as part of selling and marketing expenses in HERARESREERRNBRAHE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period KA —3o o
in which revenue from the related property sales is
recognised.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. HBHMEEWRRARE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE SATECHMBERE
INCOME
2018 2017
—E-N\fE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Listed equity securities in NEB LT ZRAES
Hong Kong
At beginning of the year FH) 792,817 481,682
Fair value gain recognised in RE M2 E W R R
other comprehensive income NAERZT 18,437 311,135
At end of the year F4R 811,254 792,817




/

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. ¢
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONTINUED)
The Group’s equity securities investment is measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period:

HQ M/?ﬁ/ 1B

o 15
i s
g

N/
S Hp

M
FM
%

AEBRBEMRANRAEFRER
Agﬁﬁ@

Fair value as at
RTIEHZARE
Fair Valuation

31 December 31 December value technique(s)

Financial assets 2018 2017 hierarchy and key input(s)
—E-N\E —T—+tF AanfE i {E B &
MBEE +ZA=+—-8B +ZA=+—8 &5 FEBARE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THET
Financial assets at fair value 811,254 792,817 Level 1 Quoted prices in an
through other comprehensive active market
income — Listed equity
securities
FREMTEAWNSEAAEFE £ PR BT IZ ) E R B
ZHBEE — EHRAES N

The equity securities investment has been designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon the
Group's early application of the 2010 version of HKFRS 9
in 2011, which, in the opinion of the Directors, resulting
more relevant information for the Group’s financial
instruments based on how the Group manages its equity
instruments. Dividend income recognised during the year
related to those investments held at the year end is
HK$69,141,000 (2017: HK$39,562,000). There is no
disposal or transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within
equity during both years.

RABEREERNAEBE_T——F
REPEAAEMBRELEFEIF_F
—ZFERE - FEABBEMEERE
BARERE MESRAEEMAE
EERBEEEERATAENTN  HE
BLY BT EMNMEBER - FARERE
FRABENZEREFBOBREBRA
69,141,000 L (=2 — & -
39,562,000/ JT) ° 1A M B & [E FE i 5
PRt ENEREB R EIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERNE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES 24 Bl EE BE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other financial assets HEMyKEE
Derivatives under hedge HYEFITZHIETAR
accounting
Cash flow hedges IR & 8 ¥
— Interest rate swap (a) — X (a) 30,091 76,085
Other financial liabilities HibBiigaE
Other derivatives FEEHPEFTFT2HM
(not under hedge accounting) TTETH
Foreign currency forward HNEE IS K (b)
contracts (b) — 41,960
(a) Cash flow hedges: (a) BREREH P :

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the following interest rate swap contracts
designated as highly effective hedging instruments
in order to manage the Group’s interest rate
exposure in relation to the bank borrowings on a
floating interest rate basis.

The terms of the interest rate swap contracts have
been negotiated to match the terms of the
respective designated hedged items. The major
terms of these contracts are as follows:

31 December 2018

Notional amount

EHEH

Maturity
E:IEG)S)

Swaps

=1

RB&EF - AREAEE T
SRR S R R TR
BHAK  HLEEAEERE
T BRI 5B 2 R 1T AT
0 il IR o

MEIEEE QORI TR E
EARESERETERIER
BIRFR - R F A 8 2R
™

—F-NE+ZF=1+—H

HK$4,600,000,000
4,600,000,0007% 7T

Approximate 4 years

“A5F

During the vyear, fair value loss of HK$45,994,000
(2017: HK$39,552,000) have been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity.

From floating rates to fixed interest rates
¥ B 3 & [ TE A K

RARFEE - DA EEE45,994,000
BT (ZZF —+14F 1 39,552,000/
T EREMEEmK SR I
REZRET -



24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Other derivatives (not under hedge
accounting):
During 2017, the Group had signed certain foreign
exchange forward contracts with upper and lower
strike prices in the aggregate notional amount of
United States dollar (“US$”) 80,000,000 as an
economic hedge of its exposure to exchange rate
risks while converting RMB to US$. During the year,
the foreign exchange forward contracts have been
settled and fair value changes of HK$609,000 (31
December 2017: HK$41,960,000) have been
recognised in profit or loss.

25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

24. E M A%

EE/B8Ew

(b) FEHAEATZHMITE

E .

RZE—+F AEBRRIET
ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁtT@Z%EL%é
%) - 8% % {E © %8 /580,000,000

ERLUERTD  ERBARKER
1SR TTH B X E R O A AR

e RMEN - INERIANBEK
&5 o 609,000 L (=T —+
F+-A=4+—H :41,960,000/8
T ARBEEHERAFEIEE
R o

25. XIRHIR & LRITHER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Restricted cash SR HIIR & 201,353 623,774

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated
in RMB. As at 31 December 2018, the weighted average
effective interest rate was 0.3% (2017: 0.3%) per annum.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of cash and bank
deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (ii) guarantee deposits for the
benefit of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

ZREBEAARKEIER - R T —N
FT-A=1—8 NEFHERER

RAH03%(ZF

—+F :03%) -

RBERRBAAZZZEREERRS

Be RRTES

N H>><11\

X ZFREE -

RFEVEFEONEEEE CBEORE
FRBEERTRITIERANEEYE
BEXRIZBETREMMRHZERTTR -
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26. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, 26. "SREIBES RIETEX
UNRESTRICTED

2018 2017

—F-N\F S

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Cash at banks RITIRE 3,242,219 5,275,257

Short-term deposits SR=REE 365,338 356,373

Cash on hand FEAS 219 259

Cash and bank deposits Re MIRITHER 3,607,776 5,631,889

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of cash and bank

deposits.

w

2

E As at 31 December 2018, the weighted average effective RZZE-—N\F+ZA=+—H Z8F

E interest rate of short-term deposits was 2.26% (2017: RZIMEFHERFEFEE2.26% (=

= 1.41%) per annum. T—+tF 1.41%) -

2

g The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are WRERBITERIEEETIATINEE

2 denominated in the following currencies: HIER -

a

e 2018 2017

5 —E—0\% —E—tE

S HK$'000 HK$'000

§ FHERT FHEIT

I

'5 HK$ AT 545,513 192,201

" RMB AR 2,735,661 5,238,095

= us$ ET 326,152 140,681

2 MOP SRPIHE 450 60,912
\ 3,607,776 5,631,889

REBEMRBEAX ZZREERRR
R RRITHERZE@E -



On 29 May 2003, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2003 Share Option Scheme”) under which
the Directors, at their discretion, invited any person who
has contributed or will contribute to the Group to
subscribe for shares of the Company at nominal
consideration of HK$10 for each lot of options granted.
The exercise price was determined by the Directors, and
would not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the daily quotations sheet of Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the
relevant option; (ii) the average closing price per share as
stated in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option; and
(iii) the nominal value of the share of the Company. The
2003 Share Option Scheme had expired on 28 May
2013. On 7 June 2013, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”)
with the same terms under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme. Notwithstanding the expiry of the 2003 Share
Option Scheme, the share options which had been
granted during the life of the 2003 Share Option Scheme
shall continue to be valid and exercisable pursuant to the
2013 Share Option Scheme.

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. IR
2018 2017
—F-N\F 2 —tF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
4 g M 28 Gkl
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
Tz FTERT FH& TET
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREBEIET
each LAk 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRES:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREBVET
each T
Balance at beginning of FA R
the year 3,345,027 334,503 3,344,438 334,444
Exercise of share options TT{ B P 188 589 59
Balance at end of the year FrEEH 3,346,908 334,691 3,345,027 334,503
Share options HE R

AZETZ=FRA-1+HIEB  KAFK
M—IBERERE (22 =FEkE
FEID B EEURBERBEMAE
e BeHAEREMEERMZ A LR
AREBARE RN ERE SR
ERE s ZREARERI10BIIT - (THE
EhEEeET  BASENTI=%
7 i a () R A B B AR 3R 1 B HR
REFEREBEARERAB BRI T
B (N EERDEEERER TR
EEZEARNRBIFAERTARER
Frél TR TE : KGR RRG
ZHEE - _EE-FEREFEERNZ
E-=ZFRARAZ-tNAE®R KR=E
—=FNAtH  ARBIRHN—IENE
IRiETE ([ —=FBERETE ) -
BERE—TT = FRERERTEER - B
BZE——FERENS  EAZET
—FEBREILEE R ERZET
= FRERERT BB A AR G
BHEY - BRBEZITRRE 176 -
MEMBEMAEMNEXSEEES T
R R HERK o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share options (Continued)

(i)

Details of the share options granted are as follows:

Category of
participants

Date of grant/exercisable
period of share options

27. P& 7N ()
BBRE @

(i)

Exercise price

RHOBBEFBOT

Number of share options

Z2EEER RO 8RR TEE ERE"E
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-\E ZZ—+F CZE-)\&E Z—ZT—+F
HKS$ HK$ ‘000 ‘000
BT BT Fh T
Directors 1 December 2008/1 December 2010 to 0.45 0.45 — —
30 November 2018 (note)
= “EZ\F+-F—B/-ZT-T%F
+-A—REF-N\F+—-A=+H
(Fi3E)
Employees 1 December 2008/1 December 2010 to 0.45 0.45 - 3,525
30 November 2018 (note)
EB “EZ\F+-F—B/-ZT-T%F
+-A—REF-N\F+—-A=+H
(Fi3E)
— 3,525
Note: B3 -

The options are exercisable upon fulfillment of certain performance
targets achieved by the Group and grantees. These options are
exercisable in three tranches: the maximum percentage of options
of each tranche exercisable within the exercisable periods
commencing from 1 December 2010 to 30 November 2018, from
1 December 2011 to 30 November 2018 and from 1 December
2012 to 30 November 2018 are 30%, 30% and 40% respectively.
The fair value of share options in the three tranches is HK$0.3355
per share. All share options were exercisable as at 31 December
2017 and no share options are outstanding as at 31 December
2018.

BREVARRERREARAZETRETX
BEBEAATITE - ZFBERETD =
HTE BT —TF+_A—HEEZ
T-N\F+—A=t+HLHEH -8=F——
F+-_RA—HBEE-_ZT—NF+—A=+
HItHRrEE - Z——F+_-_HA—H#EE
2 N\F+—A=t+HLTEHRERAT
TEZEHERERS IS RAE30% -
30% %40%  Z —WBERIEZ SR AAE
9740.335587T - FTEBRE N T —+
F+ZA=+—B11E MR=ZZT—N\F
+ZA=t+—R8 YETMEKRITEZE
fi& 42 -



27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share options (Continued)
(i)  Movements in the above share options are as

27. BEAN ()
BERRHE (@)
FiEREs 2EHNT

(ii)

follows:
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
Number of Number of
share options share options
B tER B ESE
‘000 ‘000
Fi% T
At beginning of the year FH) 3,525 49,884
Lapsed B R (1,644) (45,770)
Exercised B1TfE (1,881) (589)
At end of the year F4R — 3,525

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
1,881,000 (2017: 589,000) share options were
exercised and the weighted average share price was
HK$1.35 (2017: HK$1.24).

Bz N\F+=ZA=+—AH
IEFE B171681,881,0008 (=
T — - F : 589,0000%) & B4 -
ENEFHRELR135BT (=T

—+F 1.2487T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE—-Z—/\E+_A=+—HIL&EE
28. RESERVES 28. {1
Employee
Capital ~ share-based  Investments  Cash flow
Share  Contributed  redemption compensation  revaluation hedging ~ Revaluation Other  Exchange Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve - eamings Total

At EEBbB h# Rei
Mﬁf‘ L &a@lﬁ%ﬁ §ﬁ’§iﬁf*f§ﬂﬁ EfRE  Hhde ifﬁﬁﬂﬁ

ﬁ“ﬁﬂl

HK$'000 HK$'000
o)

Balance as at 1 January 2017 RoF-t5-A-AziH 4.270,004 515,33% 769 35484 (76,055) 115,637 4359 (311,048 (12621900 2955784 6,207,680
lsue of shares ik 206 - - - - - - - - - 206
Recasficaton of emplojee share option ~ [EZERIERHENIE

bengfits 36M3 - - (34,301) - - - - - 30628 -
Fait vlue gan of financial asets ot far -~ EEZH2ENER LA

value through other comprehensie FELHTERREL,

income Pyl - - - - 3% - - - - - I
Fai value loss on hedghg instuments in -~ B&EHAGHATEL

cash flow hedges MEBR - - - - - (3955) - - - - (39.55))
Currency translation adjustments i - - - - - - - - 919,568 - 919568
2016 final dividend paid - - - - - - - - - (133777) (133777)
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 712914 712,914
Balance as at 31 December 2017 RoE-tE12A=1-B

b 4273883 515,33 769 118 235,080 76,085 4359 (311,448) (342622) 3565549 8,018,174

Iste of shares ik 1,289 - - (631) - - - - - - 658
Recasficaton of employee share optin ~ EZERBEEHENIE

benefits - - - (552) - - - - - 552 -
Fairvelue gain of finandd assets t far -~ ERAAENERASE

value through other comprehengie HEZHHRENEL,

income MEhE - - - - 18437 - - - - - 18437
Fai value loss on hedgig insruments in B4 EHBNEATEL

cash flow hedges M@ma - - - - - (45,999 - - - - (45,994)
Currency trangltion adjustments Bz - - - - - - - - (692,483) - (69248)
2017 fial dvidend paid TH-E-tERGRE - - - - - - - - - (00739 (200739
Profitfor the year EREH - - - - - - - - - RS 99K
Balance as at 31 December 2018 WZF-NETZA=1-R

168 amsme o 5153% 769 - B 30091 4359 (M8 (1035105 430036 8033017




28. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

29.

Notes:

(a)

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair value
of shares in Minmetals Land Investments Limited acquired by the
Company over the nominal value of the new shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the share exchange agreement.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the
realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and share premium

account.

Other reserve represents the differences between the amount by
which non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
consideration paid or received when the Group acquired or
disposed of partial interests in existing subsidiaries.

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s
subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) to the statutory reserves at the rate of
10%. The appropriation as at 31 December 2018, amounting to
approximately HK$871,613,000 (2017: HK$708,516,000), was
included in retained earnings at 31 December 2018.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) BHA % E ZEAR AR EMNmetals
Land Investments Limitedﬂ%’ﬁZ’&ﬁfﬁﬁHﬂ
AR RIBIBER D X RIB R B ITHRG 2R
NEEZE5E -

BREABREQRE  BEHBEKRAHSIRT
R BETHERTARETET RS
IR BN IREFES © () AR FIRE
HRAEH 2RISR A ?iﬁi'JﬁﬁEﬁ e
(WVARREEZAEREESAMERE
BE  EBETRARBRMDGERZEM -

(b))  EfFEREFERERARSAEARE
WERHEREMNBRARANBORARE
NAERORENRABEZHNERE -

() qﬂ@mmwﬁ@mﬂﬂw:mrm&
B2 BARAZBYBREEEF
(Eﬁiﬁ&i;&ﬂé?&)%)\&mﬁﬁﬁ CHEE
B10% HN_E—N\F+=—_A=+—8"
BB K4 A871,613,0008 T (—ZT —+
£ :708,516,000/87L) * BBEEET—
F+ZA=Z+—HHRBAFZA -

29. K ABARTE

2018 2017

—E-0\E  —T—t#

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Perpetual loan (note (a)) KAE W (BFE@Q) 2,285,029 2,393,903
Perpetual securities (note (b)) KA EH (MIEE (b)) 1,569,260 —
3,854,289 2,393,903

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%ﬁ&é&ﬁﬁ%
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29. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS 29. KAEBAKRTIH )

(CONTINUED)
Notes: MiEE

(a) On 28 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (@ RZB—+tF+ZRA=+N\B  ARE—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
Annual Report 2018

(the “Borrower”), a fellow subsidiary and a bank (the “Bank”) have
entered into an entrustment loan agreement (the “Perpetual Loan
Agreement”), pursuant to which the fellow subsidiary shall entrust
the Bank to lend RMB2,000 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,392,600,000) (the “Perpetual Loan”) to the Borrower. The
Perpetual Loan bears interest at the benchmark interest rate for
loans over five years as quoted by the People’s Bank of China per
annum. Interest payments on the Perpetual Loan are paid annually
in arrears from 28 December 2017 and can be deferred at the
discretion of the Borrower. Neither the fellow subsidiary nor the
Bank could request for repayment of the principal and accrued
interest save and except for when the Borrower elects to repay the
principal and accrued interest at its sole discretion, or in the event
of liquidation. Under the Perpetual Loan Agreement, no guarantee
of any kind is required to be given by any member of the Group
to either the fellow subsidiary or the Bank for the Perpetual Loan.
As the Group has the right to defer the repayment of the principal
and accrued interest at its sole discretion, it has no direct or
indirect contractual financial obligation to pay cash or other
financial asset in respect of the Perpetual Loan, thus, the
instrument is therefore classified as equity in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

On 17 May 2018 (“Issue Date”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Issuer”) issued US$ denominated senior perpetual
capital securities (the “Perpetual Securities”) with an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,570,000,000). The Perpetual Securities were issued at par
value with initial distribution rate of 7.00% per annum. The
Perpetual Securities were recorded as equity, after netting off
related issuance costs of approximately US$1,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,100,000).

The Perpetual Securities confer to the holders a right to receive
distribution at the applicable distribution rate from the Issue Date
semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments on 17 May and 17
November of each year, commencing on 17 November 2018, and
may be deferred at the discretion of the Issuer unless compulsory
distribution payment events (including distributions to shareholders
of the Company) have occurred. The distribution rate shall be (i) in
respect of the period from, and including, the Issue Date to, but
excluding 17 May 2021 (the “First Call Date”), at 7.00% per
annum and (i) in respect of the periods (A) from and including the
First Call Date to, but excluding the immediately following reset
date and (B) from, and including, each reset date falling after the
First Call Date to, but excluding, the immediately following reset
date, the sum of (a) the initial spread of 4.338%, (b) the treasury
rate and (c) 5% per annum. A reset date is defined as each of the
First Call Date and each day falling on the expiry of every three
calendar years after the First Call Date.

As the Group has the right to defer the repayment of the principal
and accrued interest at its sole discretion, it has no direct or
indirect contractual financial obligation to pay cash or other
financial asset in respect of the Perpetual Securities, thus, the
Perpetual Securities are therefore classified as equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

XE2EWBAR(BERAD - —RRAZRH
BRAE—RBT(RITDITLZTER
W (DKABR WG] BUHRRHMEA
Al ZFLIR1T A& Z A {E E2,000,000,0007T
AR (&K #%2,392,600,0007% 7T) ([ 7k
AEFR]) o KABFIZREARRITAHRE
BRAFHZEROEEFH RS - Bk
ABRZHENFB-_T—tF+=-A
ZHN\ARFAEFRIARITEERAD
BIRT - BRIFERAZHBEERZEEN
S REFFEHER  TRAIRRKBRA
RIRITH A A EREERNS REFTF S -
BEXAER B  AEETFAKERA]
BARKAERAR RN B QR HIEITIE
HAEMBRNER BAAEEEERIE
BEEEEAS REMFIE  AEEGREH
KABR TEEEIHEANVBET
I RREkpBERE - G IARL
AUBRRRBEAER -

RZZ—N\FHEA++LRA(TETE] &
REl—RE2EWB AR ([EITALD) BTN
ETHENEEXAER ([KAFHF]) -
A& 4 %A £200,000,000E 5T (HERL
1,570,000,000/7T) ° KA BHILZZEEE
BT HAEDIRERAETET.00% © KAE
F M AERI 217 & F 491,800,000 7t (18
B #114,100,000%8 7)) IR E RO AR -

KABSFBTRHBEEEN 27 IREWRI
Dk NKEE—F-N\F+—-A++LH
ESFUSFFHERVARTIATEAR
T—ATEREE\ES PN - HITAR
RT3 RS 3K BR IR 38 ) 23 IR 1 50 F
(BESBETARRBRR) BHE - BRANE
TLERKABSFNDREBES  VHEE
THREZBRE-Z-_—FHA+t
RUEEERAHDHETREZR) BH
s > VRN IKER/EF7.00% ¢ K(i)5h(A)
EEEBECLAY(BEZR)EERREER
BREMENERBHETREZA) L
B ARG EERERRHRNZER
FH(REZA)EEEENOT —EEXRA
HUETEEZR) IEHE - DIRER@Y
1HEZE4.338% (DB EZFE  K() 5%
FHRZBM BEENRREEREES
RAMBH TES-—REGRAMEH
ZERNE=ERABEFEH -

ARAEEARNBERELEEESAS REN
FE - AEERBRKARES - LEEEK
MRANWBEEUAINRE LI BEE -
AKAB SRR G MBI R B R RER -



30. BORROWINGS

30. B X

2018 2017
—F—-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiE T
Non-current JER B
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITREF - BEM () 10,729,286 9,801,029
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b)  ERES - IR (D) 3,309,986 969,035
14,039,272 10,770,064
Current mED
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITREF - BEMH () 809,936 2,224,416
Bank borrowings, unsecured HRITER - EWER 205,429 —
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b)  #ERES - EEF () — 1,753,735
1,015,365 3,978,151
15,054,637 14,748,215
(a) Banking facilities (a) ERTTRUEE

The Group’s aggregate banking facilities, including

bank borrowings,

as at 31

December

2018

amounted to approximately HK$22,355,858,000
(2017: HK$16,659,527,000), of which approximately
HK$10,557,662,000 (2017: HK$4,544,540,000) was
unutilised. As at 31 December 2018, the collaterals
for the banking facilities are as follows:

(i) Properties under development with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$7,735,867,000
(2017: HK$6,165,669,000);

(ii) 100% equity interest in a subsidiary; and

(i)  Corporate guarantees given by the Company.

W_Z—NE+-_A=+—8"
REBZIRITRVE 4258 (BIEIRTT
& 3%) 49 /&22,355,858,000/%8 7T
(ZZ—+4F :16,659,527,0007%
L) ERKREEMERENA
10,557,662,0008 T (=& —+
% 1 4,544,540,000/87T) c R=F
—NE+-A=+—B x&£H
EHREABSRITRE 2T R
PURNE

() BRME{E#)7,735,867,000/ 7T
(ZZ—+4 : 6,165,669,000
BIT) 2 EERYE

iy —FKMEBRAZ100%H%
R

(i) ARAFEZARER -
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mE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=%

Bt 7% R MY EE

—NF+ZA=+—ALFE

30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b) Guaranteed bonds

(i)

On 26 April 2013, the Group issued the
guaranteed bonds (“2013 Guaranteed Bonds")
with a principal amount of US$225,000,000
and US$125,000,000 bearing interest at the
coupon rate of 5.50% and 6.50%, per annum
respectively, the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds of
US$125,000,000 will be matured on 26 April
2023. The 2013 Guaranteed Bonds with a
principal amount of US$225,000,000 were
matured on 26 April 2018 and repaid
accordingly. The 2013 Guaranteed Bonds were
guaranteed by the Company and have the
benefit of a keep well deed from China
Minmetals Corporation, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. Upon
the occurrence of a change of control
triggering event, the bondholders will have the
right, at the bondholders’ option, to require
the Group to redeem all, but not some only,
of the outstanding 2013 Guaranteed Bonds at
101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be
obliged to pay additional tax amounts in
respect of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds as a
result of any change in, or amendment to,
specified tax regulations, all
outstanding 2013 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group’s option, in whole but
not in part, at their principal amounts
together with interest accrued up to but
excluding the redemption date.

laws or

The Group may at its option redeem the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any time, in whole but
not in part, at a Make Whole Price as of, and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
excluding), the redemption date.
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30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b) Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

“Make Whole Price” means with respect to
the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds at any
redemption date, the greater of (1) the
present value of the principal amount of the
2013 Guaranteed Bonds, plus all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on
the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds from the optional
redemption date to the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the
option redemption date), computed using a
discount rate, which the rate per annum equal
to the semi-annual equivalent yield in maturity
of the comparable treasury issue, plus 0.50
per cent., and (2) the principal amount of the
2013 Guaranteed Bonds.

Early redemption options are regarded as
embedded derivatives not closely related to the
host debt instrument. The Directors consider
that the fair value of the above early
redemption options is insignificant on initial
recognition and as at 31 December 2018 and
2017.

The effective interest rates of the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at the end of the reporting
period were 6.73% for US$125,000,000 as at
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.
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30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b) Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(ii)

On 18 September 2018, the Group issued the
guaranteed bonds (“2018 Guaranteed Bonds")
with a principal amount of US$300,000,000
bearing interest at the coupon rate of 6.40%
per annum, the 2018 Guaranteed Bonds will
be matured on 18 September 2021. The 2018
Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well
deed from China Minmetals Corporation, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company. Upon the occurrence of a change of
control triggering event, the bondholders will
have the right, at the bondholders’ option, to
require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2018
Guaranteed Bonds at 101% of their principal
amounts, together with accrued interest. If the
Group would be obliged to pay additional tax
amounts in respect of the 2018 Guaranteed
Bonds as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, specified tax laws or
regulations, all outstanding 2018 Guaranteed
Bonds may be redeemed at the Group’s
option, in whole but not in part, at their
principal amounts together with interest
accrued up to but excluding the redemption
date.

rates of the 2018
as at 31

The effective interest
Guaranteed Bonds were 6.53%
December 2018.
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30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(e)

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

30. B @)
() #~EmER

ZEBIEERIS

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Bank borrowings RITIE K
Within one year —FR 1,015,365 2,224,416
In more than one year but —FEMF
no more than two years 8,067,776 35,889
In the second to fifth year E_ZERF 2,661,510 9,765,140
11,744,651 12,025,445
Guaranteed bonds BRES
Within one year —F R — 1,753,735
In more than one year but —FEMF
no more than two years — —
In the second to fifth year F_EERF 3,309,986 —
In the sixth to tenth year FEREETHF — 969,035
3,309,986 2,722,770
(d) Bank borrowings totaling HK$11,744,651,000 (2017: (d) 11,744,651,0008 £ (=T —+
HK$12,025,445,000) are on floating interest rate 4 :12,025,445,000/8 7T) 2 B 17
basis. The effective interest rates at the end of the BRIRFBNERGTE - RBEH
reporting period were as follows: REBZEBRMEWT
2018 2017
—E-N\F =
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
ET ARE BT ARE
Non-current et
Bank borrowings RITER 4.21% 5.09% 3.17% 4.99%
Current E
Bank borrowings RITER 3.77% 5.23% 4.04% 5.10%
The fair values of borrowings approximate their (e) EBRzAREHEEREMBAS -

carrying amounts. The fair values are determined
based on discounted cash flows.

(-
B
RAETNRCHBARSREETE -
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30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(f)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

L
30. B F )

(f) AEBEERZEBEBETIAT

=

denominated in the following currencies: HF AR -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FET
HK$ BT 10,591,671 11,881,961
RMB AR 1,152,980 143,484
us$ x7T 3,309,986 2,722,770
15,054,637 14,748,215

31. DEFERRED TAX 31. IRAERL IR
2018 2017
—F—-)\E e
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 778,610 1,096,579
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEEE (133,288) (168,431)
645,322 928,148

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

FRECHEEERABENEHNT :

Deferred tax assets REBIEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHT
Tax losses HIEEE
At beginning of the year F9) 2,598 974
Exchange differences N =% (1,382) 68
Recognised in the profit or loss MR TER 36,786 1,556
At end of the year Fx 38,002 2,598
Temporary difference on accruals B ERAKENBEEZ
and contract liabilities e B 2= 28
At beginning of the year F4 1,093,981 559,783
Exchange differences EH =% (38,848) 56,654
Recognised in the profit or loss RIETER (314,525) 477,544
At end of the year Fx 740,608 1,093,981

1=



31. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

1. IREFIE ()

Deferred tax liabilities BEHIEE R
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Fair value gain AN EkRE
At beginning of the year F9 3,037 5,317
Exchange differences ME W R (1,448) 1,464
Recognised in the profit or loss RiBR R (546) (3,744)
At end of the year FIK 1,043 3,037
Accelerated tax depreciation IR IBNE
At beginning of the year F1 20,082 18,690
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBETER (1,729) 1,392
At end of the year F R 18,353 20,082
Undistributed retained earnings REERRE BT
At beginning of the year F9 145,312 107,073
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBTRHER (31,420) 38,239
At end of the year Fx 113,892 145,312

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$73,488,000 (2017:
HK$36,947,000) have not been recognised in respect of
temporary difference associated with undistributed
retained earnings of certain subsidiaries, as the Directors
currently intend not to distribute the retained earnings
outside Mainland China in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefits through future taxable profits is probable. Due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams, as at 31
December 2018, the Group had unrecognised tax losses in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$820,196,000 (2017:
HK$811,873,000), which can be carried forward against
future taxable income and have no expiry date, and
unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of
approximately HK$520,425,000 (2017: HK$523,836,000)
which will expire at various dates up to and including
2023.

IEEFLIE A (573,488,000 L (- &
—+ 4 136,947,000/ 7T ) I L T M
BRARZADRREBAENEENEGRZ
BERER  HAZEERETESNA
FBARAGREE B DR L B AR -

MEEHEEEERACEERBEEET)
ARG =RE B BARRER
FRiaAEImR 2 ER AR - ERRIEF
MR A A - MR = —N\F+=
B=Z+—H8 AEEREBALEE UK
SHARERBIRA 2 RIERB IS E 1B LY
£820,196,000 L (ZF — £ F -
811,873,000%7t) - HIXWEEIHA - M
ERBRRNES Z AERREEEO S
520,425,000 (=& — £ F :
523,836,000/87L) r REE T =
(BIEZF) Ik TR BHEIE -
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31.

32.

Bt 7% R MY EE

—N\E+ZA=t—ALFE

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) iR JE 7 T8 ()
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) EEBIBEEE @)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of HK$266,692,000
(2017: Nil) that have not been recognised as deferred tax
assets as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

REBEHR AEEHRERABE
EMEBEENANRGRZEZEA
266,692,000/ L (=& —
E BT KA 87 FE R BE 7 7]
RS By 2 R UAEIR Y -

tF:E)
HE R

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 32. B 5 N HM RN FIE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FHET
Trade, bills and contract B FRENRAOERN
payables (b) FIE(b) 1,986,284 897,746
Retention payables B RE® 52,158 46,014
Accrued construction costs, other — EETEEEM - HihE:T &
accruals and other payables A K FEfS 508 5,471,033 4,210,333
Rental deposits received Bl e Ee 18,247 16,630
Amounts due to non-controlling JEHIZHJ%’AT#T fig % 3R
shareholders of subsidiaries K38 (1 5E40(b))
(Note 40(b)) 184,721 68,112
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary & —RRF ZHE QA
(Note 40(b)) ?xlﬁ(wﬁzkm( )) 2,004,416 3,310,162
Amounts due to associates JE 5B &8 A R FUE
(Note 40(b)) (Bf u£40(b)> 965,979 967,788
10,682,838 9,516,785
(@) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (@) EBZEHMENIEZEREET
are denominated in the following currencies: INTHIEESER
2018 2017
—E—-)\E —t4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ B TT 248,372 73,046
RMB ARE 10,363,307 9,367,860
uss$ ETT 57,118 29,278
MOP SR 14,041 46,601
10,682,838 9,516,785




32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continuep)  32. B 5 I B 4ib fE 15 F0TE ()
(b) The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract by XEEHES ZEENEBHENMNK
payables of the Group based on invoice date is as BEERBZERHZREINHAT
follows:

2018 2017

—B-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FAT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 1,360,582 149,314

91 to 180 days 912180H 324,248 7,220

181 days to 1 year 181HE—F 152,413 473,659

1 year to 2 years —FEMF 68,971 182,947

Over 2 years GESY 80,070 84,606

1,986,284 897,746

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. BRAE

2018

—E-N\E

HK$°000

FET

Sales of properties SHEY % 6,119,742

The Group receives the considerations in advance from
sales of properties to customers. The advance receipts
result in contract liabilities being recognised until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

During the year, HK$8,428,561,000 of revenue recognised
relates to brought-forward contract liabilities.

AEBGATFHEMERBRNAE - &
WHIBEEHRERAWEE BEETPM
BERRYEOZES -

RAFE BRI AS,428,561,000
B R EEE BN ANEE -
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34. DEFERRED REVENUE 34. EEIA
2018 2017
—E-)N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#E&T FAT
Receipt in advance from ) 2 55 & TR IR

property sales — 10,375,641
Government grants BT & B 5,461 8,335
5,461 10,383,976

PENSION OBLIGATIONS 35. B EME

35.

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension
scheme and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme
for the eligible employees in Hong Kong. Before 1
December 2000, a defined contribution pension scheme
was provided to certain eligible employees employed by
the Group. The Group ceased the contributions since 1
December 2000, upon introduction of the MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the
Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly
contributions to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash
income as defined under the MPF legislation.
Contributions by both the Company/Hong Kong
subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and
thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group’s
contributions to the pension scheme and MPF scheme are
expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in Mainland China as determined
by the local government. The Group is required to
contribute to the plan at a rate ranging from 7% to
12% of the basic salary of Mainland China employees in
addition to contributions by employees at a rate ranging
from 7% to 12% of the basic salary as specified by the
local government, and the Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of the pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions
made.

AEELRHEBECEREE2RTEHEM
RERAREFTERBHERES ([8E
)itdl - —_TETF+_A—RHZ
Al AEBREBRAZETAERESR
RH-FEERUTRASAE - N3IE
BREEHIR AKEE_TTETF
T-A—HESELARHERK-

RIEREEFE ARRRARAEE
BB ARAE AREERERESX
PIEEZHEESWAZ5%IELRESH
Ko RRR,/BEENBARAREEEZ
AR LERHRELIIEER,500%8
To BB SR MRS B R E
g AEEZRAREE B MRTER A E
RFRELERIIX -

RBFBEAMOERRTE  AEERE
FEAMESREMBAREANBRRE
BRRET BIE LR - BRE B RIEI T
BRZREREEAHFEHRTRE
12%5h AEEBZETFEAMES 2
T%E12%E AR FH & A& EHER - B
ZESFHFIN AREALEE BB
ERERERERENZEE -



36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. frEa e MERNME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated BRTE AT N B A 8 E TS P EE AR 3R
from operations: K
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Profit before tax B %5t Al A 3,463,416 3,557,788
Interest income B U A (189,019) (147,039)
Interest expense MEXZ I 137,524 114,674
Depreciation e 8,268 7,203
Fair value changes on KREMELRBEE
investment properties (134,052) (151,334)
Gain on revaluation of GEEREREWE
inventories upon transferred to 14 2 {4k zs
investment properties (5,623) —
Allowance for impairment of B 5 & B JE W KA
trade and other receivables VIRERE L 6,514 30,229
Allowance for impairment of FERERE
inventories 45,284 83,713
Allowance for impairment of PR B
goodwill — 9,425
Fair value changes of other HMBBeEz AR
financial liabilities (ER= 609 41,960
Share of results of associates DR E N R EE 10,531 2,495
Share of results of joint ventures D154 & A B ¥4 3,310 2,610
Operating profit before working 4B & & 2 Ea1 2
capital changes il 3,346,762 3,551,724
Increase in inventories FEIEM (1,394,387) (4,652,418)
(Increase)/decrease in FENFRIE - BESREAM
prepayment, trade and other FE W R IE (3500, R
receivables (347,652) 6,184,420
(Increase)/decrease in contract AREE/TEKREFZ
assets/amounts due from AHTRRZIE (M),
customers for contract work Rk (340,287) 252,881
Increase in contract costs & HI R AR N (12,275) —
Increase in trade and other B 5 N H R FRIE S BN
payables 2,804,707 251,059
Decrease in contract liabilities/ & &8 & IRLEW 5
deferred revenue (3,781,172) (2,906,314)
Decrease in other financial BBt i g &R
liabilities (42,569) —
Decrease in other liabilities Hib & ER D — (163)
Decrease/(increase) in cash and SR &HIIR & RIBITFER
bank deposits, restricted A (30 393,731 (364,593)
Exchange adjustments ME WA (44,205) 240,141
Cash generated from operations #E& %S FE£H & 582,653 2,556,737
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

%?\/\I/@uﬂi/miﬁgﬁ 5t ()

(b) METHMELBRZHAER

Non-cash changes

#RLEH
Financing
1 January cash Exchanges Other 31 December
2018 flows (i) adjustments changes (ii) 2018
—B-0\E HE —F-0\f
-A-8 Bk ERAE  R#EEH) +oAz+-8
HK$/000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$/000
TET TET TET TET TET
Guaranteed bonds BERES 2,722,710 578,910 8,306 - 3,309,986
Bank loans RITER 12,025,445 (302,803) (5,809) 27,818 11,744,651
Amounts due to a fellow subsidary BN —RAZHBEAAF0E 3,310,162 (1,179,969) (152,248) - 1,977,945
18,058,377 (903,862) (149,751) 27,818 17,032,582
()  The cash flows from bank loans and other (i) Xéfﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬂ’z
borrowings make up the net amount of REREEKRERERPR
proceeds from borrowings and repayments BHRAERIBREEERZ
borrowings in the consolidated statement of HEE o
cash flows.
(i) Other changes include amortisation of front- (i HaZs)aFEsr SR RITER
end fee of interest-bearing bank borrowings. Al B A 2 i -
37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES SR
As at 31 December 2018, guarantees given to banks for EA_T NFF+ZA=+—08 ¢%&T

mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the
Group's properties amounted to HK$7,538,082,000 (2017:
HK$13,142,935,000). Such guarantees will terminate upon
the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate which will generally be available within one year
after the purchasers take the possession of the relevant
properties; or (i) the repayment of mortgage loans by the
purchasers. After taking into account the net realisable
value of the related properties and the low default rate,
the Directors consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition and subsequently
at the end of each reporting period is not significant.

AREBYEER ZIRBRMEMES TR
2 ¥E{R3E7,538,082,0008 T (Z 2 —+
F 113,142,935,00087C) ° 2SS ERG

RTINRBEHEEERIL  (VEEMEMN
ERECCRIRERZREEBEYER —

FRER) : H(NEREMNRIBR - ZE
NZEMENERFEREENLE
EEARMBRERENREARRES
BERRKNAABELTERK -



38. COMMITMENTS

(a)

The Group had property development related

expenditure commitments as follows:

38. A IE

(a)

AEBEYEERMBBOMER
SOAEHET

2018 2017
—B-N\E —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#ERT FHET
Contracted but not provided for T & 4B K& &
Expenditure in respect of BRI AR
acquisition of land use i 2
rights 1,823,363 —
Expenditure in respect of ERBRTMEME
properties under
development 2,540,179 2,011,831
4,363,542 2,011,831

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

AEERBEBRAEZ TR
HEEHENRRENZ&EHE
EfR@EMT

2018 2017

—E—-)\EF T+

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Not later than one year —F N 12,364 12,515
Later than one year but not later —FEERFRK

than five years 46,570 12,943

Later than five years HF% — 1,587

58,934 27,045
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38. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases which generally run for initial
periods of one to fifteen years. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
receipts under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

38. &7
()

2S /435

(%48)
AEBRBRBE-—ROTH/EP—=
THFZEEHEHLERED
¥ -MHAOWEBEIAES -

AEERENAIBGHEZERER
AREEW z RERSABMOT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Not later than one year —FRr 84,011 56,096
Later than one year but not later —F&{ERFR

than five years 137,358 33,349

Later than five years AF& 57,623 —

278,992 89,445

39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT
(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow interest-rate risk, fair value
interest-rate risk and equity securities price risk for
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices as described
below to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

(a)

39. M5 EL e A = N B IR

HEEBEER
AEEZE2BEHARZENE
R : TR (BEIMNERR -
RenENERER - AR EHX
R\ A BB R A 2 s A
REFEZHBEEZBRARES
ERRR)  FERBREABDES
[\ f o AN 52 B35 4B T B 75 B IR
BRMEREZLFTER  AF
EREEHANEEMPHRRZE
ERNEE -



39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets
and liabilities. Majority of the subsidiaries of
the Group operates in Mainland China, with
most of their transactions denominated in
RMB, functional currency of the respective
group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the
exposure of RMB against US$. It has not
hedged its foreign exchange rate risk.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the exchange
rate, and rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

At 31 December 2018, if RMB had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against US$
with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been
HK$10,000 (2017: HK$9,000) higher/lower
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is different
from the functional currency of the Group’s
entities.

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest-rate risk arises
from the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on restricted and unrestricted
bank deposits, loans to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary and borrowings
issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to
the movements in Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate and the loan interest published
by the People’s Bank of China, the Group has
no significant concentration of interest rate
risk.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance
providers to explore financing alternatives to
monitor and mitigate interest-rate risk. The
Group has entered into interest rate swaps to
hedge against its exposures to changes in cash
flows of its certain interest payments of
borrowings (see Note 24).

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. No sensitivity analysis
has been presented for bank balances as the
Directors consider that the fluctuation in
interest rates on bank balances is minimal.

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, (i)
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2018 would have been HK$668,000
(2017: HK$167,000) lower/higher in respect of
the finance cost charged to the profit or loss;
and (ii) properties under development would
have increased/decreased by approximately
HK$88,220,000 (2017: HK$99,795,000) for
finance cost capitalised into properties under
development.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, (i)
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2018 would have been HK$941,000
(2017: HK$807,000) lower/higher in respect of
the finance cost charged to the profit or loss;
and (ii) properties under development would
have increased/decreased by approximately
HK$7,707,000 (2017: HK$269,000) for finance
cost capitalised into properties under
development.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

()

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on loans to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary had been 100
basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$22,133,000
(2017: HK$28,115,000) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at
fixed rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of the financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values at the
end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk because of investments held by the Group
and carried at fair value on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s
equity securities price risk is concentrated on
equity instruments operating in property
development industry sector quoted in the
Stock Exchange. The Group will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities
held by the Group increased or decreased by
10% and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's equity would increase or
decrease by approximately HK$81,125,000
(2017: HK$79,282,000) as at 31 December
2018.

81 75

e A= KMEIR @

(a) HAFEIGEZE @)

()

ﬂ?i;%’ﬂﬂ“( )

RemnEMNERR(E)
fmﬁ?’kl%tﬂ/ﬂﬁoo =S
(RERTFT - RWBAF
2 — B3k Hxﬂx%ﬁ'ﬁm)
BT A B B 5
EIJZIKE@ﬁi—"—)\i
+-AZT—HIEFENR
i 1% 3 F #8358 b0, > 49
22,133,000 L (ZZF —+
£ 128,115,000 7T) °

AR ESET
AEBENRAAENERRARE
RHEEREFEN KGR ZE
REZHR -

EEZRR/REEMBIRREK
NIZESHEXAA RN 5B
ERMHABEREERR
XEE EWMEPRRNAAE
kS

& A FE SBR[
Zl»‘%@-ﬁiﬁﬂ—rﬁﬁéﬁé\ﬂﬁ
BikRERIZ A v B RAE
ﬁﬁﬁ%xﬂxﬁ B %R

o REBE L RAFEHER
@l‘ﬁ%ﬁF‘ﬁQEHﬁﬁ?&ﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁg
EEMEERITEEENR
ATE - AEBEBERRE
B E BERRR ©

HAEBEFE ZBAFE ST
BN 10% - MATE
Emm%ﬂ&h?“ AR =

—N\E+=-A=+—8"
ztiﬁlszééﬁz 1 b0 sk A
#4781,125,000& T (= &
—+ 4 :79,282,000/&7T) °

\\\%éﬁﬁﬁﬁm%



/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Group’s credit risk primarily arises from
deposits with banks, trade and other
receivables, contract assets and guarantees
provided in respect of mortgage facilities
(Note 37).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is
limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets, individual credit evaluations
are performed for those debtors with impaired
credit or related parties. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s financial position,
past history of making payments and take into
account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
For the rest which consist of a number of
customers with common risk characteristics,
the Group uses aging to assess the
impairment. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivables at the end of the
reporting period to ensure adequate provision
for impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2018
within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired).
Debtors with impaired credit or related parties
with gross carrying amounts of HK$432,972,000
as at 31 December 2018 were assessed
individually.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

39. BiiSE B A = N B B ()
(a) HAFEIGEZE @)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The
estimated loss rates for trade receivables with
over 2 years past due range from 30% to
100% with the average loss rate of 32%. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group provided HK$735,000 and
HK$1,081,000 impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets respectively,
based on the provision matrix. Impairment
allowance of HK$4,698,000 were made on
debtors with impaired credit.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because most of the counterparties are related
parties with sound credit.

(i)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1SE/E LR EFEG(E)
(Continued)

Gross carrying amount FREAAE

Average Trade

loss rate receivables

EERE Z YN

HK$'000

FAT

Current (not past due) B AR (AR HA) 0.00% 43,471

1 to 90 days past due #ER1Z=90H 0.00% 10,445

91 days to 1 year past due  #HIQIHZE14F 5.00% 6,809

1 year to 2 years past due BEIFE2F 10.00% 4,864

Over 2 years past due B HAER R 2 F 32.00% 1,675

67,264
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

The Group has arranged bank financings for
certain purchasers of property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of
such purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the term of the guarantee, the Group
is able to retain the property sales proceeds
received from the purchasers and sell the
property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management
considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guarantees provided to property purchasers is
limited because the facilities are secured by
the properties and the market price of the
properties is higher than the guaranteed
amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on
loans to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary, but the exposure is considered
limited as the counterparties are at a good
financial position.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other receivables and
contract assets, with exposure spread over a
number of customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on
liquid funds which are deposited with several
banks, which are mainly State-owned banks
and with high credit ratings in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies

39. IKRERREZENER @)

(a) MBEEEEE &)
(iii) FEE £ E LR

BEHZRBEESME

maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
credit facilities. Management aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines
available. Management monitors the rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve
(comprising undrawn borrowing facilities (Note
30(a)) and cash and bank balances (Note 26)
on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including both
principal and interest). To the extent that
interest flows are at variable-rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate at the end of each reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the
Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative
financial instruments. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
contractual net cash (inflows) and outflows on
derivative instruments that settle on a net
basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the
end of the reporting period. The liquidity
analysis for the Group’s derivative financial
instruments are prepared based on the
contractual maturities as the management
consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of
the cash flows of derivatives.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

39. IS E B A = N B IR )
(a) MABRAMEZE @)

(i) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) FEELELE (E)
Weighted
average Between Between Total
interest Within 1and 2and Over  undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
IETY FER
ERiE -4 -ERE  WEEE  BENL BeRENH L]
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
As at 31 December 2018 R=F-/\%
tZA=+-H
Non-derivative financial FiTEaBaRE
liabilities
Borrowings B3 L15% T35 BA04451 671,035 — 16797861 15,054,637
Trade and other payables 5 REMERFA 5713407 - - - 5IBMT 513407
Amounts due to non- ERNBRAAR
controllng shareholders of  TRRFA
subsidiaries 184,721 - - - 184,721 184,721
Amounts due to assodates  EREELTHE 965,979 - - -5 965
Amounts due to a felow  EF—-FFZHE
subsidiary NE 2,004,416 - - - 20046 2004416
Finandial quarantee contracts IS ERAL 7,538,082 - - - 153808 -
18128980 8,604,451 6,471,035 — 3204466 23923160
Dervatives — net settlement T4 TE — B4
Interest rate swaps flepEs (3097 (11359) 12,698 - (95%) 30,091




39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

39. IKRERREZENER @)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BMABEMEGEE @)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) Giii) TEIELEG (&
Weighted
average Between Between Total
interest Within 1and 2and Qver undiscounted Carmying
rate 1 year 1 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
TS A3
BN - -ERE BERE RENL RensgE L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
As at 31 December 2007 R=F-t&
t2A=1-8
Non-derivative finandia FizhBeR
liabilities
Borrowings a3 8% 4456907 41219 1031389 994580 16,177,616 14748215
Trade and other payables 25 REMERFE - 3661 - - — R4 34664
Amounts due to non- ERIBLREER
controlling shareholders of  FRRZE
subsidiaries - 68,112 - - - 68,112 68,112
Amounts due to assocates  ENTEFE L E5E - % - - - %I %8s
Amounts due to a felow ~ Effi-XAZHE
subsidiary LB - 3306 - - - 33006 331016
Financial quarantee contracts T ERAH - 131095 - - - 131093 -
25,412,138 41219 1031389 94580 3713287 22560491
Derivatives — net settlement  §T£T & — FEE
Interest rate swaps kgt (175080  (&0360) (5650 - [8518) 76,085
Foreign currengy forward ~ SNEREAH
contract 41960 - - - 41960 41960

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ



/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRM

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=%

39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

—NF+ZA=+—ALFE

B L B (Rl == N B B
(a) MBERER &

(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contracts are the maximum
amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under
the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by
the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable
interest rate instruments for non-derivative
financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

(b) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group
represents the capital structure of the Group. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

(b)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

39. IKRERREZENER @)

(b) Capital risk management (Continued) (b) EXEPEEE @)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HEMAIZE - NEBENEX
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. BEERIEREITERZEE-
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total ZERERFER A S A
equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings TE - BERFHEREREE (B
(including current and non-current borrowings as SREVBRRAKRFPAESRE R
shown in the consolidated statement of financial EMEBNE ) IR S RIRITERE
position) less cash and bank deposits. "o
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2018 and RZBE-NERZT—+F+=
2017 are as follows: A=+t—HBZzEXBELELT :
2018 2017
—F-N\EF —ET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Total borrowings &G 15,054,637 14,748,215
Less: Cash and bank deposits & : IR & & IRTT1F (3,809,129) (6,255,663)
Net debt & H 11,245,508 8,492,552
Total equity AR 14,810,451 13,602,538
Gearing ratio BEARBEEE 76% 62%
Fair value estimation (o) ARn{EMRET

(c)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised costs approximate their fair values. The
fair values are estimated using generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represent equity securities
listed in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2018,
equity securities amounting to HK$811,254,000
(2017: HK$792,817,000) are measured at fair value
and based on quoted market prices of an active
market (Level 1) at the end of the reporting period.
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U BEEETEREREE LT
ZRAEBEHF R-_TE—N\F+=
A=+ —8 BAX&ZFH
811,254,000 T (ZF —+F :
792,817,000 70) Th LA A B I&
REHRAERMEB(E—E)Z
MISMEFTH -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

39. B 75 M B 2= % IR ()

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)
Other financial assets represent interest rate swap
contracts designated as highly effective hedging
instruments in order to manage the Group’s interest
rate exposure in relation to the bank borrowings on
a floating interest rate basis. As at 31 December
2018, fair value of interest rate swap contracts
amounting to HK$30,091,000 (2017: HK$76,085,000)
are measured at the present value of future cash
flows estimated based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates at the end of the
reporting period and contracted interest rate
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties and categorised in Level 2.

Other financial liabilities represent foreign currency
forward contracts designated as an economic hedge
of its exposure to exchange rate risks while
converting RMB to US$. As at 31 December 2017,
fair value of foreign currency forward contracts
amounting to HK$41,960,000 were measured by
option pricing model. The model incorporated the
constant price variation, the time value of money,
the strike price and the time to the option’s expiry
and categorised in Level 2.

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals”),
which is controlled by the PRC government. Apart from
the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the PRC government (“government-related
entities”) in the ordinary course of business. The Directors
consider those entities other than the China Minmetals
and its subsidiaries are independent third parties as far as
the Group’s business transactions with them are
concerned. Apart from the transactions in below (a), the
Group also conducts business with other government-
related entities. In establishing its pricing strategies and
approval process for transactions with other government
related entities, the Group does not differentiate whether
the counter-party is a government-related entity or not.
The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate
disclosure of related party transactions in the consolidated
financial statements.

() AEMF @
HMWHBEERIETEARSEARMN
HATEMFXRBHALH  HE
MEEREANEEZEHFEEITE
RZHAEREE R — N\F
T-AZ=Z+—H FREHEY
Z A {EA30,091,0008 7T (= F
—+ % : 76,085,000/87T) * HJb
REE A UGS R R (8 R E H
KEFTRF RS ) Rzl R %
HZRBHIEERBROITIREITIR
MENFE(DEAE-E)SH
MARFIB S RETIRENE -

HBaERETEABARE
O 2 T Y BE 2 R B i DAY SO
HhziERBEH KR_F
—+FE+-A=+—H " IER
B & 42 A 7 18 A41,960,000%8
o DIEBEEEEXGE - %
BERXFABTERTE - B
BEE - 1708 & AR 2w
MW HEAE_E -

0. BN X 5

AEBARG D RTEABBER AR ([
BRHE ) (ZAR B+ BEBTES) BT
—AREEERBWNEKILD  FrERE M
BRREMHMEMEENEG AR A
MEABETHRHIN  REE TR IE
BEBBIETEPERAFERXEZE
B - KRZEHSAREAZENE
B BRAEEERD) ETEHER - &
ERR MAKEBEZZFEBETHE
BREME ZFER(GTPELRER
HEHMBARINERBIE=TT BT
X(a)Z RSN - ANEE TR E AT AR
FAREEITER - AEEREEMBA
MR EY RS TEEBRERELBE
R EDHH T RERSBFEELE -
AEBRR  BEMRA  ERNGEM
BRERARBESRXSHELFTREE N
KE -



40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

The Group has entered into various transactions, including
sales, purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses
with other government-related entities during the year in
which the Directors are of the opinion that it is
impracticable to ascertain the identity of the
counterparties and accordingly whether the counterparties
are government-related entities.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions and balances with related parties, which were
carried out in the ordinary and normal course of business

of the Group:

(a) Transactions with related parties

40. BT R 5 ()

AEBCRHRAEEMETEREE
RIVZER S (BRIEE BE EX
LREMEEER) MEERAL  BE
HITMEMRZEXGREREEMK
[RRRBRETIITERR

Brim B M B R EMIM D T IREER I -
AEEMEBBINARE AR R —KRE
BHEITZEARR S RERIT

(a) HEABEF 25

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Construction costs to fellow LTRRWBAFAEH
subsidiaries for real estate BHEZERIEE 2
development projects (note (i) FREERK AN (BT (i) 1,668,055 209,318
Management fee income from  [A)[E R E QA A URERE 12
fellow subsidiaries (note (iii)) = ONCIEA) 15,919 —
Rental expense to a fellow LT —RAZXWBARZ
subsidiary (note (iv)) e b (M) 3,235 2,958
Rental and management fee EIEEY =G EYEE
income from fellow KEEBWA (i)
subsidiaries (note (iv)) 8,137 6,757
Management fee income from  WE—REMBIER QAR
an intermediate holding BERERARCERSE
company and ultimate holding 4 A (Bt 55 (v))
company (note (v)) 7,399 32,666
Loan interest expense to a fellow [—Z[F XK B A 7
subsidiary (note (vi)) SNZERFELZH
(BRF 2 (vi)) 114,380 151,320
Loan interest income from a W —KWBREz2—%
non-controlling shareholder of ~ JE¥EAZARER 2 B 30 A 8
a subsidiary (note (ix)) WA (B 5E(ix)) 153,354 109,128
Interest income from a fellow  WER—RREARXMBRF 2
subsidiary (note (xi)) B A (B RExi)) 6,443 314
Interest income from WA B RAIRE 2 F B
shareholders of joint ventures U A (B & (xii))
(note (xii)) — 4,646

\ﬁewﬁﬁz@ma
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40.

(CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with related parties

AEE 7 R 5 )

(b) SEEABES 2 &ER

2018 2017
—E-N\F T+t
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Specialised construction costs EN—KRAZMEARZ
payable to a fellow subsidiary — FEHEEZEMA (M)
(note (i) 49,326 69,923
Contract payable to fellow ENRRMEBRARZ
subsidiaries for real estate EHEZRIEEAL
development projects (note (ii))  FKIA (M £ (i) 86,649 48,856
Management fee receivable from B —R/E FEIZRAF &
an intermediate holding 5 Sl NGBk
company and ultimate holding (B 5E(v))
company (note (v)) — 35,889
Amounts due to a fellow R —RERHERAF]
subsidiary (note (vii)) FRIE (B EE (vii)) 2,004,416 3,310,162
Amounts due to non-controlling &1 BB A &) JE#5 A% i 3R
shareholders of subsidiaries 2 FIA (B 7 (viii))
(note (viii)) 184,721 68,112
Amounts due to associates FETHSE & N Al 2 BUE
(note (viii) (B & (viii)) 965,979 967,788
Loans to a non-controlling BEFRT—XKWEBRRZ
shareholder of a subsidiary — R IR AR R
(note (ix)) (BT 5 (ix)) 2,951,037 3,748,606
Amount due from a non- EW—RMBARZ
controlling shareholder of — & IEIERAR R 2 FRIE
a subsidiary (note (x)) (B #E(x)) — 125,058
Amount due from an associate  JEUX — R EE & N Al FE
(note (x)) (B 5 (x)) 837,513 94,674
Amounts due from joint FEY A &R RIRIA
ventures (note (x)) (M) 4,616,224 4,750,871
Current deposits placed in a BFER—RAZMBAR
fellow subsidiary (note (xi)) 28 BRTE SR (B RE(xi) 1,114,720 2,148,537
Perpetual loan with a fellow KE—RERWERRZ
subsidiary (Note 29(a)) KA EHK (HIEE29(a)) 2,285,029 2,393,903




40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Specialised construction costs to a fellow subsidiary of the
Company were based on terms mutually agreed by both
parties.

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real estate
development projects were based on terms mutually agreed
by both parties.

Management fee income received from fellow subsidiaries
of the Company was based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties involved.

Rental and management fee income/expense received or
receivable from/paid or payable to fellow subsidiaries of the
Company were based on the terms in the agreements
entered into between the parties involved. The operating
lease commitments with fellow subsidiaries has been
included in Note 38(b) and (c).

Management fee income and receivable from an
intermediate holding company and ultimate holding
company were based on the terms in the agreements
entered into between the parties involved.

Loan interest expense to a fellow subsidiary was based on
terms in the agreements entered into between both
parties.

The amount due to a fellow subsidiary is unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

40. BT R 5 ()

(b) SHEABEF Z &6 (@)

B 5L -

(i) BYARA—RKBARAMBRAAZE
ERERADERE T HBWREZ

RN E -

(ii) MEMEZRRARBG TRAMEBA
B2 EERATIIRE S HRAWEZ

1R E ©

(iii) MAATIRRMBEARMREERE
WA TIRIE B BT eI %18
EEE -

(iv) BENYNCI WA= FNCIES: )
W/ TR EMzRAEREBEER
AN TR B A BT 49 FTaT 3
ZHEBERET HERRWBARZ
R E AR WA E38(b) &
(0~

v) WA DR —RERZER R k&
BREBRDRZEZERADIRER
BAR] 477 PR AT 3 % TRt as 2 16k
T o

v) BEN—XBRMBRAZFSRAX
TYIRYEEE T P AT AL 1Tk < (G REEE ©

(i) EN-HKARMBERFFARELR
A RBRAREREE -

(viii)  FERTHTES 2 A FEAE AR AR R K Bt 8 &
B RETEEM - 28 - WA

ERER -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(ix) The loans to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is
unsecured, bearing interest at the benchmark interest rate
for a one-year loan quoted by the People’s Bank of China
per annum and repayable on demand.

(x) The amounts due from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary, an associate and joint ventures are unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.

(xi) The interest rate of the current deposits placed in fellow
subsidiary ranges from 0.35% to 1.50% per annum.

(xii)  The interest rates of the loans to shareholders of joint
ventures were 6.0% to 8.0% per annum.

(c)

(c) Key management compensation

40. BBHEH R 5 (8)

HAE G 2 &6 (@)

M ()

() —RHBARZ —BIFERERZ
EHERAERER  ARTEAR
RITAM 2 —FHRER 2 AEFF

KB ARBERMEE -

x) e — KB DAz — B IEERA
R —RBERARABERAZK
BHEER 28 UARENRE
8o

xi)y HTFER-RRARKBARZERT
FIZFFRH0.35% £ 1.50%51 2 ©

(i) EXRTEAERRRRZENXR
6.0%%8.0% °

FEEHEASZHM

2018 2017
—E—-)\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Salaries and short-term FeMEHESRH

employee benefits 14,574 14,595

Pension costs — defined BRERA — EEBHK
contribution plans B 396 368
14,970 14,963




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

41. TEMBRRIFFE

SUBSIDIARIES
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018: (a) W—Z—N&E+-_A=+—8"
FEMBRANIE
Percentage of equity interest
REBREM
2018 2017
Particulars of 2F-0\% ZE-tE
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
ERTRE/
AT URRARE  ERd HER 0 BER HES
HEASER B4 (W() #A0THF ALERE FRAKE AATRE IEER
FREREHERLERAT Mainland China RMB2,338,120,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Beijing Wanhu Property
Development Co,, Ltd.)
("Bejjing Wanhu")
(notes (i)
TREHRRERERRAT PEAS AR#2,338,120,0007 - 51 - 51 BHEER
(T REH 1) (Hekin)
Best Pearl Development Hong Kong HK§1,000 - 100 - 100~ Property investment
Limited 1,000 shares with
no par value
BRERARLA {3 1,007 - 100 — 100 mEkRE
1,000k &EE
BEZZERNERLER  Manland Ching RMB778,013,150 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
R
(Boluo County Bihua
Property Development
Company Limited
"Boluo County Bihua")
(note (iii) & (v))
BREZERHERYER  TEAL AEH#778,013,1507 - 100 - 100 BHELE

nm(EEzz))
(M3 (i Rv)

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%#&ﬁmﬁ
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41.

—N\E+ZA=t—ALFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

(a)

(Continued)

CFENEBAT
(a) m=—=—

TEMBARIIRK:

Percentage of equity interest

CIES=AC)

NF+ZA=+—8"

(&)

REEZE MY
2018 2017
Particulars of ZF-0\E ZE-1f
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company  Company  Company Principal activity
EEfRE/
iHI/ GRRFEE  ERB EEE ERd BEA
HEASZH BRbY (Mi() #2367 FL3HF ARARE ARARA TEEH
FREEEFRAERAR  Manland China RMB2,001,000,000 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
R service and investment
holding
IREEERRAREAR  REML AB#2,001,000,0007 - 100 - 100 REEBRERRELR
2]
Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
10,000 shares with
no par value
BFARAT (3 10,0007 70 - 100 - 100 NERE
10,000 & fE
EE(@R)EEARAE  Manland China 596,600,000 - 7 - 71 Real estate development
(Dragon Construction
(Nanjing) Properties Co., Ltd.)
(note (i)
RE(ER)EXARRA  REAY 6,600,000 - N - N FHELE
(M3
Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
RE(ER)BRLA BR BT - 100 - 100 #ERE
RERE



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

41. T ENB R RIS @)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

(a)

Percentage of equity interest

R-ZFE—-N\E+=-_A=+—8H"
TEMBRARIGIK: (&)

R&EZEDN
2018 2017
Particulars of Z5-0\f “E-tf
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
E¥fTRE/
ATV MRRAHE  ERm HER 0 BER BE
G A BRRE (Wa() #2T5F FLEFHF FL0ARE ALORE IEER
BUTEEEREREER  Manland China RMB520,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
]
(Foshan Kuangsheng
Property Development Co.,
Ltd.) (note (ii))
BUTRARHERSER  TEAL AR 520,000,007 - 100 - 00 BEHERR
DI (B G)
Excel Capital Global Ltd British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - 100 —  Fund raising
1 share of
US§1 each
Excel Capital Global Ltd RERNHE 1ETIR 100 - 100 - §%
DGR
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin Islands INY 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of
US§1 each
ANERAR ABRAES 111K 100 - 100 - %#
DGR
Full Pacific Limited Hong Kong HKS2 = 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
ENERRAT 3 27 - 100 - 100 NERE
hERE
Great Way Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong/ HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
Mainland China 2 shares with
no par value
BHEXERLR B/ hAN 28T - 100 - 100 WERE
hERE

\\\%ewﬁﬁﬁma
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(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

KEAEER

Place of
incorporation/
operation

iR/
LR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

Particulars of
issued share
capital/paid up
capital (note (i)
EfTkE/
BRRAGE
(&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

(a)

Percentage of equity interest

RA#ZEA

Indirectly
held by the
Company

i
FATHE

Tm

m,

bl

41. TENB A aEE @)

RZF-N\E+-_A=+—8"
TEMBRARIIK: (&)

Principal activity

IERE

BNTREREHERTER
il

(Guangzhou Kuangyue

Property Development Co,,

Ltd.) (note (i)
ENTEERHERLAR
) (rsk(i)

e ENEERARAR

(Hunan Zhongrun

Chengzhen Real Estate Co.,

Ltd.) (note (ii))
BEPEEEEERAT
(P &£ Gi)

BOpERRARAT
(Kuangjin Property

Development Nanjing Co,,

Ltd.) (note (i)
ERMERRARLA
i)

BAHERRARAA

(Kuangmei Property

Development Nanjing Co.,

Ltd.) (note (ii))
BEHERRERAT
(M)

Mainland China

PR

Mainland China

PER

Mainland China

PR

Mainland China

PER

RMB120,000,000

AKH120,000,0007

RMB10,000,000

ARH10,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

AEH100,000,0007

RMB100,000,000

A %100,000,0007T

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Real estate development

EHELR

Real estate development

FHELR

Real estate development

FHESR

Real estate development

FHELR



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. T ENB R RIS @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018: (a) W—Z—N&E+-_A=+—8"
(Continued) TEWBARNE : (B)
Percentage of equity interest
R&EZEDN
2018 2017
Particulars of Z5-0\f “E-tf
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
E¥fTRE/
ATV MRRAHE  ERm HER 0 BER BE
G A BRRE (W&) #2555 20955 KRAEE ARORE TEEB
EOREEXEHEREER  Manland China U5$55,000,000 - 50 - 50 Real estate development
]
(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye
Property Development Co.,
Ltd. "Kuangshi Jiye")
(notes (iii) & (iv))
BUBUEZRHERLAR HEAL 55,000,005 - 50 - 0 BHERR
RA(EtEE))
(PR B i)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100~ Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
ERARAT {3 2ET - 100 - 100 ERE
hERE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 - 100 - 100 Securities Investment
Hong Kong 2 shares of
US§1 each
EEERAA AERREE/EA ZETIR - 100 - 100 #5RE
ShEE1ZET
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HK§1 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
1 share with
no par value
ERARAT {3 1T - 100 - 00 BHERRE
IREEE

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%ﬁ&é&ﬁﬁ%
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL TEWBRRIFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018: () R—Z—N\E+-_A=+—8"
(Continued) FEWMBRARAYIE : (&)
Percentage of equity interest
REEZE MY
2018 2017
Particulars of ZF-0\E ZE-1f
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company  Company  Company Principal activity
EEfRE/
iHI/ GRRFEE  ERB EEE ERd BEA
HEASZH BRbY (Mi() #2367 FL3HF ARARE ARARA TEEH
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Design and installation of
Engineering Company 1 share with curtain walls
Limited no par value
RERA (B TRERAA &% AT - 100 - 100 RFRZERE
\REERE
Minmetals Land Capital British Virgin Islands Us§10 100 - 100 —  Fund raising
Limited 10 shares of
US$1 each
nERRERERAT ARRARE 10%7010% 100 - 100 - %%
FREBIZT
Minmetals Land (China) Hong Kong/Hong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
Limited Kong and 2 shares with service
Mainland China no par value
LBER(RE)ERAR  BE/EER PAiv - 100 - 100 REEEREK
hERD REERE
Minmetals Land Investments  British Virgin Islands/ US§990 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong 99 shares of
US$10 each
Minmetals Land Investments ~ XBRZEHS /B4 9905 TL99% 100 - 100 - REBR
Limited BRAEI0ET
TRERREEE(HR)ER  Manland China RMB2,127,717,075 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
R service and investment
holding
IRERRARE(LRER HEAAL ARE2127,717,075% - 100 - 100 REEBRBERRELR
2]



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. T ENB R RIS @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018: (a) W—Z—N&E+-_A=+—8"
(Continued) TEWBARNE : (B)
Percentage of equity interest
RA#EREM
2018 2017
Particulars of ZF-0\& 1%
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
ERfTRE/
L/ YRRAHE  Ekd HEE  BEkd A%
HEATEH EEHE (Wea) #2855 44855 F00RE T0uRE IEER
HEER(HE)EMELE  Mainland China RMB380,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
HEREERAF
(Minmetals Land (Hunan)
Jiahe Risheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.
"Jiahe Risheng”) (note (i)
IRER (98 ENAERE  wEAM AR 380,000,000 - 100 - 100 BHELE
HEREERAF
(S EEDIGED)
nEE (RE) BEERAF Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan)
Development Co,, Ltd.)
(note (ii)
TEbE (RE)REERAT hERN AE%280,000,0007T - 100 - 100 EHEXE
(P (i)
THEER(E0)EZEXER  Mainand China US$100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
R
(Minmetals Land (Yingkou)

Hengfu Properties Co.,
Ltd.) (note (ii))

nRER(20)BEEZER HERM 100,000,000% 7T - 100 - 100 FHEER
2l (H3E)

IBERRERAF Mainland China RMB94,800,000
(Minmetals Property
Development Nanjing Co,,
Ltd.) (note (iii)

ABHEERERAT hE R AR 94,800,007
(D)

98.88

98.88 Real estate development

98.88 — 9888 EHELE

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%ﬁ&é&ﬁﬁ%
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Name of subsidiary

KEAEER

Place of
incorporation/
operation

iR/
LR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

Particulars of
issued share
capital/paid up
capital (note (i)
EfTkE/
BRRAGE
(&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

(a)

Percentage of equity interest

RA#ZEA

Indirectly
held by the
Company

i
FATHE

Tm

m,

bl

41. TENB A aEE @)

RZF-N\E+-_A=+—8"
TEMBRARIIK: (&)

Principal activity

IERE

TBEX (R2)RENEAR
1]
(Minmetals Real Estate
(Tianjin) Binhaixingu Co,,
Ltd.) (note (i)
RREX (K2 EEHEAR
2l (B (i)

BEBE (BR)ARRA
(Kuangji Properties
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.
"Kuangji Properties”)
(note (iii) & (vi)

BEbE (BR)ARAA
([EELE])
BRI

BtHibE (BR)ARAF
(Kuangshi Properties
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.)
(note (i)

B (MR ARAA
(B3 (i)

HERREHEREARAT
(Hunan Kuangdai Property
Development Co., Ltd)
(note (ii))

HERREHEREERAT
(REE(i)

Mainland China

PR

Mainland China

PR

Mainland China

hER

Mainland China

hERH

RMB10,000,000

AKH10,000,0007T

RMB1,400,000,000

AR H1,400,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

AEH50,000,0007T

RMB600,000,000

AK 600,000,000

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Real estate development

EHELR

Real estate development

FHESR

Real estate development

FHERR

Real estate development

BHELR



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

41. T ENB R RIS @)

(a)

R-ZFE—-N\E+=-_A=+—8H"
TEMBRARIGIK: (&)

Percentage of equity interest

REEREM
2018 2017
Particulars of Z5-0\f “E-tf
Place of issued share ~ Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ capital/paid up held by the held by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
E¥fTRE/
iR/ MRRAHE  ERm HER 0 BER BE

HEASEH - (W&) #2555 20955 KRAEE ARORE TEEB

BEMWERRARLE Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Kuanggi Property
Development Nanjing Co.,

Ltd) (note (i)

BEMERRERAA hE R AE%100,000,0007T - 100 - 00 EHERRE
(P (i)

ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1,000 100 - 100 —Provision of financing for

Hong Kong 1,000 shares of group companies
US§1 each

ONFEM Finance Limited ABRXES/EE  1,000%71,000% 100 - 100 — BEEATRHRE
EREGEIZT

Oriental Dragon Construction  Hong Kong/Hong HK$10,000 - " - 71 Investment holding
Limited Kong and 10,000 shares with

Mainland China no par value

RhRRERLA BE/BAR 10,000%7 - N - N RERR

hERH 10,000 &

TREN(LE)ERERLE  Mainland China 558,500,000 - 100 - 100 Design and installation of
(Minmetals Condo curtain walls and
(Shanghai) Construction aluminum windows
Co., Ltd. (note (ii)

LRRA (LR BRARAA PEMY 8,500,000 - 100 - 100 RAREEBEREE
(B3 (i)

Texion Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment

50,000,000 shares
with no par value

CrRERBRAA 3 50,000,007 - 100 - 100 nERE
50,000,000 & E &

\\\%ewﬁﬁﬁma
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERNE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

41. TENB A aEE @)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018: (@) R=T—N\E+=-A=+—8"

(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

KEATER

TEMBRARIIK: (&)

Percentage of equity interest
REEEEMY
2018 2017
Particulars of —F-0\E ZE-¢E
issued share  Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
capitalipaid up held by the held by the held by the  held by the
capital (note (i) ~ Company ~ Company  Company  Company Principal activity
E¥fTRE/
SRRAHE  EEs BEe ERA il
(WaE() #4867 F4A6F ARARE ALRARE IERH

=m
o

=

Top Gain Properties Limited HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
EREXBRAA 2B - 100 - 00 NERE
RERE
Virtyre Limited HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
Virtyre Limited ETUREEE - 100 - 100 NERE
HERERHEREERAT RMB350,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Wuhan Runling Property
Development Co,, Ltd.)
(note (i)
REERRHERERRAA AB#350,000,0007T - 100 - 100 EHELE
(R (i)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group EERRBLERINTZAEENE
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally RAFEXEBEAREENEERE
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give E-EERAEINTEMMER

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of AIFE BEARIE-

the Directors, result

length.

in particulars of excessive



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018:

(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2018.

These are foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China with operating periods ranging from 15
years to 40 years.

These are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in
Mainland China with operating periods ranging from 20
years to 30 years.

Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in Kuangshi
Jiye, it has control over Kuangshi Jiye by holding 60% of
the voting power over the board of directors of Kuangshi
Jiye, which require simple majority votes of the directors on
making decision on relevant activities.

41. T EWE X A 7F]

(a)

R-ZE-NF+-_A=+—8"

= (g
B (f8)

TEMBRARIGIK: (&)

GEE

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

S AT AR ERIG B

TER - BE_ZT-N\F+_-A
=+ —BLEFERNERERE - &K
BRI EBEITEMEERA -

BEREEHBEREEEZES0%K
B OHEEBRRBAREUHEXESSY
60% 2 I EREL A I - B
HEAZHNARTERFHESRR

E=2)
o~ °

\ﬁewﬁ&z@ma
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. T EZMBARIFE @

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned (b) BEEEXFEHERNIESR
subsidiaries that have material non- EMBATIZEH1E
controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TR AEEHEBERIEES
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- B EREMBRARZFE -

controlling interests:

Place of

incorporation

and principal Proportion of

place of equity interest held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
- Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
E AR FRTIERAE EZEL 3
= WEBAEERE TEERNE RARZEAL HEZiEH RatEiEnER
E 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
N Z§-0\F Z3-tf ZB-\f C-B2-tf CZF-\f -T-+%
2 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$'000
z FET  TAT TR TER
=
[T
@ Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 5,786 141,222 412,375 426,404
g qug- HE R
g Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 622,498 592,069 2,141,026 2,377,500
2 LREH T
S Individually immaterial
- subsidiaries with
o non-controlling interests (467) 1,293 35,053 52,054
5 BANRRERN
E ERIFEANELT
2

\ 627,817 734,584 2,588,454 2,855,958

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (conTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of each
of the Company’s subsidiaries that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

41. T ENB R RIS @)

(b) BHEEXIFEEFIERMIER
EMBATIZHE @)

NN EEEBEBERIEHE
mZMBRAR M ER B EH
FIEATE » AT B EREERR
SENYHAT 2 25 -

Kuangshi Jiye g EE
2018 2017
—F—\§ —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FiET
Current assets REEE 2,404,316 1,435,708
Non-current assets ERBEE 27,031 31,223
Current liabilities mEEE 1,606,598 614,124
Total equity G e 824,749 852,807

\\\%éﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE—-Z—/\E+_A=+—HIL&EE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. FEMBRRIFE @

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned (b) BEEEXFEHERNIESR
subsidiaries that have material non- EMBATIZHTE @
controlling interests (Continued)

Kuangshi Jiye (Continued) it B ()
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HKS'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue WA — 1,521,509
Expenses 53 11,571 (1,239,065)
=
w
2 Profit for the year AN 25 A 11,571 282,444
-
<
& Other comprehensive (expense)/ A4FEH 2 H
2 income for the year (X ), Mz (39,629) 46,986
|9
2
e Total comprehensive (expense)/ AFEZME (ZH),/
i income for the year Wz 4858 (28,058) 329,430
a
w
-
g Net cash outflow from operating K& EBELIRE
g activities i F R (135,231) (484,237)
w
2
S Net cash (outflow)inflow from  REFBHELRS
w investing activities G ),/ mA R H (427,911) 374,090
et
2 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from — BEFBELR S
@ financing activities WA O ) F58 530,508 (106,025)
-
(]
\Z Net cash outflow BeimL e (32,634) (216,172)
Beijing Wanhu tREH
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Current assets MENEE 6,930,645 9,845,760
°
[
Eg Non-current assets SEMEBNEE 293,355 602,602
-UN
Y
S8 Current liabilities B E 2,854,560 5,596,320
§s
E3 Total equity iR 4,369,440 4,852,042




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEMBRAIFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned (b) BEEEXIEFERNIER

EMBATIZHE @)

subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)

Beijing Wanhu (Continued) IREH (&
2018 2017
—B-0\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue A 3,169,193 4,657,579
Expenses T H (1,898,789) (3,449,275)
Profit for the year KEE 5 H 1,270,404 1,208,304
Other comprehensive (expense)/ ZAFEHMb2ME
income for the year (), Wz (1,753,006) 279,850
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AFEEE
income for the year (ZH), Wz wesE (482,602) 1,488,154
Dividends paid to non-controlling 1< 4k 5 & 4 FE 3% A%
interests of Beijing Wanhu a2 BB 718,297 —
Net cash inflow from operating & EHELES
activities MA R 93,680 2,069,064
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from  REEHELHR S
investing activities WA (i) F58 1,348,603 (1,986,927)
Net cash outflow from financing BIE EHELE S
activities T E R (1,607,016) (495,784)
Net cash outflow Re&mt F5 (164,733) (413,647)

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&ﬁmﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SeBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE=-T—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. "R A2 AR K @ i R

/NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY =
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) FABZ2HBRR
Company
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—LF
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
ASSETS BaE
Non-current asset ERSEE
Investments in subsidiaries RWBRARZEE 861,105
Current assets TRENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JEU B A Tk IE 17,634,666 15,808,341
Other receivables H A U 5 IE 6,795
Cash and bank deposits, TEREIR & RIRIT
unrestricted T 450,189
18,091,650 15,964,977
Total assets BEEHHE 18,952,755 16,845,654
EQUITY i
Share capital [N 334,691
Reserves f# 5,390,074 4,803,535
Total Equity HEBE 5,724,765 5,138,038
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities RENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT B A B FRIB 13,158,676 11,641,226
Accruals and other payables JE 5T 30 I8 R B fE A
FIE 69,314
Total liabilities BREE 13,227,990 11,707,616
Total equity and liabilities ERRkEEEHE 18,952,755 16,845,654
Net current assets RENEEFE 4,863,660 4,257,361
Total assets less current EELHARREBEE
liabilities 5,724,765 5,138,038




472. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(b) Statement of reserves of the Company

42. g@ﬂz,ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂ&%%ﬁ

i

—~

(b) EATZHEHRR

Employee
Capital ~ share-based
Share  Contributed  redemption compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve earnings Total
kiR  EMEER  RORG SREEEE  REERN 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
(Note 28(a))
(Ff3£28(2)

Balance at 1 January 2017 RIF-t%
—R-BzkH 4,270,004 491,773 769 35,484 116343 4914373
Issue of shares Bk 206 - - - - 206

Redlassification of employee share B2 KERFIEH 28

option benefits 3,673 - - (34,301) 30,628 -
2016 final dividend paid THZE-~ERGRE - - - - (133777)  (133,777)
Profit for the year ERET - - - - 2,13 2,13

Balance at 31 December 2017 RZF—+#
TIAZT-RZER 4273883 491,773 769 1,183 35,927 4,803,535
lssue of shares kh 1,289 - - (631) - 658

Redlassification of employee share  (ES B RERFIZH 2

option benefits - - - (552) 552 -
2017 final dividend paid TRHZE-tERERE - - - - (200739 (200,739)
Profit for the year Emaf - - - - 786,620 786,620

Balance at 31 December 2018~ R=ZF—/\F
TCRAZT-HzER 450 491,713 769 - 622,360 5390074

\ﬁéﬂﬂ%?&é@ﬁﬁ%
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Glossary of Terms
AR

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the

following meanings:

EARFERA  BRXERBMEN

“2003 Share Option Scheme”
[T =FBERETE

“2013 Share Option Scheme”
[—CE—=FERETE

“23rd Metallurgical”
[RE=+=)8]

“AGM"
RRBFRE

“Album Enterprises”

[EHEE]

"ASP"
[FHEE]

“Beijing Vanke”
[HEm&E®RH

“Beijing Wanhu”
[ &

“Board”

[EEE]

"Brightway Asset”
[BHEEE

“Bye-laws”

[AREIER]

“CG Code”
[{EEE)R<FAI

“China”, “Mainland China” or
“PRC"
[FR B st [ A B A ]

“China Minmetals”

(B R

ToIABAA U TEE :

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 29 May 2003
RABRZEE=FRA-+TNBRMNZERETE

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

ARARZF—=FNALBRAZBRETS

The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd of Minmetals
T+ EREEERAA

annual general meeting of the Company for 2019

AR =B -NFERRATAR

Album Enterprises Limited

EREEARAF

average selling price

T

Beijing Vanke Co., Ltd.
IREREEERAF

Beijing Wanhu Property Development Co., Ltd.
IERENEMERZEERAA

the board of directors of the Company

ARBIZEEE

Brightway Asset Management Limited
REEEERERAA

the Bye-laws of the Company
RRAEZ ERAR

the Corporate Governance Code
TrEREBEHRTA

the People’s Republic of China
REE AR HEFE

China Minmetals Corporation

TEABREESRAR



“CMCL"
[ AR ]

"CMN"
[HEA eR]

“CMNH"
(AR ek

“Company” or “Minmetals Land”

[ARBE I AR E |

“Condo Hong Kong”
[Tm A& ]

“Condo Macau”
[ T 1S S |

“Condo Shanghai”
[T A0 -7 ]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Fifth Plaza Co”
[FERES QA

"GFA"
[ mEmiE]

“Group”
[A&EE ]

“Hanten”

[ME 85

HHK$H
[7&7T]

“Hong Kong"” or “"HKSAR"
(&8 ]

“Jiahe Risheng”
[ 5408 &% ]

“June Glory”
[June Glory]

China Minmetals Corporation Limited

TEABRNDERAA

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited

IBREEEBRMNERAR

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited

IREECBERAERAR

Minmetals Land Limited

AREMEARAF

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited
AEmRM (FE) TIZARA A

Minmetals Condo (Macau) Engineering Company Limited

hfEmM (FE) TIEARAA

Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd.
AR (EE) ZERERAF

director(s) of the Company

ARBIZES

Beijing Fifth Plaza Real Estate Co., Ltd.
IRERERGEXERAA

gross floor area

AR IE T E 1R

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARBREWERF]

Hanten Investment Limited

EBBREBRAT

Hong Kong dollars
BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBRERTHR R

Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd.
AEERCHRE) ZENEREHERZEGRE AR

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited




Glossary of Terms

a0 =
7
“Kuangshi Jiye” Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co., Ltd.
[HEtt B % | BRh gt B E i E R B AR A A
“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited
[ ErT#R Al BEBBERXIMERARFES MR A
“Minmetals Capital” Minmetals Capital (Hong Kong) Limited
[HEEA] hBEER(BE)BERAQA
“Minmetals Cheerglory” Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
[ R TEMKBERAA
“Minmetals Finance” Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.
[ RHEE 75 ] TEEEMBEREEAA
“Minmetals HK” China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
[BERE] FEAEESIZERERAA
“Minmetals Land Beijing” Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
[ HEERIL R ABEERREERILR)ER AR
“Minmetals Land Holdings” Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.
[ 5 b 2 2 i TR E R AR A A
§ “Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.
= Guangdong”
" [REMFREER ] ABENERBER)ER AR
(o]
E “Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.
a Hunan”
3 [ 0% 1) 3 PR A% 4 7 EEDERECHE)ARAA
\ “Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Nanjing) Co., Ltd.
Nanjing”
[ R RS R ERWERBFER)BRA A
“Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.
Yingkou”
[REYF RSO ] ABEMERB(EO)ERAA
- “Minmetals Real Estate” Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.
%w (A& IEEXBERAA
35
%% “Minmetals Zhidi” Minmetals Zhidi Corporate Management Consultancy (Shenzhen) Co.,
28 Ltd.
g‘-f, (AR ) AWBHAEEBENRINERA A
c c

324



“MLI"
[MLI]

“MLIML"
(AR RRE]

“Model Code”
[ =r Al

"NAV”
[ R A EFE]

“OFL”
[OFL]

“RMB”
[AR#]

“SFO"
[ 78 75 & B & 1 f51 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R

“Share(s)"”
[ n ]

usq.m'u

[F K]

“Stock Exchange”
[ 32 P

“Texion”
[T

"Uss”
ESE

“Yingkou Industrial Park”

[EOEXE

“Zhongrun Chengzhen”

[ B R

"o
[% ]

Minmetals Land Investments Limited
Minmetals Land Investments Limited

Minmetals Land Investment Management Limited

IEERREEEBRAA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers

EHETAEFETEFRHNREST A

net asset value
BREEFE

ONFEM Finance Limited
ONFEM Finance Limited

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance
BH R HAE K

the shareholder(s) of the Company
RRRZRE

the ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each of the Company
ARAREFREENBIT 2 EBA

square metres

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMERIMAERATR

Texion Development Limited
RITEEAR QA

United States dollars
ETT

Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd.
hE(ER)EXRERERAF

Hunan Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.
ME R EREERBRA A

per cent

Bk
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BERAELIBEEEERAH

/ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

Minmetals Land Limited
nnual Report 2018

Al

/

326

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals, finance,
real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China Minmetals
achieved the total revenue of approximately RMB500.0 billion for 2017
and was ranked 109 among the US Fortune world top 500 enterprises in
2018.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in commercial
estate development, construction and installation business after it has a
footing on the residential development and industrial estate business.
Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable resources in this respect.
Excluding real estate development projects of Minmetals Land, China
Minmetals has a total gross floor area of approximately 3.65 million
square metres for residential and industrial estate development in the Pan
Bohai Rim region and the eastern and central part of China. Furthermore,
it has an industrial site of 30 square kilometres in Yingkou City of
Liaoning Province.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK, holds
approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon the
approval of inclusion of property development and operation to the core
business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council, China Minmetals
announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its sole listed
real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and consolidation of its
real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the listing of its real estate
business and turning Minmetals Land eventually into a leading real estate
development corporation which creates better returns to its Shareholders,
employees and the society.

PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT OF
CHINA MINMETALS

Province/City Attributable land area

B AR 1950F K © RASBREMNERE -
BRI -85 URkew  BHE B
BRI AEE  BURIRKMEEENAIEALES
° 20174 » P AEE I AL M %EE5,000/8T A
R - (15 £ BICH = )5 552018t F 50058 1 5
1097 °

MER - FERABAEEMBEMIT EmE RER -
EESEERMENREREREY BRATEED
BRER - Edh - PRABRERDEME - FERi
ERFEHEEEEBRIEEEETREAERM -
EHGABENEREMERBR - PREAED
AR ETIBELN R3658F 7K - 50
IREEEEEOMERFT T RABTE LR
1o

TEAREBENEEZMEAR — BERMES
BEREHEL61.88% B - BB AEEEE
ERZEGHAETEAFEEIIFHERZREE
RER—HETEEBR - PRGNS M A AR
EREEHMEXBHNME - EMmEE  BBEST
E EAETREHERR BERFEHEXBHER
£ RS AREITER S —RABHRF A
TENNESFHEDLE  BER BTN E8
EESEE -

FEREERPIAR

Total gross floor area  Usage

4/ Rkt mE UREAEEERE AR
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(FEFK) (77 K)
Beijing 346,000 134,000 Residential
5148 FE
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province 30,000,000 N/A~ Industrial and Commercial
EEREOM N IxkEE
216,000 261,000 Residential

frx
Shenyang City and Jinzhou City, Liaoning Province 187,000 380,000  Residential
BEEEGMREMND FE
Tianjin 1,761,000 1,288,000 Residential
R £
Changsha City, Xiangtan City and Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province 811,300 563,000 Residential
WEARDT  RED kKM T FE

23,100 164,000 Commercial

[5ES
Shantou City, Guangdong Province 140,000 201,000 Complex
BRE AN fReRE
Xining City, Qinghai Province 185,300 190,000 Residential
BEEAEED FE
Taian City Shandong Province 223,600 472,000 Residential
WRERZT FE



AR ERRAE

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

BAENERDBERFBER T RPBEREAE /&
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B 5 Tel: 2613 6363

B H Fax: 25819823

EH Email : info@minmetalsland.com

#BHE Website : www.minmetalsland.com
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